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BOC Helex Company nc 893949

Directors' report for the year ended 31 December 2009
Principal activities
The company 15 a member of The Linde Group, and iis ulitmate parent company 1s Linde AG

The company's principal activity has been throughout the year under review and the preceding year the provision of
finance for other Linde Group campanies It is envisaged that this will centinue to be the princpal activity of the
company for the foreseeable future

Business review

The results for the year are coatained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page & and show a profit for the
financial year of $123,654 000 (2008 $158,596,000)

Share premium account

0n 20 March 2009 the shareholders approved a reduction to the company's share premum account of $300,000,000
(2008 $543,300,000)

Dividends

An intenm dwidend of $300,000 000 was paid on the company's ordinary shares on 25 March 2009 (2008
$750 000,000)

The directars do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008 $nil)

Directors

The directors of the company duning the year and, where relevant, subsequent to the year end were

Mr A C Brackfield appointed 1 july 2009
Mr M Dennis

MrNA Lewis resigned 30 June 2009
Or T Finken appointed 14 July 2010

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation
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Bisclosure of information to auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that so far as they are aware, there
Is no retevant audit Informatien of which the company’s zudiors are unaware, and each director has taken all sieps
that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that informatian

Auditors

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Compamies Act 2006, the auditors will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP will
therefore continue in office

By order of the Board

SKKelly 23 July 2010
Secretary

The Priestley Centre
10 Priestley Road
surrey Research Park
Guildford

Surrey

GU2 7XY

England
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Statement of Directors' respansibilities in respect of the Directors' report and the
finanaial statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Directors' Report and the financial statements tin accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directlors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law they have
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK
Generally Accepied Accounting Practice)

tnder company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satished that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that pened In
preparing these financial statements, the directars are required to

select suitable accaunting policies and then apply them consistently,

make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed
and explained in the financal statements and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropnate to presume that the company
will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explan the
campany's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities




KPMG LLP

1 The Embankment
Newville Street
Leeds

LS1 4DW

United Kingdom

Independent auditors’ report to the members of BOC Helex

We have audited the financial statements of BOC Helex for the year ended 31 December 2009 set out on pages 6 to 12 The
financial reporting framework that has been apphed n their preparation 15 apphcable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice}

This report 18 made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compames Act
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to
state to them n an auditors' report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permutted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibihity to anyone other than the company and the company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opimons we have formed

Respective responsibiities of directors and auditors

As explaned more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they grve a true and fair iew Our responsibility 1s to audit the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing {UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of Anancal statements 15 provided on the APB's web-site at

www fre org uk/apb/scope/LIKNP
Opimion on financial statements
In our apnion the financal statements

* grve a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of 1ts profit for the year then ended,
* have been properly prepared m accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006




Independent auditors’ report to the members of BOC Helex (continued)

Opmion on other matters prescnbed by the Compames Act 2006

In our opimon the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared
13 consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Compantes Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in
our opimon

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved from branches not
visited by us, or

*+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns, or
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for cur audst

A ] Stone (Semor Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 The Embankment

Newlle Street

Leeds

LSI 4DW

28 July 2010
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Profit and loss account for the year ended 31 December 2009

In % thousands Note 2009 2008
Interest recervable and similar income [5} 123 654 158,596
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 123,654 158,596
Tax an profit on ordinary activities [6] - -
Profit for the financial year [10] 123,654 158,596

All of the above relates to continuing operations

The company has no recogmised gains and losses in the year other than those included in the profit and loss account
above and therefore no separate statement of total recognised gains and losses has been prepared

There 15 no materal difference between the profit on ordinary activities befare taxation and the profit for the financial
year staled above and theis histoncal cost equivalents
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 2009

in 5 thousands Note 31122009 3112 2008
Fixed assets

Debtors amounts falling due after mare than ane year [8] 1,327,016 1,387,707
Current assets

Debtars amounts falling due within one year [8] 865,575 981 230
Nel current assets 865,575 981,230
Nel assels 2,192,591 2,368,937
Capital and reserves

Called up share capital [9] 1,118,572 1,118,572
Share premium account [190] 913,734 1,213,734
Profit and loss account [10] 160 285 36 631
Shareholders’ funds [$1] 2,192,591 2,368,937

The financial statements on pages & to 12 were approved by the board of directors on

its behalf by

23&20\10 and were yfned on

=

Dr TFinken
Director
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
[1]} Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered matenal
in the financial statements

a) Basis of preparatron

The financial statements have been prepated in accordance with applcable accounung standards and under the
histonical cost accounting rules

The use of the going cancern basis of accounting 1s approprate because there are ne matenal uncertanties related to
events of conditions that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the company to continue as a going concern

b) Cash flow statement

The company 15 @ wholly-owned subsidiary of Linde AG, and 15 included in the consolidated financial statements of
Linde AG, which are pubhcly available Consequently, the company has teken advantage of the exemption from
prepanng a cash flow statement under the terms of Finantial Reporting Standard Number 1 (revised 1996)

The pnnapal accounting policies are set out below

<) Income

Interest income 1s recorded on an accruals basis

d) Functional currency

The functional currency of BOC Hefex is US Dollar and the accounts are prepared using their functional currency, which
15 the currency of the peimary economic environment in which it operates

e) Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are ranslated into the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling on the date of
the transaction or the contracted rate where applicable Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated inta the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the
resulting exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account
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f) Taxation

The charge for taxation 15 based on the resuit for the year Deferred tax i1s prowided in full on uming differences which
result in an gbligaton at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a night to pay less tax, at 3 future date, at rates
expected to apply when they crystallise, based on current tax rates and law Timing differences anse from the inclusion
of items of Income and expendiiure in taxation computations in different penods from those 10 which they are included
inthe financal statements

Deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that i 1s regarded as more hkely than not that they will be
recovered Deferred tax assets and habiliies are not discounted

g) Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the board of directors and unpaid at the year end are not recagnised 1n the financial
statements until they have been approved by shareholder in general meeting Interim dividends are recognised when
they are paid

[2] Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of the directors are paid by the ultimate parent company, Linde AG, The BOC Group Limited of BOC
Limited, in their roles as managers and directors of Linde AG The BOC Group Limited or BOC Limited

[3] Auditors’ remuneration

the remuneration payable in relation to audit services of £2,000 (2008 £3,000) 15 borne by The BOC Group Limited and
15 included in the aggregated fees disclosed in those financial statements

[4] Employee information

The company had no emplayees in the year The company 1s not charged for the services by employees of other Linde
Group companies that provide services to the company
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[S]Interest

Interest receivable and similar income

In $ thousands 2009 2008

0n loans to )/mmediate parent underiaking 9,418 33,765

On loans to group undertakings 114 236 124 931
123,654 158,696

[6] Tax on profit on ordinary activities

In 5 thousands 2009 2008

a) Analysis of charge in year

Current tax

UK corporation tax on profits of the year

b) factors aftecting tax for the year

The tax assessed for the year 1s different to the rate of corporation tax (n the UK of 28% (2008 28%)

The differences are explained below

Profit on ordinary activiiies before taxation 123,654 158,596

Profit on ordinary activitiies multiplied by standard

rate of corporation tax in the UK 28% (2008 28%) 34,623 44,407

Effects of

Group relief for il constderation {34 623) (44 407)

Current tax charge for the year (as above) - -

[7] Dividends

in 5 thousands 2009 2008

Equity diwvidend - ordinary 300,000 750,000

The above are interim dividends in respect of the current financial year

10
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(8] Debtors

In $ thousands 2009 2008
Amounts falling due within one year

Amounis owed by immediate parent undertaking 178,185 160,121
Amounis owed by group undertakings 687 390 321109

865,575 981,230

Amounts owed by group undertakings of $664,281,069 (2008 $774,552,162) are unsecured, interest bearing and
repayable on demand The balance of 23,109,238 (2008 $46 557,220) are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand

Amounts owed by immediate parent undertaking of $177,390 084 {2008 $153,550,331) are unsecured, nterest
bearning and repavable on demand The balance of 794,817 (2008 $6,571,121) are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand

1n § thousands 2009 2008
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 1,327,016 1,387,707

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest bearing and have a fixed date of repayment

[9] Called up share capital

Authorised 2009 2008

in £ thousgnds

1,000,000 Ordinary shares of 5p each 50 50

in $ thousands

1,118,500 Ordinary shares of $1 each 1,118,500 1,118,500

Allotted, called up and fully paid

800,000 Ordinary shares of 5p each 72 72

1,118,500 Ordinary shares of $1 each 1118 500 i 118500
1,418,572 1,118,572

11
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[10] Share premium and reserves

Share Profit

premium and loss
in § thousands account account Total
Balance at | January 2009 1,213,734 36,631 1,250,365

Premium reguction (300,000} 300,000
Dividend - {300 000) (300.000)
Profit for the financial year - 123 654 123,654
Balance at 31 December 2009 913,734 160,285 1,074,019

On 20 March 2009 the shareholders approved a reduction to the company's share premium account of $300,000,000
The directors approved an intenm dividend payment of $300,000,000 on the Ordinary shares of $1 00 each

[11] Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

in § thousands 2009 2008
Profit for the financial year 123,654 158 596
Dividend {300,000) (750,000)
@pening shareholders' funds 2,368 937 2,960 341
Closing shareholders' funds 2,192,591 2,368,937

[12] Related party transactions

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard Number 8, Related Party Disclosures, the company Is exempt from
disclosing transactions with entities that are part of Linde AG, or investees of Linde AG quabfying as related parties, as
it 15 a wholly owned substdiary of a parent publishing consolidated financial statements

f13] Ultimate parent undertaking
The immedsate parent undertaking 1s The BOC Group Limited
The ulumate parent undertaking and controlling party of the company 1s Linde AG, which 1s reqistered in Germany

Linde AG 1s the parent undertaking and the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements Copies
of Linde AG's consolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at Klosterhofstrasse 1, 80331
Munich Germany

12
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EXECUTIVE BOARD - Members of the Execulive Board

Executive Board

Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle

Barn 1949

Dactorate in Engineenng (Dr-ing ),

Degree in Economics and Engineenng (Dipl -Wirtsch -Ing )

Chief Executive Officer

Responsible for the following global and central funclions
Communicalions & Investor Relations, Corporate Stiateqy, Group
Human Resources, Group Information Services, Group Legal,
Innovation Management, Internal Audit, SHEQ (Safety, Health,
tnvironment, Quality)

Gist

mMember of the Executive Board since 2002

Or Aldo 8ellom

Born 1950

Doctorate in Chemrcal Engineertng {Dr -tng )

Responsible for the Engineering Division, the operating
segments Western Europe and Asia & Eastern Europe, the Global
Business Unit Tonnage (on-site) and the Bustness Area
Electronics {electronic gases)

Member of the Executive Board stnce 2000

] Kent Masters

Born 1960

BS Chemical Engineenng,

MEBA Finance

Responsible for the operaling segments Amenicas and

South Pacific & Africa, the Global Business Unit Healthcase and
the Business Area Merchant & Packaged Gases (liquefied and
cylinder gases}

Member of the Executive Board since 2006

Georg Dencke

Born 1965

Degree n information Science,

Degree In Business Administration (BA)

Responstble for the following gfobal and centrat functions
Caprtal Expendilure, Financial Control, Group Accounting &
Reporting, Group Treasury, Growih & Performance,
Mergers & Acquisitions,

Procurement, Risk Management, Tax

Human Resources Director

Member of the Executive Board since 2006




Photo of the Executive Board

From left to nght ] Kent Masters, Georg Denoke, Professer 0t Wolfgang Reitzle, Dr Aldo Bellon
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SUPERVISORY BOARD ~ Members of the Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board

(=]

E Or Mantred Schneider

s Chawrman

¥ Charrman of the Supervisory Board
of Bayer AG

Hans-Dieter Kattel

g Deputy Chairman

z Chairman of the Pullach
2 Works Council,

z Engineering Division,

’ Linde AG

Michael Diekmann

E Second Deputy Chairman
E Chairman of the Board of Management
= of Allianz SE
2
g
g Dr Gerhard Beiten
Lawyer
g
g Supervisory Board commitiees
g Members as at 1 January 2010
Mediation Committee in accor-
g dance with § 27 (3) of the German
= Codetermination Law (MitbestG)
g
§ Dr Manfred Schneider
z (Chairman)
Hans-Dieter Kattel
3 Michael Biekmann
%‘é Gernot Hahl1
=
se
g
a =
g
g=
z
-
2
=
S
=l
El
% t Employee represeniative
£

|

Members of the Supervisory Board

Or C{lemens Borsig
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Deulsche Bank AG

Gernot Hahl1
Charrman of the Worms Works Council,
Gases Diviston, Linde AG

Thilo Kdmmerer!
Trade Bnion Secrelary on he Executive
Board of IG Metall Franklurt

Matthew F ¢ Miau
Chairman of the MITAC-SYNNEX-Group,
Taiwan

Standing Committee

Df Manfred Schneider
{Chairman)

Hans-Dieter Kattel
Michael Diekmann
Gernot Hahl1

Klaus-Peter miller

Klaus-Peter Muller
Chairman of the Supervisery Board
of Commerzbank AG

Jens Riedel’
Chairman of the Leuna Works Councll,
Gases Division, Linde AG

¥aver schmudtl
Secelary to the Executive Board
ol iG Bergbau, Chemig, Energie, Hanover

Josef Schreglel

Manager responsible for finance and
linancial control, Engineering Division,
tinde AG

Audit Committee

Dr Clemens Boisig
{Chairman)

Dr Gerhard Beiten
Gernot Hahll
Hans-Dieter Katte 1

Or Manired Schneider

Nominatton Committee

Dr Manfred Schnetder
{Chairman)

Michae! Diekmann
Klaus-Peter moller

Memberships of other German supervisory boards and comparable German and foreign boards are shown in Note (24}
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SUPERYISORY BOARD - Members of the Supervisory Board
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SUPERVISORY BOARD - Report ot the Supervisory Board

Report of the Supervisory Board

I ' - T n}&M/L\J‘QﬂL‘#"/

EXECUTIVE BOARD

During the 2009 financial year, the Supervisory Board conducted delailed reviews of the company’s siluation,
its prospects and Its stiategic development, as well as the lutuse long-term positioning of The Linde Group It
also concerned lisell with significant individual 1ssues We have performed our duties in accosdance with legal
provisions and the articles of association and company bylaws These duties nvolve advising the Executive Board
on the runming of the company and menitoring the activities of executive management The Executive Board
provided us with requiar, comprehensive updates at ow meeluings and in wniten reports on e state of the
business and the economic situation of the company and its subsidiares, as well as with forecasts We reviewed
all the documents presented and submitted to us for reasonableness We questioned the Execulive Board on
a reqular basis an significant matters The Supervisory Board was involved 1n all the major decisions of the
company These include transactions to be carried cut and measures to be taken by Lhe Executive Board which
requice the approvat of the Supervisary Board, in particulat the annual capital expenditure programme, majos
acquisitions, divestments and financial measures The Chairman of the Supervisory Board was also kepl up to
dale with the cuirent business sttuation, significant transactions and decisions 1aken by the Executive Board,
partly as a result of being provided with minutes of Executive Board meetings The Charrmen of the Supervisory
and Executive Boards shared information and 1deas with one another throughout the year and held reqular
consultations on the Group's strategic direclion, risk position and nsk management The Supervisory Board was
able 1o salisfy itself as 1o the etlectiveness of the sk monitoring system set up 1n accordance with § 91 (2)
of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) on the basis of reports submitted by the Executive Board and a
report on the risk monitoring system prepared by the auditors At no ume did the Supervisory 8oard raise any
objections about the proper conduct or efficiency of the executive management of the Group

z
=
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=
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I CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Meetings and resolutions of the Supervisory Board

Four ordinary meetings of the Supervisory Board were held in the 2009 financial year Allmembers of the Supervisory
Board attended more than half the meetings There were no confhicts of 1nterest for Supervisary Board
merbers in 2009

2009 was a year of great challenges, especially as a result of the glabal financial and economic crisis We were briefed
i detall by the Executive Board at all our meetings about the effects of the crisis on the economic stuation of The
tinde Group We paid particular attention here to the potential consequences for the nsk situaltion of the Group and s
liquidity provision and indebledness The advisory and monitanng activities of the Supervisory Board focused above all
on the praspects for the development of the Group, the individual divistons and the operating segments In particular,
we had m-depth discussions wilh the Executive Board about the following 1ssues the corposate and strategic
largets set and the extent to which these could be achieved, therr economic sigmificance and the expected mpact
on the financal sitwation of our Group Verbal reports from the Executive Board on these subjects have satisfied us
that the Group’s struciures and processes are constantly being momtored and streamlined to improve and secure the
compelitiveness of all divisions tn the Group in the long term The Executive Board also mformed us in detall about
the siatus of the programme launched in 2008 lo oplimise processes and improve productivity in the long term, the
implementation of which was acceleraied i 2009 We concluded that the Executive Board had reacted swiflly 1o the
first signs of the cnisis by introducing these measures at an earty stage and had done its best to hmtt any adverse
smpact an our Group by ensunng the rigorous tmplementation of the optimisation programme

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

FURTHER INFORMATION

At our meetings, 1 addition to reviewing curient busmess developments, we also dealt wilh the nsk position
of the company, compliance with tegal 1egulations and internal guidehines and those mdividval business
transactions of fundamental importance for which the Execulive Boaid requures our approval
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SUPERVISORY BOARD - Report of the Supervisory Board

Photo of Dr Manfred Schneider

Alter a thorough review of the documents submitted and detailed discussions about each of the proposals of
the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board granted all the necessary approvals Due to ime pressure, one
decision was made on the basis of documents provided outside the Supervisory Board meetings in wrilten form
This related 1o the EUR 16 ba two-year revalving credit ine which 15 designed to continue to safequard the
liquidity of the Group and which will be available from March 2011

At our meeting to approve the financial sialements on 13 March 2609, we reviewed in deta and approved the
annual financial statements of Linde AG and the Group finanaa! statements for the year ended 31 December
2008 and agreed the proposed appropriation of earrings Al this meeting, we also approved the remuneration
structure of the Executive Board including the sigrificant contractual elements based on the proposal submstied
by the standing commitiee and made the declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance
Code Furthermore, we approved the agenda for the Annual General Meeting, including the proposed resolutions
0On the recommendation of the standing committee, we also renewed the appointment of those Executive Board
members whose terms of office expired in the 2009 financial year, Dr Aldo Belloni, Georg Denoke and | Kent
Masters, for 3 further term of five years in each case Moreover, we were informed in detall in a verbal report
from the Executive Board about the structure and organisation of the Group’s nsk management and miernal
control systems In addition 10 1ts regular reports on the business performance and situation of The Linde Group,
the Execulive Board alsa presented us with planning scenarios for the 2009 financial year given the potential
impact of the global financial and economic ¢nsis The Executive Board explained these planning scenarios
i depth In pasticutar, the members of the Board provided us with details aboul selected key data and with
information about the financial and strateqic effects on the Greup and about possible proposed measures

immediately before the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2009, the Executive Board presented a feport on
the cusrent siuation of the Group Moreover, we discussed the 2009 forecast for the Group with the Executive
Board on the basis of the quarterly financial statements for the quarter ended 31 March 2009 The forecast took
nte account a number of different scenarios The Executive Board also provided us with further details about 2
draft resolution presented in advance which telated to a transaction requining the approval of the Supervisory

EXECUTIVE BOARD
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SUPERVISORY BOARD - Repo! of the Supervisary Boaid

Board After reviewing the documents and putting questions to the Executive Board, we gave our approval The
meeting also served to prepare for the subsequent Annual General Meeting

Al our meeling on 22 September 2009, the Executive Board gave us a detailed report about the economc
situation of The Linde Group and 1ts divisions We were also presented with the outlook for the whole of 2009
The Executive Board member with responsibility for Afnica presented an in-depth report an the situation and
development prospects in this regton In addition, the meeting focused on the status of the implementation and
development of the Group's strategies Toptcs of discussion included 1ssues such as the strategic positioning
and orientation of the Group and its divisions The Executive Board explained i1n detall the opportunities and
nsks associated with the global competitive environment given the current general economic situation and the
significance 1n this context of the process optimisation and productivity improvement programme and lurther
measures that would be taken 1 this area

EXECUTIVE BOARD
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On 4 December 2009, the Execulive Board presented us not only with a report on current business developments
and the perfermance of the Group tn companson with its competitars, but also wilh a preview of 1he 2009
financial statements, the budget for the 2010 financial year and the medium-term corporate plan, including

§ financial, capital expenditure and personnel plans The Executive Board supplied reasons where there were

% discrepancies between corporate plans or largets set and actual performance We questioned the Executive

= Board In depth about the assumplions they had made, focusing particularly on issues relating to financing

% planning, kquidity and debt repaymen! We satisfied ourselves that the Executive Board 1s continuing to conduct

g thorough ieviews of any nsks to the Group that might anse as a result of the difficult prevailing economic
crrcumstances and 15 taking appropniate action as a result, and we approved the 2010 capital expenditure
programme of The Linde Group At this meeting, we were also presented with a comprehensive special report

g on the South and East Asiareqion Furthermore, the Supervisory Board dealt with new legal requlations and new

g‘ provisions tn the German Corporate Governance Code and made the corresponding amendments (o its bylaws

S The Charman of the Supervisory Board also reported on the preltminary resulis of a review of the existing

g system of remunieration for the Executive Board by an independent external expert on executive pay Moreover,

z we passed a resalution to adyust the retention associated with the D&C insurance for the members of the
Executive Board In accordance with the German Law on the Appropriateness of Executive Board Remuneration

- (VorstAG) and for the members of the Supervisory Board in accordance with the German Corporate Governance

z Code when the insurance contract comes up for renewal on 1 January 2010

=

§ Corporate governance and declaration of compliance

-

=

We continuatly montor the implementation of the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code Linde
AG has also complied with all the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended on
18 June 2009 in March 2010, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board i1ssued an updated declaralion of
comphance with §161 of the German Stock Corporation Law {AktG) and made it available 1o shareholders on a
permanent basis on the company’s websile (www inde com} Fusther information about corporate qovernance
in Linde 15 given 1n the corporate governance section on pages 012 to 027

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

Commitlees and commitiee meelings

The Supervisory Board continues to have four commuttees the mediation commuttee, formed under §27(3) of
the German Codetermination Law (MitbesiG), the standing commiltee, the audit committee and the nomination
commitiee The Chairman of the Supesvisosy Board 1s Chairman of all the committees except the audit commitice
The current composition of the commitiees 1s given on page 004 Information about the responsibilities of the
committees 1s given in the corporate governance report on pages 013 to 017

FURTHER INFORMATION

|
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The standing commitiee of the Supervisory Board held one meeting in 2009 Several decisions were also made -
in wiiting or by telephone The standing commuitlee dealt mainly with matters relating to the Executive Board in
parhicular, m the context of the remuneration struciute approved by the full Supervisory Board, it determuned the
amount of remuneration payable to each member of the Executive Board and the individual components of their
remuneration 1t also devoted its attention to the recommendations in the German Corporale Governance Code
to limit severance pay on the early termination of the employment of 2 member of the Fxecutive Board and
advised that the Supervisory Board imptemenled the recommendations The standing commitiee prepared the
resolutions regarding the remuneration system for the Executive Board including the main contractual elements for the
March meeling of the Supervisory Beard and Lhe renewals of the appamniments to the Executive Board The standing
commiltee also deaided on adjustments required 1o the articles of association, concerning anly the form of words
to be used It also gave the Chiel Executive Officer permission Lo sit on the supervisory board of anather German
listed company, or to assume the chawrmanship of such a supervisory board
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The audit committee held five meetings in 2009 In the presence of the auditors, the Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Frnanaial Officer, it discussed and reviewed the annual financial statements of Linde AG and the Group
linancial statements, the management reports, the proposed appropriation of profits and the audit reports,

sncluding the report on the key audi 1ssue and the presentation by the auditors of the main results of the audit §
The audit commuttee raised no objections as a result of its reviews The auditors did not report any significant %
weaknesses in the internal controd and risk management systems relating to the accounting process The audit =
committee also discussed the interim financial reperts and quarterly financial statements prior to their publication §
based on reports presented by the Executive Board and the auditors In addition, the committee prepared the g
proposal of the Supervisory Board on the appointment of the auditors at the Annual General Meeting, 1ssued
the audit mandate 1o the auditors, determined the key audit 1ssue and agreed the audit fees Moreover, the
committee monitored the independence, qualifications, rotation and efficiency of the auditors and the services x
provided by the auditors in addition to the audit The sudit committee also entered into an agreement with the %
auditors n accordance with the Group's internal rules about the pravision of services not related to the audit s
and the auditors informed the commuttee at each of its meetings about the fees it had charged in relation to g
such services Furthermore, it was provided with information on a reqular basis about improvements in the nsk S
management system and comphance structures, aboul compliance i1ssues, any legal or requlatory nsks, the risk
positton and the identification and monitonng of nsk within the Group The audit committee also considered the
internal control system, based on a presentation by the Executive Board The head of Internal Audit presented a £
report on the structure, roles and responsibilities in that department and on therr audit work and the audit plan §
for 2009 The audit commitiee also had detailed discussions on a regular basts about the impact of the financial =
and economic <nsis In addition, the audit committee discussed with the Executive Board and the auditors g
fundamental issues regarding the preparation and audit of the 2009 financial statements and the consequences z
for Group accounting of the German Accounting Law Reform Act (BilMoG), which came into force in May 2009 -
The Execulive Board also requtarly provided the committee with information about the status of vanous actvi-
lies relating Lo the external financing of the Group and the safequarding of 1ts hquidity 24
z0
<=
The nomination and mediation commitiees had ne cause to meet during the year E 5
o=
The commuttee chairmen reported in detail about the work of their committees at the plenary Supervisory Board 55
meeting following their own meetings 25
Annual financial statements and Group {inancial statements E
=
&
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Beilin, (KPMG) audited the annual financial statements of Linde AG E
for the vear ended 3t December 2009 prepared 1n accordance with the principles set out 1n the German E
Commercial Code {(HGB) together with the management report, as well as the consohdated financial statements =

of The Linde Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 prepared in accordance with 1FRS as adopted by the



010 Linde AG Financial Statements 2009
SUPERVISORY BOARD - Report of the Supervisery Board

European Union including the management report 1n accordance with German generally accepted standards
for the audtt of finangial statements and in supplementary compliance with International Standards on
Auditing {ISA) The auditors have confirmed that the Group financial statements and the Group management
report meet the requirements set out in §315a(1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and have Issued
unqualified opirions on both the Group financial statements and annual financial statements In accordance with
the tlerms of 1ts engagement, KPMG performed audit reviews of the half-yearly report and the two other intenm
fenancial reports in the 2009 financial year At no time did these reviews give rise to any objections KPMG also
confirmed that the nsk management system comphes with legal requirements No risks that mrght affect
the viability of the company as a going concern were identified The auditors did not report any significant
weaknesses in the internal contrel system In the 2009 financial year, the auditors focused i particular on the
audit of leng-term construction contracts in the Engineenng Division

EXECUTIVE BDARD
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The documents relaling to the financial statements and the audit reports were 1ssued to all members of
the Supervisory Board i good iime They were the subject of extensive deliberations at the audit committee
meeting on 4 March 2010 and the meeting of the Supervisory Board to approve the financial statements on
16 March 2010 The auditors tock part In the discusstons both at the audrt committee meeting and &t the

§ meettng of the full Supervisory Board The auditors presented the main results of their audit and were able to
% provide supplementary information and to answer questiens The audit committee also presented the results
= of Its review 1o the Supervisory Board We conducted our own examination of all the decuments submitted and
':S audil reports and discussed them in detail After considenng the results of the preliminary review by the audit
& committee and the final results of our own review of the documents submitted to us by the Executive Board
and by the auditors, we find no grounds for cbjection and concur with the results of KPMG's audit
We hereby approve and adopt the financial statements of Linde AG and of The Linde Group for the year ended
& 31 December 2009 as drawn up by the Executive Board, the annual financial statements of Linde AG are hereby
% final We also approve the Executrve Board's proposal for the appropration of profits
2
2
3 Changes 1n the composition of the Supervisory Board, Supervisory Board commttees and
Executive Board
4 There were no changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board or Executive Board n the 2009 financial year
=
é On 31 December 2009, M Klaus-Peter Miller resigned from the audit committee of the Supervisory Board due to
§ other commutments on fus ime At the meeting on 4 December 2009, the Supervisary Board elected Dt Gerhard
F Beiten as the new member of the audit commitiee with effect from 1 january 2010 We thanked Mr Maller for
- hts valuable contribution to the Supervisary Board audit committee
ze The Supervisory Board would ke to thank the Executive Board and all Linde employees for thew great personal
gg commitment and dedicaled hard work in the 2009 financiat year
w
_E_é Munich, 16 March 2010
£5 For the Supervisory Board
=
z l’\/\ ‘/L .
g . ALty o L__\j
£
£
g D1 Manfied Schneider

Chairman
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Corporate Governance

The Supervisory Board and Executive Board recognise the importance of good
corporate governance Their actions have always been based on the principles
of responsible corporate management and supervision Linde sees corporate

governance as an ongoing process and will continue to follow future developments
closely

CORPORATE GOYERNANCE
{Par1 of the management repon})

013 Declaration on corporate governance
and Corporate governance report
018 Remuaeration ieport
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Declaration on corporale governance and Corporate governande report

Declaration on corporate governance and

Corporate governance report

(Part of the management report)

I Comphance with the German Corporate
Governance Code and declarations of compliance

tinde AG follows the German Corporate Governance Code pio-
duced by the Government Commussion in 2002 and last updated
iIn 2009 The Executive Board and Supervisory Board make the
annual declaration of compliance with § 161 of the German Stock
Corporation Law {AkLG)

“The Execulive Board and Supervisory Board of Linde AG
declare in accordance with §161 of the German Stock Corpo-
ration Law Linde AG has comphed and wili in future comply
with all the recommendaticns of the Government Commission
on the German Corporate Governance Code as amended on
18 June 2009 Since it made 1ts last declaration of compliance on
13 March 2009, Linde AG has complied with all the recemmen
dations of the Cede as amended on 6 June 2008 ~

The current declaration of compliance and all past decla
rations of compliance with the German Corporate Governance
Code are avatlable on the company’s website at www linde com/
declarationofcompliance

Linde AG complies to the greatest possible extent with the sug-
gestions made In the Code, with the following two exceptions

- The Code suggests thal lhe Annual General Meeting 15 trans
mitted on the Internet We transmit the opening remarks of
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the speech of the
Chiel Executive Officer, but not the general discusston in prin-
aple, the articles of association permit the transmission of the
Annual General Meeting in full via electronic media However,
as far as the verbal contnbutions of the shareholders are con-
cerned, we do not wish to encroach on the nght 1o privacy of
individual speakers Nevertheless, we will continue to follow
developments closely

= In addition, there 15 3 suggestion in the Code that vanable emol
uments pad to members of the Supervisory Board should also
be linked to the long-term performance of the company When
revised arrangements for the remuneration of the Supervisory
Board were agreed a! Lhe Annual General Meeting In June 2007,
it was decrded not to introduce a long-term component

I Corporate governance practices

The corpartate goals of good tesponsible management and super-
vision and the actievement of sustainable valve added have tra-
ditionally been seen as important in Linde AG Our success has
always been based on close and effective cooperation between
the Executive and Supervisory Boards, consideration of the inter-
ests of our shareholders, an open style of corporate communica-
tion, proper accounting and audit procedures and a responsible
approach to nsk and to legal and intema! Group rules

Linde mantains a high standard of ethecal principles In 2007, the
Execulive Board developed & corporale philosophy entitled Linde
Spint and devised a new code of conduct known as the Code
of Ethics and launched both throughout the Group Linde Spint
describes the corporate culture which is mamifested 1n the Linde
vision and the values and principles underlying our daly actions
The Code of Ethics sets oul the commitment made by all employ-
ees of The Linde Group 10 comply with legal requlations and to
preserve and protect the ethical and moral values of the Group It
15 based cn our corporate culture and 1s infine with our global val-
ves and fundamental principles An important feature of the com-
pliance guidehnes of The Linde Group 15 the notification system
we have installed, which 15 known as the Integrity Line The Integ-
rity Line provides both internal and external stakeholders with the
opporiunity to express doubts and notify the Group of any suspl-
cious circumstances The Executive Board has also adopted its own
guidelines in the following areas cccupational safety, health and
enviranmental protection, quality and purchasmg Like the Code
of Ethics, these apply 10 all the employees in The Linde Group

To reinforce compliance with legal requlations as well as with
voluntary rules, we have established a global compliance organ-
1sation The Execulive Board has set up a comphance office in
the centralised legal department Compliance officers have been
appointed in the divisions, business units and operating seqments
10 support the Group-wide observance of the compliance pra-
gramme The global compliance manager coordinates and imple-
ments compliance measures The Execulive Board and the audn
committee of the Supervisory Board are regularly informed about
the current status of the ongoing development of the compliance
organisation, ncluding the assotiated measures relating to commeo-
nications, training and revisions to existing rules of conduct Tran-
ngq 1s provided for our employees worldwide Courses attended
by employees are supplemented by a Group-wide e-learning pro-
gramme All the guidehines an our core values and on comph-
ance are available at www linde com/guidelinescorevalues and
www linde com/corporategovernance

It Corporate governance report

Executive Board and Supervisory 8oard procedures
Linde AG, which has 1ts registered office in Munich, s governed
by the provisions of the German Stock Corperalion Law (AkIG)
and the German Codetermination taw {MutbestG), capital mas-
ket regulations and the rules set out 1n its articles of association
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board are responsible for the
management and supervision funcuions allocated to them They
cooperate closely in the interests of the Group 1o ensure the contin-
ued existence of the Group and lo create suslamable value added
They must act 1n the terests of the shareholders and for the
benefit of the Group

EXLCUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD
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Executive Board
The Executive Board of Linde AG 1s responsible for the manage-
ment of the company and conducts its business The current four-
member Executive Board reflects the global nature of The Linde
Group 1n s international composition Its actions and dectsions
are geared towards the interests of the Group and it must seek
to achieve a sustainable Increase in corporate value The Exec-
utive Board decdes on the strategic direction of the Group,
cbtains the Supervisery Board's approval of this and ensures
that the overall strategy 15 implemented 11 15 also responstble
for annual and multi-year corporate budgets and for the prep-
aration of the quarterly, half-yearly, annual and Group finan-
oab stalements 11 also ensuies that appropinate nsk manage-
ment and risk control systems are in place and provides regular
up-to-date detailed reports to the Supervisory Board on all the
strategic 1ssues affecting the Group, medivm-term corporate
plans, business trends, the nsk situation, risk management and
the comphance of Group companies with legal regulations and
internal Group guidelines Actions and transactions of the Exec
utive Board which are of fundamental importance require the
approval of the Supervisery Board These include, in particular,
the annual captial expenditure programme, Mmaler acquisitions,
divestments and financial measures While in office, members
of the Executive Board are bound by a detasled restraint clause
Any conflicts of intezest must he disclosed immediately 1o the
Supervisory Beard, as well as 1o thei fellow Board members
The procedurai reles of the Executive Board govern the work it
performs, the departmental responsibiiites of each member of
the Executive Board, the issues which must be dealt with by the
full Executive Board and the majorily required for resolutions to
be passed by the Executive Board The Execulive Board passes
resolutions at meetings held on a regular bassis A simple major-
ity of the vetes cast 1s suffiaent for a resolulton to be passed,
unless a greater majeriy 1s prescribed by law If the vote 1s tied,
the Chawman has the casting vote Without prejudice to the col-
tective responsibility of all the members of the Executive Board,
the members of the Executive Board have individual responsibil-
ity far the functrons allocated to them when the deasions of the
Executive Board are being made 1tis incumbent upon the Chaw-
man of the Executive Board to assume responsibility not anly for
the functions allocated to him, but also fo coordinate properly
all the functions of the Executive Board He 15 the leading mem-
ber of the Executive Board who cooperates with the Supervisory
Board and represents the company in public

No contlicts of interest atose for any member of the Executive
Board duning the reporting penod Where such conflicts of inter-
est do occur, they must be disclosed immediately to the Super-
visory Board No member of the Executive Board 1s 3 member of
more than three supervisory boards of hsled compames outside
The Linde Group Information about the members of the Exec

ptive Board and their memberstips of other German supervi-
sory boards or comparable German and foreign boards of busi-
ness entilies 15 given in Note [24] of the Notes to the financial
statements

The Executive Board has no commitiees

The responsibilities and functions of the members of the
Executive Board are shown in the summary on page 002

Supervisary goard
Equal numbers of shareholder representatives and employee rep-
resentatives sit on the Supervisory Board of Linde AG, which com-
plises, In accordance with the company’s articles of association,
that number of members which is speafied as the mimum um-
ber in the refevant regulations Currently, the minimum number of
supervisory Board members speafied is twelve The appointment
of the members of the Supervisary Board 1s also governed by the
relevant legal regulations In accordance with the recommenda-
tions of the German Corporate Governance Code, the shaseholder
representatives were elected mdmidually at the last election to
the Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meeting on 3 June
2008 The current term of office of the members of the Supervi-
sory Board ends with the completion of the Annual General Meet-
Ing n 2013 When indviduals are being considered for election o
the Supervisory Board, the deciding factars 1a the compasition of
the Board are the abiliies and professional experience of thase
mdividuals and the knowledge that they possess which would
enable them 1o discharge their duties, and diversity These fac-
1015 are then weighed up, taking the mterests of the Group Into
account No former members of the Execulive Board are currently
members of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board appoints the Executive Board, advises
it on the running of the company and monitors its executive man-
agement The Chairman of the Supervisory Board coordinates the
work of the full Supervisory Board and chairs the meetings The
chairmen of 1he Supervisory and Executive Boards share mfor-
mation and 1deds with one anather throughout the year

The procedural rules of the Supervisory Board include pro-
visions regarding its independence Some of the members of
the Supervisary Board have in the past financigl year been and
are currently on the executive boards of companies with which
Linde has business relationsiups Transactions with these com-
parues lake place under the same conditions as for non-related
thiid parties These transacuions do not afiect the mdependence
of the Supervisory Board members concerned The Supervisory
Board has a suificient number of members with an adequate
level of independence

The members of the Supervisory Board disclose any conflicts
of interest arising as a resull of consultancy work performed for
other companies or memberships of the executive bodies of
other companies to the Supervisory Board Any significant con-
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fhcts of interest ansing which are not temporary will fead to the
removal of the member from the Supervisory Board The Superwi-
sory Board informs shareholders in its report at the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting of any conflicts of interest which have ansen and
the measures which have been taken as a result

During the reporting period, there were no consultancy cen-
tracts or other service or company agreements between mem-
beis of the Supervisory Board and the company No conflicts of
Interest arose for the members of the Supervisory Board Where
such confhicts of interest do occur, they must be disclosed imme-
diately to the Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board members who are members of the exec
utive board of a listed company do not sit on mose than three
supervisory boards of listed companies which do not belong to
the group of the company Tor which they perform their execu-
tive board duties Information about the members of the Super-
visory Board and their memberships of other German super
visory boards or comparable German and foreign boards of
business entities 1s given in Note [24] of the Notes to the {inan
cial statements

Supervisory Board commitiees
The Supervisory Board has four commitiees, each of which com-
prises some of its members The committees do the groundwork
for the full Supervisory Board 1f 1t ts permitted by law and laid
down in Lhe procedural rules of the Supervisory Board, dea-
sion-making powers may n individual cases be delegated by
the Supervisory Board to these committees The Chairman of the
Supervisory Board 1s the Chauman of all the commuttees except
Lhe audil committee

The Standing Committee, which comprises three shareholder
representatives and two employee representatives, advises the
Supervisory Board in particular on the appointment and removal
of members of the Executive Board and on decisions regard-
ing the remuneration system for the £xecutive Board iduding
the terms and condiions of employment contracts, pension con-
tracts and any other contracts pertinent to the remuneration of
Executrve Board members It also provides advice about long-
term succession planning for the Execulive Board and reviews
the effectiveness of the work of the Supervisory Board

The Audit Committee also comprises three shareholder rep-
resentatives and two employee representatives It does the
groundwork for the decisions of the Supervisory Board regarding
the adoption of the annual financial statements and the approval
of the Group financial statements and makes arrangements with
the auditors It supports the Supervisory Board In the discharge
of its supervisory functien In this context, 1t monutors In partic
ular the effectiveness of the internal control system, the inter-
nal audit system and the nisk management system It supervises
the accounting process and the audit and also deats with com-

pliance 1ssues Moreover, 11 discusses the intenim reports with
the Executive Board prior to their publication The audit commit-
tee also makes a recommendation to the full Supervisery Board
regarding the proposal for the election of the company’s aud:
lars The Chauman of the audil commiltee, Dr Clemens Brsig, is
an independent financial expert and has specialist knowledge
of accounting principles and internal control systems and many
years of expenience in the field

The Nomination Commuttee compnses the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, the Second Deputy Charman of the Supervi
sory Board and one other shareholder representative 1t makes
recommendations to the Supervisory Board on proposed can-
didates for the election of shareholder representatives at the
Annuzl General Meeting

The Mediation Committee, formed under the provisions of
the German Codetermination Law (MitbestG), comprises the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, the Deputy Chairman of
the Supervisory Boasd, one shareholder representative and one
employee representative H makes suggestions to the Supervi-
sory Board regarding the appointment of members of the Exec-
utive Board, If the required majonty of two-thirds of the votes
of the members of the Supervisory Board s not obtained in the
first baliot

The names of those sitting on the Supervisory Board and on
the Supervisory Board committees when the financial statements
were being prepared are given on page 004 of this Report or
can be viewed at any time at www inde com/superviseryboard
Information about the activities of the Supervisory Board and
ils commuttees and about the work 1t has done with the Execu-
tive Board in the 2009 financial year 1s given in the Report of the
Supervisory Board on pages 006 lo 011

Annual General Meeting
The shareholders protect their nghts at the Annual General Meet-
ing by exercising their night 1o vote Each share entitles the share-
holder to ane vote Entitlement to vote at the meeting 1s based on
holding shares at the internationally recogrised record date The
beginning of the 21st day before the Annual General Meeting 1s
used as the cut-off date for the identification of shareholders

The Annual General Meeling takes place within the first six
months of each financial year The agends for the meeting,
incleding the reports and documents required for the meeting,
15 also published on the company's website 1n German and Eng-
hish The notice of the Annual General Meeling and the assoc-
ated documents can be transmitted electromically to sharehold-
ers if they so wish

sharehalders who cannet attend the Annual General Meeting
o1 who feave the meeting before voting has commenced have
the option to exercise their vote using a proxy of therr choice or a
proxy appointed by the company voting in accordance with then
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Instructions The proxy forms may be handed in at any time until
the evening before the Annual General Meeting, and may also
be 1n electionic form If so desired

The Executive Board of Linde AG presents the annual financial
stalements and Group financal statements for approval at the
Annual General Meetng The Annual General Meeling passes
resolutions regarding the appropriation of profits, the ratification
of the acts of the Executive Board and Supervisery Board, the
election of shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board
and the appointment of the auditors Decisions are also made at
the Annual General Meeting regarding changes 1o be made to
the articles of association, capttal measures and the authorisa-
lion to repurchase shares The remarks of the Chairman of the
Supervisary Board at the beqinning of the Annual General Meet-
tng and the speech of the Chief Executive Officer are transmit-
ted live on the Internet Once the Annua! General Meeting has
closed, the results of the votes on each agenda item are pub-
lished on the company's website without delay

Consequential loss and hiability insurance

The company has taken out consequential loss and liability insut-
ance (D& 0 insurance) for the members of the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board with an appropriate retention We have
made an adjustment te comply with the provisions of the Ger-
man Law on the Appropriateness of Executive Board Remunera-
tion {VorstA@) From the 2010 calendar yeas, the retention will be
10 percent of the claim, up to a figure of ene and a half imes the
fixed annual emoluments of the member of the Executive Board
An equivalent retention has been agreed for members of the
Supervisory Board in accordance with a new recommendation of
the German Corporate Governance Code

Directors’ dealings
Linde AG publishes without delay those transactions required
to be notified under § 15a of the German Secuniies Trading Law
{WpHG) which have been effected by the persons named therein,
in particular officers of the company and related parties, in shares
of the company or related finanaal nstruments, in accordance
with the provisions of the law The notifications also appear on the
Linde webstte at www linde com/direciorsdealings

in the course of the year, members of the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board informed BaFin (the German Federal
Financial Supervisory Authority) about a total of four notfiable
sale transactions involving between 1,000 and 40,000 Linde
shares All the sale transactions were n connection with the
exerqaise of share options under the Linde Management incentive
Programme 2002 The price pes share of the natsfiable transac
tions was between EUR 62 31 and EUR 86 70 and the size of the
tndividual transactions between EUR 86,699 and EUR 2,802,400
'n the case of sales of shares which members of the Executive
Board subscribed for by exercising share options under the Linde

Management incentive Programme, the subscription rights were
included at their value on the grant date in the disclosure of
the remuneration of the Executive Board In the relevant finan
cial year

interests in share capital

The total holdings of all the members of the Executive and Super
visory Boards In Linde AG shares or related financial instru-
ments during the financial year did not exceed 1 percent of the
shares 1ssued by the company Therefore, there weie no interests
required to be disclosed under section 6 6 of the German Carpo-
rate Governance Code

Remuneration of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board
The remuneration report, which also includes information about
the share oplien schemes, 1s on pages 018 to 027 of this finan-
cial report

Communications and stakeholder relations
Linde AG complies with the legal requirement to treat all its share-
holders equally Transparency plays an important role 1n our com-
pany and we always aim to provide shareholders and the public
with comprehensive, consistent and up-to-date information

We keep ous sharehelders and the general public informed
about key dates for the Group and about our publications in a
financial calendar which appears in ous annual report and i our
rtertm financial reports, as well as on the Linde AG website
tinde AG publishes ad-hoc announcements and press releases
as well as notifable secunties transactions (directors’ dealings)
i the legally prescribed media and on its website The articies of
association are also on the website Linde provides information
to the capital market and to the public through analysts’ confer-
ences and press conferences or in the farm of teleconterences
which coincide with the publication of the quarterly, half-yearly
or annual results Regular evenis involving the CEO and CFO and
instilutional investors and financial analysts also ensure a regu-
lar exchange of information with the financal markets The dates
and locations of roadshows and investors’ conferences are pub-
lished on the Linde website The presentations given at these
events are also available to view on the website

In additien to considering the 1nterests of its shareholdes,
Linde takes account of the concerns of other stakeholders who
also contnibute to the success of the company As far as possible,
we include all the stakeholders 1n our corporate communications
Linde’s stakeholders include all its employees, its customers and
suppliers, trade associaiians and government stitutions
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Accounting, audst and nsk management
Linde AG prepares its Group financial statements and intenm Group
financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Unlon The
preparation of the annual financial statements of Linde AG com-
plies with German commercial law (the German Commerclal Code
or HGB) The annual financial statements and the Group financial
statements are prepared by the Executtve Board, reviewed by the
Supervisory Board and audited by the auditors The audit proce-
dures are in accordance with German auditing regulations and
German generally accepted standards for the audnt of financial
statements promulgated by the Instiut der Wirtschaltsprifer (the
institute of Public Auditors in Germany), and in supplementary
compliance with Internatienal Standards on Audiing The audit
procedures include a review of the system for the early identifica-
ton of nisks The quartesly and half-yearly financial reports are dis-
cussed in detall by the audit committee with the Executive Board
prtor to publication

In May 2009, the Supervisory Board 1ssued the mandate for
the audit of the annual financial statements and Group financial
statements 1o KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgeselischaft, Ber-
hin, who had been appotnted at the Annual General Meeting as
auditors of the linancial statements and Group {inancial state-
ments for the year ended 31 December 2009 and had also been
appointed lo conduct audil reviews of the intenm reports and
half-yearly financial report for the 2009 financial year The audi-
tors issued a detailed declaration confirming their independence
to the audit committee of the Supervisory Board There were
no conflicts of interest It was agreed with the auditors that the
Charmen of the Supervisory Board and of the audit commiltee
would be informed immediately duning the audit of any polentiat
reasons for the disqualification of the auditors or for thewr lack of
impartiahity, unless these could be eliminated without delay The
auditors were obliged to report immediately all the significant
audit findings and evenis ansing from the audit which have an
impact on the duties of the Supervisory Board The auditors have
also undertaken to inform the Supervisory Board ff they discover
facts in the course of thewr audit which reveal any inaccuracies e
the company’s declaration of compliance with the Code

Linde has reporting, momioring and nisk management sys-
tems which are continually being updated and adapted by the
Executive Board to lake account of changing circumstances The
effectiveness of these systems 1s reviewed by the auditors both
in Germany and abroad The audit committee also supports the
Supervisory Board in manitoning the activities of executive man-
agement, concerning iiself in this contexi also with risk manage-
ment ssues It recerves reqular reports from the Executive Board
and the auditors about risk management, the risk position, and
the identiftcation and monnornng of risks 1t 1s also infermed on
a requiar basis about existing nsks and the evolution of those
nsks Moreover, the audit commitiee has agreed wilh the audi-

tors that, If necessary, they will report te the commitiee any sig-
aificant weaknesses they might identify 1n the internal control
and nsk managemen! systems relating to the accounting pro-
cess More details about risk management in The Linde Group
are given in the Risk report on pages 039 to 048 This includes
the report required by the German Accounting Law Reform Act
{BilMoG) on the accounting-related internal control and risk man-
agement systems

07

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

=
2
=
>
X

MANAGEMENT REPORT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

FURTHTR INFORMATION

|



EXECUVIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY ROARD

=
=
=2
z
=
E
=

MANAGEMENT REPORT

l FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

FURTHER INFORMAT!ON

018

tinde AG Financia! Statements 2009
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Remuneration reporl

Remuneration report

(Part of the management report)

The remunieration report sets out the structure, the basic features
and the amount of the remuneration payable to members of the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board it forms part of the man-
agement report and takes account of the recommendations of the
German Carporate Gavernance Cade The remuneration report afso
contains the information which 15 legally required under the pro-
visions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) This information is
therefore not repeated in the Notes to the financial statements

1 Remuneration of the Executive Board

In accordance with the German Law on the Appropriateness of
Executive Board Remuneration (VorstAG) which came into force
on 5 August 2009, the full Supervisory Board rather than the
standing committee of the Supervisory Board 1s now respansible
for determining the total emoluments of each individual member
of the Executive Board In line with the procedural rules of the
supervisory Board, it 1s incumbent upon the standing committee
to do the groundwork so that the Supervisory Board can pass res-
olutions relating to remuneration

At the beginning of 2069, 1n accordance with a recommen-
dation of the German Corporate Governance Code made In June
2008, the supervisory Board, on the suggestion of the standing
commitiee, approved the remuneratton system for the Execu-
tive Board, which had proved its worth over many years, includ-
ing the main contractual elements In the meantime, against the
background of the changes in the German Stock Cosporation Law
{(AktG) as a result of the German Law on the Appropriateness
of Executive Board Remuneration, which does not require any
action In respect of existing contracts, the existing remuneration
system for the Executive Board was reviewed by an independent
external expert on executive pay 1n the view of this expert, the
current system complies to a great extent with the objectives
of the German Law on the Appropriateness of Executive Board
Remuneration According to existing contractual commitments,
a review of the level of the remuneration, its redesign and the
renewal of performance-related components in Linde was not
due 1o take place until the 2012 financial year Until then, it 1s the
intention of the Supervisory Board te examine improvements Lo
the remuneration system and, once the current contractual com-
mitments have expired, to ensure total conformity with the new
legal regulations This indludes the five-year performance share
programme launched at the Annual General Meeting in 2007 In
2011, the last options will be 1ssued under this scheme 1n the
short term, there will be no changes to the current employment
contracts of the members of the Executive Board

The amount and structure of the remuneration of the Execu-
tive Board are based not only on the extent of the mternational
activity of the company and its size, its economic and finan-
cral situation, and its performance and prospects, but also on

customary practice regarding remuneration within the environ-
ment 1 which It operates and the remuneration structure which
apphes elsewhere tn the company To gauge what is customary
in the environment 1n which it operates for the purposes of com-
pansen, Linde laoks al parallel cases in several external groups
(DAX-30 companies, comparable German and international com-
panies) The emoluments also depend on the duties of each indi-
vidual member of the Executive Board, and on his of her per-
sonal performance and the performance of the Executive Board
o5 a whole The remuneration is calcufated so that it 15 compet-
\ive 1n 2n iternational context and offers an intentive for sus-
tainable corporate development and sustainable increases in the
value of the company In a dynamic environment

The remuneration sysiem of the Executive Board consists of
fixed components (which are not perfermance-reiated) and var-
able (performance-related) components Elements which are not
performance-reiated are fixed cash emoluments, benetits Inking
of fringe benefits and pension commitments The parformance-
related components are variable cash emoluments and share-
based payments The vanable cash emolyments are determmed
on the basts of a one-year penod, while the share-based pay-
ments are based on periods of several years As a supplement to
the remuneration components already mentioned, the emplay-
ment contract of the Chief Executive Officer also provides for
potenhial project-related bonuses which are determined on the
basis of periods of several years Assuming all performance tar-
gets are achieved in fuli, the value of the vaniable emoluments
of the Executive Board in one year would comprise on average
around 55 percent determined on the basis of a one-year period
and around 45 percent determmed on the basts of a penod of
several years

The cash emoluments are based on an annual target Income,
around 40 percent of which on average 15 paid to the Board
member in fixed monthly amounts if all the performance abjec
tives are met in full, while around 60 percent ss variable The tar-
get incame ts reviewed at regular intervals, at least every three
years lhe last review was conducied on 1 januagy 2009 As a
result of this review, the target mcome of all the members of the
Executive Board was adjusted The members of the Executive
8oard recewe no remuneration for any Group offices held

Fixed emoluments (excluding pension commitments)

Each member of the Executwve Board receives fixed monthiy cash
emoluments, which consist of a penstonable component {fixed
monthly emoluments) and a non-pensionable component {fixed
dividend-related bonus)

Benefits in kind are also provided, which are taxed individu-
ally They compnise mainly insurance benefits at normal market
rates and company cais and, in one ¢ase, the piovision of secy-
iy arrangements
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vanable emoluments

vanable emolumenis comprise share-based and performance-
based elements of remuneration related 1o the company The
Supervisory Board has agreed potential imits which would apply
in exceptional circumstances The level of vaniable emeluments
15 linked with the achievement of certain finanaial and strate-
gic targets, movements in the share price and qualitative success
factors The main performance criteria used in the calculation of
variable emmoluments are return on captal employed (ROCE), oper-
ating profit (EBIT), the company's dividend, adjusted earnings per
share and movements in the share price The targets set for the
variable emoluments are in line with the key performance tar-
gels applied in respect of the Group and with the mierests of the
shareholders and other stakeholders

Variable cash emoluments
Variable cash emoluments comprise a dividend-related bonus and
performance-related bonuses

the dividend-related bonus 15 calculated for each member
of the Executive Board on the basis of an 1ndividually agreed
amount in euro for each EUR 0 01 of the dividend declared per
share at the Annual General Meeting which 1s due to be paid
to shareholders in the relevant fingnoal year Of the resulting
bonus entitlement, around 20 percent is currently variable, tak-
ing nto accoun! the monthly instaiments paid in advance If the
unappropriated profit is based on retained earnings brought for-
ward or releases from provisions, this 15 not inciuded in the cal-
culation of the dividend-related bonus

The amount of the performance-related bonus 15 dependent
on the achievement of certain objectives specified at the begin-
ning of the financial yeas by the Supervisory Board for that finan-
aial year The objectives are generalty based on multi-year cor-
porate budgets The man performance cntena for this bonus are
return on capital employed (ROCE) and operating profit (EBIT),
which usually generate 70 percent of the bonus, and to a lesser
extent individual targets, which usually generate 30 percent of
the bonus For the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Finan-
izl Officer, financia! targets are determined on the basis of key
Group data For those members of the Executive Board respon-
sible for operations, the targets are determined on the basis of
comparable figures in the divisions and reqtens for which they
are responsible The performance-related bonus has an upper
limit The portion based on key data will nol exceed 200 percent
of the bonus amount agreed, and that portion based on targets
refating 1o the functions performed will not exceed 100 percent
of the amount The Chiel Executive Officer has entitlements to
bonus payments guaranteed by contract if he achieves certain
demanding acquisition, divestment and integration targets The
amount of these bonuses 1s determined 10 each individual case
These bonuses also have an upper limit

The vanable emoluments are payable on the day after the Annual
General Meeting at which the appropnation of profits 15 deaded

Share-based emoluments
Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002
Untl the 2006 financial year, members of the Fxecotive Board
recelved @ vanable component with a long-term incentive In the
form of options granted every year, based on the share option
scheme approved at the Annual General Meeting In May 2002
This scheme (Management Incentive Programme 2002) applied
to members of the Executive Board, members of the manage-
mer boards of affiliated companies and selected executives In
2006, the last oplions were 1ssued under this scheme In to1al,
12 mithen subsciiption nghts were granted to members of the
Execulive Board The options granted to the participants continue
to be exerctsable as long as the conditions for the exercise of
the options are met Each oplion confers the nght to subscribe
1o one share in Linde AG at the exeicise price The exercise price
for acquinng one new share 1s 120 percent of the base price The
base price 1s the average closing price of Linde shases in Xetra
trading on the Frankiurt stock exchange over the last five trading
days before the 1ssue date of the options The options were issued
in five annual tranches from 2002, each with a term of seven
years There 1s a two-year qualifying period, which commences on
the 1ssue date Cuning the remaining five-year term, the options
can be exercised at any Ume, except during blocked penods The
seven-year lerm of the options in the 2002 tranche ended m July
2009 Opuionsin the 2002 tranche which had not been exercised
by that time duly expired

in the 2009 financial year, the five tranches in the scheme
were sometimes valuable and exercisable The exercise prices
of the five tranches vary between EUR 32,38 and EUR 81 76
The Supervisory Board determined the aptions to be allocated lo
members of the Executive Board and, for other employees enti-
tled to opticns, the Execulive Board decided on the ailocations,
with the approval of the Supervisory Board With effect from the
2004 tranche, the Supervisory Board can decide to restnct the
exercise of options 1ssued to members of the Executive Board if
there are exceplional unforeseen movements in the Linde share
price In total, members of the Executive Board held 535,000
opliens at the balance sheel date (2008 635,000), which were
theoretically alt exercisable as the qualifying period had expired
In the 2009 financial year, members of the Executive Board exer-
ased 100,000 options (2008 75,000}

Movements in the options issued to the current members of
the Executive Board under the Linde Management Incenlive Pro-
gramme 2002 were as follows
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options - Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002

At 1 )anuary

Exercised in the finanoal year

At 31 December

Weighted Weighted  Weighted Range of  Wewghted  Weighted
avefage avefage avefagt exginse aveTage aveiage
exercise exercise  share price prices exercise femaining

prsce price 3t exercise price Iite
date
in vnits in€ inunits in€ In € N units in€ n€ in years
Professor Dr

Wolfgang Reitzle 2009 460,000 5691 70,000 3238 6674 390,000 4791-8176 64 85 24
(Chatrman) 2008 520,000 5673 60,000 3238 9134 460,000 3738-8176 5¢91 31
0r Aldo Belloni 2009 150,000 58 36 30,000 32138 84 92 120,000 47 91-8176 64 85 24
2008 165,000 5822 15,000 56 90 8928 150,000 37 3B-B176 58 36 30
Georg Dencke 2009 25,000 7501 - - - 25,000 64 88-817a 501 30
2008 25,000 750 - - - 25,000 6488-8176 50 40

Total 2009 635,000 100,000 535,000

2008 710,000 75,000 635,000

In the 2008 and 2009 financial years, none of the options held by
the Executive Board expired or were forfeited The Executive Board
member | Kent Masters is not a particapant in this scheme as he
yoned The Unde Group after the tast tranche had been issued

Further information about the Linde Management Inceniive
Programme 2002 15 given n Note [20] of the Notes to the finan-
cial statements

Linde Performance Share Programme 2007

It was resolved at the Annual General Meeting on 5 june 2007
to Introduce a new long-term 1ncentive scheme (Linde Perfor-
mance Share Programme 2007) which would cover 3 five-year
penod Partiopants in the scheme include not only members of
the Executive Board, but also selected executives (members of
the management boards of Linde AG group companies, as well
as selected executives of Linde AG and us group compames) The
options may be Issued in five annual tranches, in each case within
a period of twelve weeks following the company's Annual Gen-
eral Meeting The Supervisory Board determines the aflocation of
aptions to members of the Executive Board, while the Executve
Board determines the allocation for lower tiers of management
Options are granted to members of the Executive Board for a par-
ticular vatue The number of options te be 1ssued to a member of
the Executwve Boatd 1s deterned an the basis of the (air value
per oplion according to an actuarial report a the grant date The
term of the options 15 calculaled as three years, iwo months and
two weeks from the Issue date The options In 3 tranche are to be
exerased once a vesting penod of three years from the date of
1ssue has been completed, over a penod of four weeks, if and 10
the extent that certain performance targets are met Each option
confers the nght to purchase one share in Linde AG at the exer-
aise price, which 1s equivalent in each case to the lowest 1ssue
pnce, currently EUR 2 56
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The performance targets for each indwidual tranche are based an
conditions faid dewn 21 the Annual General Meeting and on move-
menis in earmings per share, absolute total shareholder return
and relative tolal shareholder return Within each of these perfor-
ance targets, there is @ mintmum targel, which must be reached
if options are to be exercisable, and a stretch target If the stretch
target is reached, all the options become exercisable based on
the weighting attached to that particular performance target f
there are exceptional unfereseen movements in the price of Linde
shares, the Supervisory Board can restrict in whole or in pari the
volume or extent of options granted to members of the Executive

Board At the Annual General Meeting, it was resolved thal mem-
bers of the Executive Board would be subject to a two-year hold-
ing perod for 25 percent of the shares Issued

In the 2009 financial year, the third tranche of options was
allocated Options were granted to 862 (2008 871} partici-
pants

Movements in the options 1ssved to members of the Execu-
tive Board under the Performance Share Pregfamme 2007 were
as follows

options - Linde Performance Share Programme 2007

EXECUTIVE BOARD
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At 1 fanuary Granted in the Al 31 December
financial year =
Weighted average Z
remaining hfe ;
in units n units In units In years =
professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle 2009 78,810 58,754 137,564 16 é
{Chaiman) 2008 41,864 36,946 78,810 20 =
Dr Aldo Belloni 2009 26,269 19,585 45,854 i6
2008 13,954 12,315 26,269 20 -
Georg Denoke 2009 26,269 19,585 45,854 16 g
2008 13,954 12,315 26,269 20 =
] Kent Masters 2009 26,269 19,585 45,854 16 E
2008 13,954 12,315 26,269 20 z
=
Total 200% 157,617 117,509 175,126
2008 83,726 73,891 157,617 —_—

All the options held were not yet exercisable at 31 December
2009 The exercise price of all the options 15 currently EUR 2 56
each Duning the 2008 and 2009 {inancial years, none of the
options held by the Executive Board expired or were forfetted
further informatton about the value of the options, and about the
structure, conditions and, in particular, performance targets of the
scheme are given in Note [20] of the Notes to the Group financia!l
statements information about the rules which apply in the event
of a change of control is given on page 051 1n the Group manage-
ment report (Disclosures in accordance with § 289(4) of the Ger-
man Commercial Code)
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Total cost of share-based emoluments

The total cost of share-based emoluments in 2009 was EUR 10m
(2008 EUR 12m) Dunng Lhe financial year, the {ollowing cost was
recogntsed In respect of share-based payment instruments held
by members of the Executive Board

Cost of share-based payments

in€ 2009 2008
professor Waltgang Reltzle

(Chairman) 869,166 1,057,706
Dr Aldo Belloni 289,718 346,158
Georq Denoke 289,718 298,158
] Kent Masters 289,718 269,358
Total 1,738,320 1,971,380

Pension commitments

There are pension commitments o respect of the members of the
Executive Board, which are set out in individual contracts The
pension 1s based on a particular percemage of the most recently
paid fixed monthly emoluments The percentage rate on entry 15
20 percent This percentage increases by 2 percent for every year
of service compleled by the member of the Executive Board The
maximum percentage that can be achieved 15 50 percent of the
last fixed monthly emoluments paid For contracts of employ-
ment agreed before 1 july 2002, the percentage rate on enlry
was 40 percent and the maximum percentage that could be
achieved was 60 percent Payments are made on a monthly
basts ance the member has retied from the company and 15 el)-
gible for his or her pension {(old age pension from the age of 65,
pensicn for medical disabihty o1 incapacity for work and sui-
viving dependants’ pensien in the even! of death) A widow or
widower recelves 60 percent of the pension of the deceased
member of the Executive Board The commitments also include
benefits for any orphans or children who have |ost one parent
Fach chuld entitled to maintenance receives 10 percent (in the
case of children who have lost ane parent} up 10 @ maximum of
25 percent {in the case of orphans) of the pension of the con-
tracting party, generatly until his or her 18th year, although
matntenance may conhinve to be paid unul the completion of
his or her 27th year If the deceased left several children, the
amounts are reduced proportionately and imited i total to half
of the pension {o which the contracting party was entitled The
total maintenance payments to surviving dependants must not
exceed the full amount of the pensicn of the centracting party
Current pensions afe adyusted annually 1o take account of the
¢hange in the retail price index for private households based
on mformatton provided by the German Statistical Office Once

the member of the Executive Board has completed his or her
551h year and ten years of service an the Executive Board, and
if the employment contract was terminated early by the Super-
visory Board or the term of office was not extended for reasons
beyond the control of the member of the Executive Board, he or
she would immediately receive the pension earned, taking into
atcount other tncome

Emotuments of the Executive Board for 2009
The total cash remuneration of members of the Executive Board
tor performing their duties in Linde AG and its subsidiaries 1in 200%
was EUR 10,462,310 {2008 EUR 11,798,252) The decline tncom-
panson with the prior year ts mainly due to the fact that the var-
able cash emotuments fell from EUR 8,157,070 to EUR 6,431,873
This reflects fower performance-related bonus payments, partly
as a result of the decline in key pesformance indicators and partly
because 1n 2008 the Chief Executive Officer receved bonus pay-
ments 1n respect of particularly ambitious acquisition and integra-
tlon targets The tolal remuneration was EUR 13,462,315 (2008
EUR 14,798,227), which includes options granted to members of
the Executive Board under the Performance Share Programme
2007, which have a notional value of EUR 3,000,005 (2008
EUR 2,999,975) In the 2009 financial year, a total of 117,509
options (2008 73,891) were granted to members of the Execu-
live Board The value of these options when they were granted
was EUR 25 53 (2008 EUR 40 60) per optton

Provided that the annual financial statements of Linde AG for
the year ended 31 December 2009 are approved and that the
Supervisory Board accordingly comes to & decision an the varl-
able cash remenesation of 2009, the emoluments for 2009 of the
Indivtdual members of the Executive Board were as fallows
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Cash emoluments Share options Pensians

Fixed  Bepelts in Variable Total cash Valueon  Total emo- Annual  Allocated to
emolu-  kind/Other emolu- emoly- the grant luments amount  pension pro-
ments benefits ments ments date it pension vision in
were paid finangial
on balance year

n€ sheet date
Professor D1 2009 1,960,000 39,352 2,721,250 4,720,602 1,499,990 6,220,592 518,400 2,046,780
Wolfgang Reltzle 2008 1,816,000 24,308 4,688,750 6,529,058 1,500,008 8,029,066 424,320 367,647

(Chauman)

Dr Aldo Beltoru 2009 720,000 29,739 1,457,148 2,206,887 500,005 2,705,892 288,000 780,503
2008 588,000 31,549 1,227,075 1,846,624 499,989 2,345,613 244,800 -19,645
Georg Denoke 200% 564,000 13,467 946,500 1,523,967 500,005 2,023,972 122,400 243,21
2008 468,000 13,136 907,500 1,388,636 499,689 1,888,625 54,080 100,455
J Kent Masters 2009 672,000 31,879 1,306,975 2,010,854 500,005 2,510,859 190,920 262,102
2008 624,000 76,189 1,333,7451 2,033,934 499,989 2,533,923 171,360 130,776
Total 2009 3,916,000 114,437 6,431,873 10,462,310 3,000,005 13,462,315 - 3,332,596
(%) 29 1 48 78 22 100 - -
Total 2008 3,495,000 145,182 8,157,070 11,798,252 2,999.975 14,798,227 - 579,233
(%) 24 1 55 4] 20 100 - -

¥ The figure includes emoluments previded by Gioup companies In 2008 of EUR 215,245 based on his existing employment contiact priof to his appoint

ment 10 1he Executive Board in 2006

The increase 1n amounts allocated to pension provisions Is due
mainly to actuanal effects At 31 December 2009, pension provi-
stons relating fo members of the Executive Board who were active
members of the pension scheme were EUR 10,259,762 (2008 EUR
6,927,166) n The Linde Group and EUR 11,305,406 (2008 EUR
8,469,098) in the financial statements of Linde AG

Benehits on the early terminatton of a contract
members of the Executive Board who are not reappointed between
their 55th and 63rd year for reasons beyond their control receive
3 lump sum sevetance payment of 50 percent of their annval
cash remuneration (fxed monthly emoluments, dividend-related
bonus and performance-related bonus) for the last full finan-
cial year before the termination of their employment (n existing
contracls, which currently apply only te Professor Dr Wolfgang
Reitzle, it is shipulated thal the performance-related bonus 15 cal-
culated on the basis of the average of the performance-related
bonuses paid (n the previous three years

In 2009, when the Supervisory Board reappomnted Dr Aldo
Belloni, Georg Denoke and) Kent Masters to the Executive Board,
It incorporated the recommendations set outin em 4 2 3 of the
German Corparale Governance Code relating to severance pay
caps Into their new employment contracts in compliance with
the Code, all contracts with members of the Execuive Board
concluded or renewed In 2009 and new contracts which are con-
cluded or renewed in the future {new contracts} will include the

following prowisien If the contract of a member of the Execu-
uve Board is terminated early, without cause for the termmation
of employment, the severance pay would be capped al twice
the annual cash emoluments {ixed monthly emoluments, div-
idend-relaled bonus and performance-related bonus) The cal
culation 1s based on the annual cash emoluments for the last
full frnancial year pnor to the removal of the member from the
Executive Board If the annual cash emoluments of the member
of the Executive Board for the financial year in which his or her
employment 15 terminaled are likely to be significantly higher or
lower than the annual cash emoluments for the last {ull finan-
cial year, the Supervisory Board may at ifs discretion deade 1o
make an adjustment to the calculation of the annual cash emolu-
ments If the onginal remaining term of the employment contract
was less than two years, the severance pay would be calculated
pio rata For the penod on the basis of which the severance pay
15 determined, the members of the Executive Board receve no
pension payments

If Linde AG 15 acquired by another company and there 15 a
change of control, and the employment contract I1s terminated
within mne months of that date, either by mutual agreement, or
as a result of the passage of ime and the employment contract
not being renewed, or by resignation of the member of the Exec
utive Boaid due to a more than insigmiicant imparment of his o
her positton as a member of the Executive Board in consequence
of the 1akecver, the members of the Executve Board have an

023

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

E
z
=2
~
=
2
=

MAMAGEMENT REPQRT

FEMAMCIAL STATEMENTS

NATES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENYS OF LINDE AG

FURTHER INFORMATION



024

EXECUTIVE ROARD

SUPERVISORY BDARD

z
Pl
¥
>
E]
<
o
>

NGTES TG THE FINANCIAL
FURTHER INFORMATION STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IAANAGEMENT REPORY

|

Linde AG Financial siatements 2009
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Remuneration report

entitlement to benefits, based on thewr contractual cash emolu-
ments and hmited in extent However, the burden of proof s on
the member of the Executive Board to demonstrate the actual
crcumstances as a result of which his or her position has been
impaired In a more than msignificant way

For existing contracts, the following compensation and sev-
erance pay rufes apply in the event of a change of control In
addrtion to compensation, compnising the cash emoluments he
o1 she has foregone for the remaining term of is or her con-
tract (the total of the annual lixed emoluments, the dividend-
related bonus based on the tigure for the previous financial year
and the performance-related bonus based on the average of the
past three financial years, less an overall reduction of 25 per-
cent), the members of the Executive Board has, in each ndivia-
ual case, an enlittement to receive severance pay equal to the
full amount of the annual cash remuneration H the member of
the Executive Board has completed his of her 55th year when
the employment contract ends and has been on the Board for at
least five years, the severance pay increases to three limes the
full amount of the annual cash remuneration There 15 no right to
severance pay If the member of the Executive Board has been a
member for less than Lhree years, er if he or she has not yet com-
pleted his or her 52nd year or has already completed his of her
631d year when the employment contiact ends The total com-
pensatton comprising the cash remuneratron plus the severance
pay must not exceed an amount equivalent to five times the full
amount of the annual cash remuneration

When the coentracts of the Executive Board members, Dr Aldo
Belloni, Georg Denoke and ] Kent Masters, were renewed i the
2009 financial year, the recommendation set out in lem 4 2 3 of
the German Corporate Governance Code relating to severance
caps in the event of a change of control was implemented In
accordance with the Code, alf Executive Board contracis which
have been concluded or renewed in 2009 and contracts con-
cluded or renewed (n {uture provide, 1n the event of 3 mem-
ber retinng early from the Board due o a change of control, for
severance pay in the same amount as weuld have been pad in
respect of any other early reurement from the Board without
cause Mmoreover, the Executive Board member would receve
additional compensation equivalent 1o his or her annual cash
emoluments (lixed monthly emoluments, dividend-related bonus
and performance-related bonus) The additional compensation
would not be paid if the member of the Executive Board had
been a member for less than three years or tf he or she had not
yet compieted his or her 52nd year or had already completed his
or her 63rd year when the employment contract end

for both forms of contract {existing contracts and new con-
tracts), the same rule applies If the member of the Executive
Board receives benefits on the occasion ol or in cannection with
the acquisition by a majonty shareholder, a conirolling com-
pany or another legal enlity, these are taken into account when

the compensation and severance pay benefits aie calculated
The pension commitment 1s determined 1n accardance with the
rules for the early termiation of an employment contract with-
out cause

If the member of the Executive Board teaves the company’s
service as aresull of death or disability, he or she or his or her
heirs are entitled 1o the {ixed monthly emoluments for the menth
in which the employment contract ended, and for the six follow-
ing months Moreover, he or she or s or her heirs are entitled
to that propertion of the dividend-related bonus and the perfor-
mance-related bonus in respect of that part of the year in which
the member of the Executive Board was active

Loans 2nd advances
During the financial year, no loans or advances were made to
members of the Executive Board

Total emeluments of former members of the Executive Board
Former members of the Execulive Board and their surviving
dependants received total emoluments of EUR 2,667,115 in the
2009 financial year (2008 EUR 2,604,480}

A provision of EUR 35,054,097 (2008 EUR 32,942,066) has
been made in the Group financial statements for cureent pensions
and future pension benefits in respect of foimer members of the
Executive Board and therr surviving dependants In the financial
statements of Linde AG, a provision of EUR 36,836,129 (2008
EUR 37,716,446) was made The differences 1n the amaunts in
each set of financial statements are the result of the different
parameters used in the calculations in the Group finanwial state-
ments and the annual financial statements

2 Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board was determined at the
Annual General Meeting based on a proposal from the Executive
Board and Supervisory Board and is governed by Article 11 of the
articles of association

The emoluments comprise two components, a fixed compo-
nent and 3 vanable one which 1s dependent on the company’s
performance Part of the vanable component depends on the
dividend Anather part is linked to the return on capital employed
(ROCE) fof The tinde Group in the relevant {inancial year

Fixed emoluments

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives annual fixed
emoluments of TUR 50,000, which are pawd at the end of the
financial year
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variable emoluments
The first part of the vanable remuneration for each member of
the Superwisory Board 1s EUR 300 for each EUR 0 01 by which the
dividend declared al the Annual General Meeting exceeds a divi-
dend of EUR 0 50 per share with {ull dividend entitlement distrib-
uted to the shareholders The second part of the vanable remu-
neration 1s EUR 450 for each 0 1 percent by which the return on
capital employed (ROCE) of The Linde Group exceeds the rate of
7 percent in the relevant linancial year ROCE 15 determined on
the basis of the mformation in the relevant audited Group finan-
cial statements in accordance with IFRS and the articles of asso-
ciation n 2009, ROCE calculated n this way was 10 4 percent
(2008 12 4 percent}

The variable remuneration is paid on the day after the Annual
General Meeting which determines the appropnation of profits

Emcluments of the Chairmen, Deputy Chairmen and commit-
tee members

The Chairman of the Supervisery Boatd receives theee times the
fixed and variable emoluments, while each Deputy Chairman and
each member of the standing commuitee receives one and a half
umes the amount The Chairman of the audit committee receives
an additional EUR 40,000 and every other member of the audit
commitiee receives EUR 20,000 However, if a member of the
Supervisory Boarg holds several offices at the same time which
pay a ingher level of 1emuneration, he o1 she only 1eceves the
remuneration for the office which 15 the most ghly paid

Attendance fees

The company pays members of the Supervisory 8oard an atten-
dance fee of EUR 500 every Lime they attend a Supeivisory Board
meeting of commillee meeling Tiis amount remains unchanged
if several meetings 1ake place on the same day

VAT and reimbursement of expenses
Linde AG reimburses the members of the Supervisery Board for any
necessary expenses incurred and for VAT on therr emeluments

Emoluments of the Supervisory Board for 2009
Based on a dividend of EUR 1 80 {2008 EUR 1 B0} per share enti-
lied to dividend and ROCE 1n The Linde Group of 10 4 percent
{2008 12 4 percent), the total emoluments of the Supervisory
Board (fixed emoluments, vanable emoluments and attendance
fees) amounted to EUR 1,739,800 (2008 EUR 2,088,603) plus VAT
of EUR 330,562 {2008 EUR 396,835) Of the total emoluments,
EUR 840,000 {2008 EUR 932,527) refated Lo fixed emoluments
and EUR 868,800 (2008 EUR 1,119,076} Lo vanable emoluments
The total expenditure on attendance fees was EUR 31,000 {2008
EUR 37,000)

The individual members of the Supervisory Board received
the amounts listed in the following table

075

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

-
*3
[=]
o
w
3
—
z
bl
=
d
<]
-
=
=L
=

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANLCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

FURTHER INFORMAT!ON



026  Linde AG Financial Statements 2005
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Remuneration reporl

Fixed vanable  Emoluments for  Attendance fees Total
- emafuments emoluments sitting on emoluments!
g audit
= mne Commitee
=
5 Dr Manired Schneider 2009 150,000 162,900 4,000 316,500
b~ {Chairman) 2008 15G,000 189,900 3,500 343,400
Hars-Deter Katle 2009 75,000 81,450 4,000 160,450
—_ (Deputy Chanman) 2008 75,000 94,950 3,500 173,450
- Michael Diekmann 2009 75,000 81,450 2,000 158,450
g (Second Deputy Chairman) 2008 75,000 94,950 2,000 171,850
z Dr Gerhard Benen 2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300
§ 2008 50,000 63,300 2,000 115,300
E Or Clemens Borsig 2009 50,000 54,300 40,000 4,000 148,300
- 2008 50,000 63,300 23,1692 3,000 139,469
Gernot Hah! 2009 75,000 81,450 4,000 160,450
_ 2008 75,000 4,950 3,000 172,950
E Thilo Ksmmerer 2009 50,000 54,300 1,500 105,800
z 2008 50,000 63,300 2,000 115,300
.:; Matthew Miau 2009 50,000 54,300 1,500 105,800
= (Irom 03 06 2008) 2008 28,962 36,665 1,000 66,627
E Klaus-Peter Muller 2009 75,000 81,450 2,000 158,450
2008 64,4813 81,633 3,000 149,114
Jens Riedel 2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300
= 2008 50,000 63,300 2,000 115,300
E Xaver Schmidt 2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300
E {from 08 0% 2008) 2008 15,710 19,889 1,000 36,599
2 Josef Schregle 2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300
3 2008 50,000 63,300 2,000 115,300
Total 2009 800,000 B6B,BO0 40,000 31,000 1,739,800
(%) 46 50 2 2 100
Total 20084 B83,948 1,119,076 48,579 37,000 2,088,603
(%) 42 54 2 2 100

1 Amounts excluding VAT

2 Audit committee (chairman) lsom 3 June 2008

3 Standing committee from 3 June 2008

4 These figures mclude total emoluments of Board members who retired :n 2008 Dr Baumann (EUR 66,922), Mr Full (EUR 73,973),
Ms Friehel (EUR 48,952), Mr Schuhbeck (EUR 48,982) Professor Dr Strube (EUR 48 982) Mr Woller (EUR 86 003)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Loans and advances
At 31 December 2009, there were no Yoans or advances to mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board
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Corporate organisation

tinde AG, which compnses the Linde Gas and Linde Engineenng
Divisions and the Corporate Centre, is the holding company and
management company of The Linde Group

Sales and order intake

In the 2009 financial year, Linde AG achieved sales of EUR 2 439bn,
9 0 percent below Lhe prior year hiqure of EUR 2 681bn In the
Linde Gas Division, sales fell by 9 6 percent from EUR 1 232bn to
EUR 1 114bn The main reason for this was the adverse economic
environment in Germany in 2009 compared with the previous
year Gross domestic product declined by 4 8 percent and Indus-
trial production by 15 5 percent In the Linde Engineening Division,
sales fell by 10 1 percent to EUR 1 351bn (2008 EUR 1 502bn)
The main reason for the dechine 1s related 1o bitling 1n 2009, fewer
and smaller projects were completed and billed for the final stage
Dunng the financial year 2009, revenue was recognised in par-
ticular 1n respect of contracts in Saudi Arabia, Romania and Hun-
gary

43 percent of the sales of Linde AG were to customers In Ger-
many Exporlts accounled for 57 percent of sales, with 35 percent
(2008 35 percent) relating Lo Europe, 57 percent {2008 53 pei-
cent) relating to the Asia/Pacific region and 8 percent (2008
7 percent) to the Amencas In Africa in 2009, Linde AG achieved
virtually no sales (2008 S percent) Most of the export business
relates to Linde Engineering Asthe international plant construc
tion business 1s project bustness, there are always fluctuations in
the reqional figures year by year

Order intake in the Engineering Division was EUR 809m,
St percent befow the prior year figure of EUR 1653bn The
main reasons for this are the effects of the economic cnsis
and the reluctance of our customers to make capilal expen-
diture decisians The Engineenng business has also become
more international during the hinancial year Many contracis
are being executed by our subsidiaries The order backlog
reached EUR 4 688bn, 12 percent below the figure for 2008 of
EUR 5 323bn The average duraion of a contract is around three
years
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Results of operations

In 2009, the focus was both on dealing with the effecis of the
economic ¢nsis and on the acceieraled and rngorous implemen-
tation of our HPO programme HPO (High Performance Organisa
tion} Is our integrated approach to process optimisation and effi
clency improvement

Despite a 90 percent decline 1n sales 1n the 2009 financiat
year, we were able to increase our gross margen from 26 3 per-
cent to 28 6 percent One of the main reasons for this was the
successful results of our HPQ programme tn 2009 The other main
reason was that earnings in 2009 were only shahtly adversely
affected by the recognition of major projecis in the Linde
Engineenng Division at the lower of cost or market

Functional cosis were 3 5 pescent lower tn 2009 than in 2008,
mainly due to changes in 2008 in the way i which costs are
recharged within the Group Research and development costs,
s parlicular, are borne by Linde AG Al the same time, Linde AG
entered ino licence agreements wih its subsidiaries The licence
income s included In sales

The sigmficant deciease in other operaling income and 1n
other operating expenses 1s almost solely due to exchange gains
and losses it 1s prinaipaltly the result of the reduction 1 foreign
currency receivables and hiabilities 1n 200% and of hedging trans-
actions The high volume 1s the result of the financing function
Linde AG assumes for the whole Group

Operating protit in 2009 was EUR 76 m, which was 191 per-
cent below the figure for 2008 of EUR 94m

The other Hinanctal resull was a loss of EUR 117 m (2008 loss
of EUR 165m} The improvement was mainly due to lower inter-
est rates The other financial result was adversely affected by
impatrment losses of EUR 49 m relating to financial assets These
impairment losses relate in particular to savestments i East-
ern Europe and are mainly the fesult of a sustained weaken-
ing of the currencies compared with the euro in these caun-
tries Investment income rose from EUR 286 m to EUR 375m as
a result of increased income from dividends and profit-shanng
agleements

tn 2008, non-recurnng ilems of EUR 107 m were recagmsed
These were the result of post-acquisition group restructuring
which began i the 2007 financial year (n 2008, tinde AG alsa
sold its valve production facility, MAPAG Valves GmbH, Lo the
international lechnology group Metso in Finland [n the course of
2009, the post-acquistion restructunng continued, without how-
ever affecling the earnings of Linde AG

profit before taxes on income rose from EUR 215m o
EUR 334m

The net income for the 2009 finanuial year of EUR 305m was
around the same as the prior-year figure of EUR 304 m

Results of operations (summary)

in € milhgn 2009 2008
Sates 2,439 2,681
Cost of sales 1,741 1,978
Gross profit on sales 698 703
Functional costs 792 821
Other income 399 788
Dther expenses 229 576
Operating prohit 76 94
Investment income 375 286
Other financial result -117 -165
Profit before taxes on income 334 215
Taxes on Income 29 18
Non recurring ftems

Profit an dispasal of investments - 197
Net income 305 304
Retaired profit brought forward 582 582
Unappropriated profit 887 886
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Net assets and financial position

Total assets fell in 2009 by EUR 216 m 1o EUR 14 232bn

Fixed assels increased by EUR 149 m to EUR 13 381bn The
percentage of tolal assets comprised by fixed assets was 94 per-
cent (2008 92 percent) The main component of fixed assets 1s
financial assets, due to the lunction of Linde AG as the hold-
ing company of The Linde Group Financial assels In particy-
lar increased duning the reporting period by EUR 168 m, as the
nvestment 1n Linde Gas Hungary was sold within the Group 1o
Linde AG and Lhere was also a capital Increase 1n our subsidiary
Linde Holdings Nelherlands B ¥ impairment losses of EUR 49m
on the other hand reduced the figure {or financial assets in the
reporiing penod

Receivables and other assels fell from EUR 714 m to EUR 520m
The mamn contributory factor here was the decline in trade
accounts recetvable, both from third parttes and from affiliated
companmes

Total equity (before the appropriation of profit} increased by
EUR 21 m o EUR 7 682bn as a result of net income and the exer-
ase of share oplions The equity ratio, based on total assets,
rose from 53 percent Lo 54 percent Total provisions amounied lo
EUR 1 688bn, EUR 45m higher than in the prior year

Liabiliies decreased by EUR 282m 1o EUR 4 862bn The main
reasons fof this were the lower figure for advance payments
recerved from cusiomers and the lower figure for trade accounts
payable as a result of the teduchion in the veiume of business

Liqud assets fell by EUR 177 m to EUR 320m

Net financial debt (financial habiltties less financial receiv-
ables less liquid assets) increased by EUR 339 min the reporting
penod from £UR 2 977bn to EUR 3 316bn The main reasons for
this were the lower figure for advance payments recetved from
customers 1n 2009 than in 2008 and 1he intra-Group purchase of
the investment in Linde Gas Hungary by Linde AG

Balance sheel structure as a percentage of total assets

200% 2008

in € mithen in percent in € million in percent
Assets
Financial assets 12,572 9 12,804 89
Other fixed assels 409 3 428 3
Receivables and other assets 520 4 74 5
Liquid assels 320 2 497 3
Other assels 1 - 5 -
Total assets 14,232 100 14,448 100
Equity 2nd liabiiities
Equity 7,682 54 7,661 53
Provisions for penslons 304 [ 792 5
Other provisions 884 6 851 6
Liabilities 4,862 34 5,144 36
Total equity and liabilties 14,232 100 14,448 100
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Research and development

In the 2009 financial year, we invested a total of EUR 128 m (2008
EUR 143 m} in research and development Iln 2008, there were
changes in the way costs were recharged within the Group As a
result of these changes, Linde Group subsidiaries now have con-
tractual research and development agreements with Linde AG
and recharge research and development costs incurred locally to
Linde AG

inthe Linde Gas Division, we sper EUR 109 m (2008 EUR 120m)
The focus here was on the development of new gases applica-
tions

In the Linde Engineering Division, we spent EUR 19m in 2009
compared with EUR 23 m in 2008 on Innovations and the devel-
opment of technologies for all the main types of plant, especially
for hydrogen, olefin and natural gas plants

At 31 December 2009, 171 employees were working in re-
search and development (2008 172) Of these, 94 (2008 96)
employees were 1n the Linde Gas Division and 77 {2008 76) In
the Linde Engineening Division

Financing and measures to
safequard hquidity

hnancang pninciples and objectives

The aim of external financing and measuses to safeguard liqusdity
Is 1o ensure that the Group has adequate fiquidity at alt times The
crisis 1n the international capital markets has made 11 clear how
impartant 1t 1s for a company 1o procure sufficient hguidity

our external financial headroom 1s maintained primariy by
the capital markets and a major international banking group
Within the Group, the ponciple of internal financing applies | ¢
the financing requirements of subsidiaries are covered wherever
possible by intra-Group loans In accordance with this quiding
prnciple, the subsidianies were again financed in 2009 mamly
by our Dutch finance company, Linde Finance B V, and Linde AG
Centralised financing makes 1t possible for Group compantes to
a(l as a single customer an the capital markets and strength-
ens gur negotiating posiion with the banks and other market
participants

The Group companies are financed either by the cash sur
pluses of other business umts in cash pools (Germany, the UK,
France, haly, Switzerland, Scandinavia and the Baltic states, the
united States, the Benelux countnes, Austraha, China and other
Asian countnies), or by Group loans from Linde Finance B V of
Linde AG Occasionally, Group Treasury also negotiates credit
fatilities with local banks, to take account of particular legal,
fiscal or other crcumstances Lecal finanaing occurs mainly for
small amounis or specific projects

Syndicated credit

The ongtnal syndicated credil facility (term loan) of GBP 8 9bn
taken out {o refinance the BOC acquisition has now been reduced
1o around EUR 0 Sbn (2008 EUR 0 9bn) The amount was drawn
upon the syndicated loan commitment through Linde Finance 8 v
In prior years, these funds were transferred by Linde Finance
B V tolinde AG as an ntra-Greup loan In 2009, the full amount
of the syndicated credit outstanding was directly transferred to
the substdiares of The Linde Group The EUR 2bn revelver facil-
iy, also syndicated, 1s currently unulilsed and also serves as
back-up for our EUR 1bn Commercial Paper Programme Both
faailities are available until 2011

Forward start credit facility

In order to inciease the flexibility of our finanaing still further, 1
June 2009 we agreed a new EUR 1 6 bn two-year revolver credit
line This forward start credit line will be avadlable from 2011 and
will succeed the Group®s existing revolver credit faciity, which
expires on 3 March 2011 The transaction was arranged by Linde
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itself and forms part of a club deal More than 20 major German
and international banks used by Linde were involved in the trans-
ackion

with this new credit ine, Linde has ensured that it has a selid
general hquidity reserve with the banks

Capilal market activities
In 2009, we also made successful use of the capttal markets via
our subsidiary Linde B V to improve the matunty profile of our
financial debt, thereby ensunng the long-term financing of our
Group

Under the EUR 10 bn Debt Issvance Programme, issues totaliing
EUR 3 9bn in vanous cunrencies were oulstanding at 31 Decem-
ber 2009 (31 December 2008 EUR 3 5bn} In the cousse of the
2009 financial year, we placed new bonds totalling EUR 327 m
and USD 400m in the markel via Linde Finance 8 V

n November 2009, Linde 1ssued a S-year Eurodollar bond
for USD 400m with a coupon rate of 3 625 peicent The 1ssue
was used 1o refinance part of the syndicated credit n US dollars
in arder to optimise the maturity profde stilf further The 1ssue,
which met with a positive respanse, was Linde’s first venture

into the Eurodollar market and was a seamless continuation of
the Group's successful financing strategy of relying on a broad
base of financing sowrces and tools The bond was 1ssued under
the Debt lssuance Programme by Linde Finance B V and 1s hsted
on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange

Rating

Since 1999, the creditworthiness of The Linde Group has been
rated by the leading international rating agencies mMoody’s und
Standard & Poor’s The rating is an essentral reguirement for a suc-
cessful and sustainable presence in the capital market Even after
the BOC acquistiion, our stated objective 1s an “investment grade”
rating Only s1x months after the BOC acquisition, in spring 2007,
the rating agencies both increased Linde’s rating by one notch
io BBB and Baal respectively In Apnil 2008, Standard & Poor's
ncreased ks rating still further to BBB+ At the same time, the
rating of the suberdinated bonds was raised to Baa3/BB8~,
which brought them up to the investment grade rating In Aprit
2009, Standard & Poor’s improved its outiook for the long-term
rating from stable 1o positive

Rating 2009

Rating agences long-term rating outfook Shott-term rating
Moody's Baat Stable P2
Standard & Poor’s BBB+ Pasitive A2
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Corporate responsibility (CR)

In the 2009 financial year, our continued commuitment in the core
areas of our corporate responsibility remained a malter of great
impartance ta us The progress we have made i our five focus
areas (Employees, Environment, Corporate Crizenship, Ethics and
Complhiance and Socially Responsible Investments (SRI)) was sum-
mansed and published in November 2009 1n a Corporate Respon-
sibility Report, as 1n past years

Qur aciivities here concentrated above all on improvement
measures in the area of environmental and chimate pretection in
our own praduction facilities and on the diverse applicatigns of
our gases and technologres, which present our customers with
an environmentally friendly alternative to existing processes We
also focused on our global largeted personal development pro-
arammes During the financial yeae, for example, we devised and
implemented tratning modules for the various target groups of
employees in the Group The 2009 CR Report also Includes our
current non-financial data, compnsing key employee data and
key HSE (Health, Safety, Environment) data The report was pub
lished for the first ume on the Internet with an accompanying
brochure at www linde com

Guidelines and (R Council

The corporate responstbility policy 1s one of the guidelines on
which we base our actions In the policy, we commut ourselves {o
acting responsibly towards our stakehoiders, which might include
our shareholders, our business partners, our employees and the
community, and to developing sustainable technologies and pro-
lecting natural resources

A mgh-level committee, the CR Council, sets targets every
year on this basis, which are summansed in the CR road-map and
gradually implemented

The members of the CR Council are Professor Dr Wolfgang
Rewtzle, Chief Executive Officer of Linde AG and Dy Aldo Bellopl,
a member of the Executive Board, together with the managers
with global responsibality for Corperate Communications & inves-
Lo Relalions, Human Resources, Internal Audit, Legal and SHEQ!
In the 2009 financial year, the commiitee mel on 30 September
w0 Munch

CR road-map 2009/2010

In the 2009 financial year, we achieved our target and recerved
an assurance report from KPMG Sustainability for selected HSE
data We also succeeded in improving the quality of our record
ing processes for non-financial key data It showld also be empha
sised that the measurement of Linde shares in e with Socially

1 safety, Health, Environment Qualiy

Responsible Investment (SRI) critena has continued to improve
They were inciuded, for example, In 2009 in the Ethibel Sustain
abibity Index (£S1} Eurape To select shates for the indey, a pro-
cess Is adopled which analyses and values the company on the
basis of criteria which are given equal weight - internal social
policy, environmental policy, external business policy and ethi-
cal economic policy

The assel management company Sustzimnable Asset Manage-
ment (SAM), which specialises solely in sustainable investments,
publishes and hcenses the internationaliy recognised Dow Jones
Sustamability Indexes (D)S1} and assesses the sustamnabtlity per-
formance of the world's 2,500 largest companies Linde received
awards 1n 2005 from SAM in two different categories al the same
time in a global companson with the other companies in s sec
tof, Linde had made the greatest progress in the area of corpo-
rate responsibility (Sectar Mover of the Year) and it was alsc
included for the first time as one of the Sustamabihty Leaders
{SAM Brome Class)

The dialogue with our customers about corporate responsibil
ity has also intensified in the past year

In the current financial year 2010, we will seek

= 1o wvolve independent third parties agatn in the venfication
of selected non-financial data and

= to ol out an Environmental Innovation Performance Indicator
across the whole Group

Key themes

we identify the key CR themes at vanous levels (global, regional,
local}, which enables us to match the ecological and soqia! chal-
lenges for our core business with the requirements of our stake-
holders The themes 1dentified are designated as high, middle or
low priofity

In the Safety, Health, Environment und Quality (SHEQ} action
area, for example, we have identifted environmental and cli-
mate protection, as well as health protection for our employ-
ees, as themes of above-average inportance for sustainable and
responsible corporate management

In the Employees action area, this applies not only to build-
Ing commitment to the Group and fostering talent, but also to the
theme of demographic trends

Inthe 200% (R report, we will report in detall on other themes
relating to all ive CR action areas and on the various measures
taken and targets set The Corporate Governance Report {see
pages 013 10 017) sets out our approach in the past financial
year In the Ethics and Compliance action area
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Salety, Health, Environment, Quahty (SHEQ)

For all our stakehalders, but especially for our employees and cus-
tomers, extensive and effective management in the four areas
included under the designation SHEQ (Safety, Health, Environ
ment and Quality) ts of great importance Qur aim 15 o improve
the qua'ity of our preducts and services constantly, while al the
same Lme masntaining high standards of safety, heafth and envi-
ronmental protection

HSE management
The miegrated HSE management systems at Group level are the
relevant tools for the management of HSE (Health, Safety and
Environment) i Group compantes in Germany They compase
internal SHEQ guidelines and include detailed descrptions of the
processes to which they apply

Between November 2008 and January 2009, the SHEQ central
function also conducted a Group-wide qualitative assessment on
the topic of health proteclion A total of around £0 business units
In Linde (Gases Division companies, the Engineering Division and
the Electronics Business Area) answered 60 or so questions The
evaluation of the answers revealed that the strengths and weak-
nesses of health management vary tn Linde according to region
and that there are already many excellent programmes at a local
level A stiength highlighted in Germany, for example, was emer-
gency medicine The aim in the current linancial year 1s to estab-
hsh a mandatory mimmum standard for health management and
to promote the exchange of best practice in the Group

Quality management
In the Gases Division, the consistently high quality of our gases is
exceptionally important

As a result, over 65 peicent of all the sites in this division
have been certified in accordance with the international quality
management standard DIN EN 1SO 9007, 1ncluding the Linde Gas
Diviston in Germany

In the Engineening Division, quality management 1s integrated
into the core processes i accordance with Internationally rec:
ognised standards from the tendering process to the executien
of the contract and the provision of cuslomer services Qualily
management and HSE management are (aterlinked ang for a sin-
gle project might comprise setting quality and HSE targets, mon-
itoring customer satisfaction and conducting internal audits The
Engineefing Division, like the Gases Division, secures its quality
management by obtaining external certification

Climate protection
fn its qindelines (corporate responsibihity pohicy, SHEQ pehicy),
Linde expressly commits to protecting the environment, offerning

sale, environmentally friendly products and services, and devel-
oping technologies, products and services which are particularly
ecologically sustainable We ourselves have undertaken to mea-
sure and evaluale those of our own processes which are relevant
ta the envirenment and the climate on & regular basis and 10 pub-
lish the results

In the Gases Division, particularly relevant in chimate protec
tion are auw separation units and HyCO plants, the main prod-
ucis of which are hydrogen and carbon monoxide Cur great-
est chalienges here are lowenng energy consumplion and using
energy effiaiently, as well as the associated reduction in green-
house gas emissions, because the production of imdustrial gases
Is energy-intensive When our gases are transported by truck,
whether they be liquefied gases transported m tankers or cyl-
inder gases lransported in cylinders, we take care to optimise
routes so 3s to reduce fuel consumption and therefore emis-
sions Across all industry sectors, there are gases applications
which can make the pracesses mote environmenially friendly
and chmate-friendly, whether by substiiuting matertals, improv
Ing the efftciency of combustion processes, or reducing emis-
sions or waste Chmale protection 1s integrated tnte the main
processes of our Engineering Division and comes particularly into
foces 8t the tendenng stage and in the planming phase of the
plant Should process technalogies be avallable that are proven
to be more environmentally frendly than those specified 1in
the customer’s tender or than required by law, our Engineering
Division points oul the advantages of these solutions to our cus-
tomers and demonstrates how they can be integrated inta the
customer’s project

Research and development are exceptionally imporiant for
our plant construction business and this also applies to chmate
protecuon Since 2009, we have been measuning the levels of
Innovation in our Engineering Division from an ecological per-
spective using the Innovation Performance Indicator, which will
also be introduced in the Gases Division in the course of 2010
More details about our gases applications and climate protection
technologies can be found at www hinde com/cr

Employees

Quahfred and motivated employees are an imporiant prerequisite
for the sustainable success of our Group As we afe i compelr-
lion wikh other companies, we pursue an Integrated Group-wide
personnel strategy which 1s designed to support our employees
and encourage therr commitment The continuing professional
development of our employees, based on the requirements of
the Group, 15 a key element of our persennel management at all
our locations The Group-wide Human Resources {HR) function 15
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responsible for adwising and supporting ail the business units on
these personnelssues Our persennel development programmes,
which we bning together under the heading “People Excellence”
and which we expanded n 2009, are an example of this We
were also able virtually 1o complete the introduction of & Group-
wide personnel data management system A web-based platform
which ensures a high level of dala security now makes 1t possible
to retrieve Key Performance Indicatars (KPis), which are based on
standard definitions, without any ime-fag

We have also begun to take account of the global demo-
graphic shift, 1 e a rapidly ageing populatien in industnial coun-
tries on the one hand and hugh rates of population growth in the
emerging economtes and newly industrialised countries on the
other, as a faclor in ows future personnel management

People Excellence

The range of jobs within our Group makes 1t necessary for us
te devise our personnel development programmes on a modu-
lar basis and in a way that 1s as much directed towards target
aroups as passible These programmes are charactensed by prac-
tically relevant learning and therefore offer the best preparation
for the continuing professional development of our employees in
both specialist/technical and personal spheres An example of
this Is the development of future managers by tutors who have
been tramed nternally and are themselves engineers, scien-
tists or techmicians Our line manager development progiamme 15
aimed at fust-tier and second-lier managers, who have the great-
est disect responsibility for employees at Linde Gne of the core
competences being taught 1s effective leadership and the inclu-
sion of employees so as 10 achieve funther improvements in ther
own productivity and enhance thew commitment

Linde University
Under the auspices of Linde Untversity, we have created an inter-
national training and development programme focusing on lead-
ership and business management as welt as on continuing pro-
fessional development

The education plan of Linde University comprnises both teach-
Ing with students present and onhine interactive learning pro-
grammes, as well as project work In order to integrate the most
recent scientific knowledge and management theories inlo the
learning process, we cooperate at an international level with
leading universiltes At the same time, we also involve tap man-
agement 1n our training and contimuing professional develop-
ment programmes, to ensure that they have practical relevance
talosed 1o the needs of the Group

tifelong learning
In Germany, as in other industrialised countries, the number of
qualified personnel 1s alieady dechning, even though they are

urgently needed The reason for this 15 lower numbers in younger
year-groups

In particudar, there 1s an acute shortage of engineers The
recrutment of highly-quatified engineers 1s, however, a vital
component for sustainable success in a techmcally-onented
Group such as Linde To improve this situation acrass the vanous
levels of education, we rely on vangus measures

We encourage an iterest in science, for example, by spon-
soring various schools in Germany, and beyoend the German bor-
ders we are an active pariner in the fields of higher education
and research

One example of the way 10 which we support the learning of
older employees as well s the “WeGebau” programme (a training
scheme for older employees working i the company who have
few qualifications) We are initially implementing this scheme
orly in Germany, in collaboration with the Bifdungswerk der
Bayerischen winischaft

Employee representation

The cocperation between our Group and 1s employees, employee
representatives and trade unions is charactensed by a fair balance
between the econemic interests of the Group and the Interests
of our workforce worldwide In 2009, 76 7 percent of Linde AG
employees were employed under colleclive agreements (2008
80 2 percent) In Germany, the Works Constitution Act (BetrVG)
governs cooperation between company management and
employee representatives Employee representation in The Linde
Group 1s two-liered, compnising decentralised works councils In
the indrvidual units and a central works counail for the Gioup
as a whole 1n addition to this two-tiered co-determination sys
tem, Linde has also had a Furopean works council for a number of
years This provides the opportunily for employee representatives
to share nlormation across national boundaries

Company pension schemes in Germany
In Germany, Linde finances occupational pension schemes i the
form of defined benefit plans by means of a direct commmitment

The pension provision for employees comprises two main ele
ments employer-financed proviston and (employee-financed)
provision where employees convert portions of their salary into
pension contributions

The employer-financed provision is for the most part in the
form of a contnbutton-based benefit system

The voluntary partsiipation of the employees 1n the salary
conversion scheme n the Linde Penston Plan ts encouraged by
binde, which makes a matching contnibution, 1 e »f an employee
participates in the salary conversion scheme, the benefit in the
year of participation ncreases by up to 20 percent

The Linde Pension Plan and some of the employer-financed
plans are externally funded via a contractual trust arrangement
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(C1A} Anmportant aspect of this contraciual trust arrangement
15 that, as well as the statutory insolvency insurance which
applies to penston commitments, company pensions have addi-
tional legal protection from Pensions-Sicherungs-verein aG
{PSVaG)

Linde provides employer-financed contributions for 6,254
employees in Germany (5,501 1n Linde AG}, while 1,605 for-
mer employees (1,450 in Linde AG) have acquired a non-for-
feitable entitlement to a company pension (deferred members)
and 9,177 pensioners (8,285 tn Linde AG) are drawing a com-
pany pension from Linde Arcund 3,067 employees are currently
participating in the Linde Pension Plan (2,445 in Linde AG), 164
former employees have acquired a non-forfeitable entitlement
to a company pension (125 in Linde AG) and 22 pensioners are
already drawing their pension (19 in Linde AG)

Thank you to our employees

The Executive Board would like 1o thank all Linde employees for
their high level of dedication and hard work 1n the past financial
year Our staff have made tremendous efiorts across the globe
which have coninibuted to the steady performance of our Group

Key data

The Group-wide collection and repoiting of non-linancial data
constitute an imporiant tool for us, enabling us to evaluate the
ecological and social impact of our entrepreneunal activity, assess
our progress and plan our next steps Our objective 15 1o make
continual improvements in our efforts Lo run our business in a sus-
tanable and responsible manner The regular pubitcation of our
key data also enables our stakeholders to examine and evaluate
the performance of The Linde Group

we pubhsh here the principal employee data for Linde AG

In the 2009 financial year, we expanded the section entitled
“facts and Figures™ on our website at www linde com/cr and,
where relevant, we disclose the key data for the Group by divi-
sion gver several years for employees, health, safety and the
environment So that the figures can be evaluated more easily,
we give detailed information about our data management and
about the definitions underlying the key data

More detaled mformation about ocur employees, envisonmen-
1al protection, safety and corporate ctizenship can be found in our
online Corporate Responsibility Report 2009 at www linde com/cr
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Employees in Linde AG

2009 2008
Employees by division (as at the balance sheet date)
Linde Gas division 2,621 2,745
Linde Engineesing division 2,739 2,817
Corporate Centre 248 247
Linde AG 5,608 5,809
Structure of the workforce
Proportion of part-me employees in % 39 40
Proportion of fixed-term employees in % 29 78
Proportion of staff covered by collectrve wage agreements in % 767 802
Proportian of apprentices In total workforce in % 40 39
Number of apprentices and trainees 227 225
Employee retentfon
Staff turnover rate ¥ 1n % 09 13
Diversity
Proportion of women in % 220 216
Age structure of permanent siafl in %
Staff under 30 years old 143 154
Staff between 31 and 50 years old 583 577
Staff over 50 years old 274 269
Employee training
Average number of training days per empioyee 08 28
Average expenditure on raining programmes per employee in € 204 470

! The staff turnoves rate relates to employees who have telt the Company voluntanly duning the finantal year
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Risk report

The lollowsng report applies to both the parent company Linde AG
and to The Linde Group The holding company Linde AG 15 of cru-
cial importance tn our management of nsks and opportunities

Risk management

Risk policy
The Linde Group, a technology company with global operations,
15 exposed to a great variety of nsks i the course of 1ls interna-
tronal business It 1s our withngness to take entrepreneunal risks
that enables us to explort opportumities as they anse We there-
fore intentionally take nisks, as long as they are reasonable and
can be managed and controlled, and bear such nisks If they are
expected to create value added for the Group

For us, nsk management 15 & syslematic approach which
involves recording and evaluating risks, then managing the
response to any nisks dentilied We therefore see nsk manage-
menl as an ongoing Groug-wide task which 1s an tntegral part
of ali decisions and business processes in The Linde Group Risk
management aims to make It more certain that growth and earn-
Ings targets and strateqic objectives are met

The Linde AG Executive Board has established a comprehen-
sive, systematic and efficient Enterpnse Risk Management (ERM}
system, the basic prinaiples of which are laid down in Group
guidelines We have tailored this system 1o suil our corporate
structure 1tis a vital component of the Group management pro-
cess

The key elements of our Enterprise Risk Management system
are the nsk management system and the internal control system,
which are interrelated

The risk management system focuses on the dentification
and handling of nisks It has always sought to address not anly
those risks that might affect the viability of The Linde Group as
a going concern, as required by the German Law on Control and
Transparency in Business (KonTraG), but atso all material risks
for The Linde Group

The aim of the internal control system 15 to prevent the occur-
rence of risks in our operations by adopting appropniate controls
and processes, especially in the areas of conformity with the
law, compliance with our strategy, the quality of our account-
ng and reporuing, the quality of our processes and the protec-
tion of assets We do not hmit ourselves to nisks that might have
a direcl impact on the nel assets, finanaial position or results
of operations of The Linde Group, but also examine risks which
might have only an indirect impact on key financial figures, such
as nsks to our reputation The nternal control system comprises
all controls and processes which are incorporated ino our busi-
ness operations so as to moniior those risks which have been
identified

Organisalion, responsibihities and nsk management tools
We distinguish between nsks which relate to the entire Group
{Group nsks) and asks ansing from the aclivities of the operat-
ing business umts {business nsks) Group 1isks are identified by
members of Lhe Executive Board and managed by those person-
nel to whom the responsibility for those nisks has been allocated
Business risks are managed by the operational executives in the
divisions

Those with responsibility for the nisks in the operating seg-
menis of the divisions are tasked with the systematic handling of
business risks They identify, analyse, manage and monior the
risks in their respective areas on a continual basis, while the next
tier of management is responsible for controlling those risks

To ensure that standard procedures are applied to the iden-
tfication and evaluation of business nisks in the operating seg-
ments, the central risk management department provides those
responsible with the nisk management tools and methods they
require It also coordinates the Group-wide recarding of all sig-
nificant risks for The uinde Group and continues to develop the
tools and methods required to identify and evaluate rnisks

The heads of the Global Support Functions are responsi-
ble far establishing processes and control systems 1n therr own
areas 1o ensure compliance with legal requirements and inter-
nal guidelines The latter in particular are requlaly reviewed for
best practice both within and outside the Group The Global Sup-
port Functions reqularly conduct risk reviews to harmonise their
risk management activities, adapting them to any changes in
the nsk situation tn this context, the principal internal conltrols
{key controls) are recorded and documented centrally Guide-
lines 1ssued centrally are an essential component of these key
controls Examples of these guidelines are

= Caputal expenditure guidelme The decision and allocation pro-
cess for capitel expendiiure 1s centralised in The Linde Group
Each large item of capital expenditure 1s approved by a cen-
trat investment committee and/or by the Executive Board of
Linde AG

= Treasury quideline OQur worldwide Treasury guideline essen-
ually addresses the financial nisks whch may be encountered
by a group with global operations, such as counterparty nisk,
hquidity nsk and risks ansing {rom changes In interest ates
and exchange rates Clear quidelines are set for our subsid-
1anes lo mmmise these nisks and actively manage them The
Treasury commiitee, which is chaired by the Chief Financial
Officer, receives a monthly report on these nsks

2 Purchasing guideline Our worldwide purchasing activities
require us 1o fuiftl complex requirements in terms of our busi-
ness conduct We accept the principles of free and fair com-
petition We therelore reject any iflegal business practices
when purchasing goods and services We have supplemented
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our employee code of conduct with 3 purchasing guideline
which applies equally to all Linde AG personnel In these rules,
Linde AG sets out prinaples relating 1o business conduct and
the avoidance of conflicts of interest

In addition to implementing the central standards retersed to
above, each local unit 1s responsible for adapting the internal
control system o local needs, especially in addressing business
risks, and for its functionality A review of the internal control sys-
tem 15 performed al regular inlervals by local units and by the
Global Support Functions, based on self-assessment The self-
assessment involves companies and the Global Support Functions
documenting, for example, whether the processes tn the individ-
uyal functional areas accord with the rules and comply wath safety
iequirements, or whether key controls have been rmplemented
and whether they are effective Internal Audit 15 responsible for
the coordination and evaluation of this process

Accounting-related internal control system
The production of the Group financial statements 1s centrally
defined, monitored and implemented

Uniform accounting and reporting guidetines define the mn-
imum reguirements for local units and ensure comphiance with
legal regulations and the provisions of the articles of association

Accounting transactions are recorded by divisions of Linde AG

The internal control system proceduies, which are geared
lowards the proper preparation and reltability of Group account
ing records, ensure that business transactions are recorded on a
timely basis in accordance with legal requlations and the prowi-
sions of the articles of association and that the records of these
wransactions are complete They also ensure that inventones are
properly drawn up, and that assets and liabilities are appropri-
ately recognised, measured and disclosed The separation of
administration, implementation, execution and authonsation
functions reduces the chance of fraud

The accounting systems of the divisions are fully integrated
ERP systems which are tallored to the speafic requirements of an
mndustnal gases and plant constiuction company These systems
not only collecl data for the preparation of the annual finan-
cial statements n accordance with the provisions of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) and of the rules set out in the articles of
assocation, but also provide all the data for the Group manage-
ment accounts prepared on a monthly basis in accardance with
IFRS Supplementary information is added to the data recorded

in the divisions to form a reporting pack and the divistons submit
this on a siandard set of forms

This data provides the basis for the management of the entire
Group and 1s avariable lo the Financial Control department and to
other central departments The divistons are combined centrally
to create the annual finanaial statements of Linde AG o patlicy-
lar cases, for example the measurement of pension obligations,
external experts are used

The key contiols used to ensure the proper preparation and
iehability of the accounting records are

= mechanical controls, such as reasonableness checks of the fig-
ures and systems access controls based on the authorisation
concept, implementation of the Tour-eye concept, and

= manval controls, such as vartance and trend analyses based on
defined key figures and comparisons with budgel hgures The
reliabiity of the accounting procedures is also underpinned by
monthly review discussions at divisional level

Risk recognition, evaluation and management
At the very heart of all nsk management 15 a systematic, cychi-
cal risk management process, Involving a senes of steps from the
identification of a risk, 1o the analysis, evaluation and manage-
ment of the nisk, and finally to the monitonng of the measures
taken in reaction to the nsk Those with local responsibility for nsk
In the aperating units ensure that, ameng other things, the global
implementation of the nisk management process takes place

The management team of each umt analyses the main risks
affecting their unit Then the execulives it the varnious units cat-
egonse each risk they have identifred and evaluate it m terms
of 1s 10355 potential and the expecied piobabiity of its ocour-
rence All the upits in the Group use the same assessment ¢ri-
tena tssued by the central nsk management department When
evaluating the loss potential, we consider not only the impact on
earnings, but also the impact on non-menetary aspects such as
safety, service, reputation and strategy For each nsk, the bust-
ness units plan the next step of measures that can be taken to
manage the nsk, so that the nsk may be reduced 1o an accept-
able level The management of the risk comprises a selection or
tombination of measures to avoid risk, to transfer risk, to reduce
nisk and to control r1sk For each nisk, responsibility for the sk s
assumed by an individual appoinied by the management of the
Group business unit This person then monitors the risk and man-
ages the handling of the sk
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Risk workshops invalving the management teams of ihe operat-
Ing units are our key tool when identifying and evalvating r1sks
and delermining the measures to be taken 1o reduce those nisks
The Group business uaits record all the nsks identified in risk reg-
isters which are updated quarterly In the nsk registers, for each
nisk, the measures taken o reduce the nsk are documented and
an assessment 1s made of the probability of accurrence of the
risk and its loss potential in a clear, summansed form, so that
the decision-makers are given an overview of the nsk postion
in their unit We also have a simulation model which enables us
{o demonstrate the effects of vanous factors on business perfor-
mance In the course of our planning Changes in influencing fac-
1ors identified by our nsk management process are incorporated
into the model and allow us to demanstrate the effect of the nsks
on business performance We employ statistical metheds te deter-
mune the trends

Risk reporting
The reporting system is of particular importance when monitor-
ing and contiolling the nsks of current business operations It
ensures that the business performance of the individual compa
nies in the Group 1s portrayed and descnbed in accordance with
uniform guidelines

Under the nsk management system, the Group compames
adopt a bottom-up approach and report the status of any signif-
tcant nsks and any changes in those nsks, based on graduated
cut-off points for loss potential and probability of occurrence
In addition, any nsks which arise unexpectedly or which have
repercussians for the whole Group are communicated directiy to
the appropnate personnel in the Group, rrespechive of the nor-
mal reporting channels

Every quarter, the Executive Board 1s presented with stalus
reports from the central nsk management department which
are then discussed at an Executive Board meeting The status
reports include nol only 3 presentation of the sigmficant nisk
posttions tn the individual divisions and regions, but aiso quali-
1ative and quantitative assessments of the probability of occur-
tence and loss potential of any rsks wdentiied which might
pose & threa! to the Group companies and to the Group as a
whole Moreover, the operational members of the Executive
Board repart every six months on the nisk situation within theis
spheres of responsibiity The Executive Board presents a report
on the risk situation in the Group at the quarterly meeungs of
the audit commitiee

Audit
The internal audhi department performs reviews al reqular inder
vals of the efficiency and elfectiveness of the nisk management
system and the internal control system The external auditors also
assess the effectiveness of 1he early recognition system for nisks
and submit regular reports at a global level about the outcome
of their reviews to the Group Executive Board and Supervisory
Board

The annual inancial statements are audited by an external
auditing firm (KPMG AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgeseilschaft) The
divisions are also audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsge-
seflschaft As well as submitting an auditors’ report, the auds-
tors also report on any matters arising {rom the audit, such as
audit 1ssves

(n addition to the external auditoss, the internal audit depart-
ment s also involved In the testing of subsystems relevant 1o the
accounting such as the Treasury system and the bookkeeping
systems of the divisions

Contmuous iImprovement
Our sk management system Is continuously being improved In
the first quarter of 2009, we successfully completed the introduc-
tion of our sk management softwaie This enabled us to increase
yet again the efficiency and effectiveness of our forward-looking
risk management system

The relevant accounting-related internal controls are reviewed
and fine-uned on a regular basis to ensure an efficient and
effective process All the guidehnes which apply to local unis
and Global Support Functions are reviewed at least once a year
ta ensure that the processes are improved and amended

Risk areas

We set oul below the main nsk areas which might have an
adverse effect on our net assets, financial position and results
of operations, and for each nsk area we set out the sirategies
we have adopled te control those nisks In each nsk area, a large
number of individual nisks from different regions and business
areas are grouped together Moreover, each strategy 1n turn com-
prises a large numbes of spedific Individual measures and activi-
ties Therefore, no opimion 1s expressed as to the potential loss
or the probability of occurrence of the nisks 1n the individual nsk
areas
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Risks ansing from the economic environment
As 3 company with global operations, we are dependent on cycl-
cal trends In the world economy The dechne in demand seen
across the world In the 2009 financial year 85 a resull of the eco
nomic ensis represents a nsk for vs Uncertainuies about futyre
global economic development remain We may be faced with fur-
ther lost sales, a potential lack of new business or an Increase in
the nsk of bad debls in our operating business due to the increas-
ing inabiity ¢f our customers to make payments (counterparty
nsk) The high level of volatility in the financial markets wilt con-
tnue to make 1t difficult to make an accurate assessment of the
future net assets, finanoial position and results of operations of
The Linde Group

The Linde Group operales in many countrees and regions, sup-
plying almost all industry sectors This does not mean thai we
are able to prevent the worldwide decline in demand having 2
negative impact on our growth targets, but it does mean that we
are abie to reduce 1ts effecls This spread of risk also applies to
counterparty ask Moreaver, The Linde Group deals with caunter
parties who have good credit ratings Regular reviews are per-
formed of the creditworthiness of counterparties and very clear
hmits are set However, credit ratings have been changing very
rapidly stnce the onset of the economic crsis Despite our mon-
itoring procedures, our counterparties might delay therr pay-
ments of fal 1o pay at alf

Our focus on gases and plant construction, sectors which
sometimes benefit in terms of sales and earnings when there
1s @ deterioration 10 certamn economic conduions, 1s also a con-
tributory factor in {essentng the impact of economic cycles on
our Group

Moreover, the 2008 financial year had already seen the
launch of a number of cost-reduction and efliciency improve-
ment schemes, the fulf impact of which will become evident over
the next few years

The fact that markets are competitive means that we are
exposed to the nisk of losing market share and expenencing a
dechne in ous markel profile We counter this tsk by constantly
conducting analyses of cur market environment and compet-
itive situatzon We obtain vital information about our custom-
ers’ requirements by maintaining reqular contact with custom-
ers, which enables us to stay close 10 the markel We use the
tnformation we recewve to develop and supply products tailared
to suit the needs of the markel and 1o enhance our compelitive
position and increase our market profile

In {ts function as the parent company of The Linde Group,
tinde AG holds investments in Group companies The carry-
ing amounts of these invesiments are exposed to the nsk of
wnparrment 1f 1he economic situalion of these Group companies
changes for the worse in this case, it 1s posstble that there might
be a negalive impact on the unappropnated prolit of Linde AG

Risks 10 politicaily unstable countries

The Linde Group 15 a giobal group operaitng n around 100 coun-
tries Potenlial nsks we might encounter in different countnes
include the nationalisation or expropriation of assets, legal risks,
the prolibition of capital transiers, war and other unrest To man-
age these risks, we employ risk assessment lools to evaluate our
exposure 1o nisk and the impact of risk on the net assets, finan-
aal position and results of eperations of the Group and to ensure
cross-border finanang at opimal levels of risk Individual capital
expenditure projects are evaluated so as lo 1dentify any political
nisks which might be associated with them On the basis of this
evaluation, the risks are covered by German government guaran-
tees for direct foreign investment, tallored insurance solutions or
similar financial instruments available 1n the market if appropnate
Counterparty nsk for export business 1s also assessed, and limited
If necessary by instruments such as Hermes quarantees

External risks

A fundamental nisk for Linde, as for all compantes, 15 posed by
potential radical changes in the pokitical, legal and social envi-
ronment A theoretical nsk to the financial position and results of
operations of the Group also exists in the form of natural disas-
ters, pandemics or terrofist acts These nisks, which are covered
In some cases by insurance, are addressed by our Business Can
unuity Management 1n the business umis, under the direction of
the Group-wide SHEQ (Safety, Health, Environment, Quality) func-
tion, local contingency plans are developed 1o mimmuse as far as
possible the potential consequences of serous events through
rapid, effective aclion and to ensure the fastest possible return to
normal operatrons, even In the case of ighly improbable events
or fosses of a grave nature The Linde Group has developed and
launched a contingency plan for the 2609 global HIN1 pandemic,
also known as swine flu, which covers the critical areas for our
business operations In the vanious business units The plan focuses
on maintaining our abihity to supply tn every country, especially to
those of our customers with a critical infrastructure At the same
ttme, we are providing our employees with quidelines on how to
protect themselves against infection at home and In the work-
place As a result of aur pandemuc risk management, there have
been no adverse effects on our business operations from the pan-
demic and there has been no significant increase in the sickness
figures reported for our employees




Linde AG Frnancial Statements 2009
MANAGEMENT REPORT - Risk report

Strategy nsk
The bLinde Group has developed a long-lerm growth strategy At
regular meetings, the Executive Board and Supervisary Board, as
well as Linde AG management personnel, evaluate this strategy
and implement any correclive measures required

We also pay close attention to global economic treads, so that
we can take the steps necessary to adapt the implementatian of
ous strategy to any changes in the international economic situ-
atton, by adjusting the timeframe nvolved or the geographical
apphicatien of the strategy

in 2009, there were no changes in the growth strategy or
in decisions about location which would have given nse to a
change In the stiategy nisk

Financial nsks
The basic nsk strategies for inlerest, currency and liquidity man-
agement, and the abjectives and princtples governing our financ-
ing are determined by the Treasury commitiee, led by the mem-
ber of the Executive Board responsible fer finance This committee
usually meeis once a month and compnses representatives from
Treasury and Accounting /Reporting

Cue to Its global operations, The Linde Group 1s exposed to
a number of financial nsks In particular, these include coun-
terparty risk, hquidity nsk and nisks anising from movements in
interest rates and exchange rates The management of counter-
party nskis based on the credil ratings of the caunterparties We
also monitoi changes in other relevant capital market parame-
ters, such as movements in credit default swaps or in the market
capitalisation of counterparties We limit the extent and dura-
tion of any financia!l transactions to be concluded accordingly
Reqular reviews are performed by a supervisory tmit which (s
independent of the trading enlity to ensure compliance with all
the limits set 1n the 2009 financial year, as a result of the finan-
cial market crisis, amounts were switched between borrowers,
in order to reduce the nisk of foss which might occur if a counter-
party were to default

Even before the anset of the crisis in the financial markets,
the management of the iquidity rnisk was one of the Treasury
department’s most important tasks For years, Linde has pursued
a provident and conservative pohicy of safeguarding liquidity and
we have continued to have access to the capital markets in the
2009 hinancial year We also have the secunty of the backing
of a3 major international banking group which provides us with
{inancing commitments which have not yet been vtilised More-
ovel, the period {o whch the finanang commitments from the
banks relaled was extended further duning the financial year by
means of a forward start facility avaitable until March 2013

Interest rate nsk arises as a result of fluctuations i interest
rates caused by the markets On the cne hand, they have an
impact on the level of the interest expense borne by The Linde

Group, and on the other hand they affect the fair value of finan-
cial instruments Based on the operational business model and
ustng sensitivity and scenario analyses, Group Treasury has deter-
mined ranges for the lixed-floating rate of the financial habilities
in the mamn currencies Euro (EUR), British Pounds (GBP), US Dol-
lars (USD) and Australian Dollars (AUD) Group Treasury manages
the rates within the agreed ranges and submits regular reports to
the Treasury committee about the measures implemented

In the case of exchange rate sk, it is fmportant to distinguish
between operational transaciion nisks, which are the resuli for
example of supply contracts for indwidual projects spread across
different currency zones, and translation nsks, which anse from
currency transiation relating to individual companies at differ-
ent cut-off dates

within Treasury, the pnnople of segregation of duties
between the front, mddle and back offices 15 being cbserved
and monttored throughou! the sk management process This
means that there 1s a strict personal and organisational separa-
tion between the dealing and the processing and verification of
a financial transaction We use a treasury management system
to implement, record and evaluate our transactions The opera-
tions within Treasury are subject to regular internal and external
reviews, generally once 3 year

Our financing and hedging decistons are based on the finap-
cial information we obtain from the treasury management sys-
tem and from our financial and iquidity forecasts This 1s embed-
ded in our general financial reporting systems, which are also
used for Financial Control and Accounting/Reporting

Financing activities which are not in the local curiency inev-
iably lead to foreign currency cash flows The Group quideline
siates that individual business units must moemtor the result-
ing transaction risks themselves and agree appropriate hedg-
1ng transactions with Group freasury, based on predetermined
mintmum hedging rates, provided no other reasons not to hedge
internally apply

Hedging decisions are made according o the nsk strategles
of the Treasury committee Forward exchange deals, currency
swaps, simple currency options and foreign currency loans are
all used here The main currencies are the US Dollar (USD), the
Buitish Pound (GBP), the Australian Rollar (AUD) and some East-
ern Eurepean, South American and Asian currencies Translation
nsks are hedged in USD, GBP and AUD within authonsed ranges
In our Gases Division, we also use financial instruments, espe-
cially to hedge against exposure to electnicrty price changes
(n our project business i the Engineering Diviston, foreign cur-
rency nsks are reduced as much as passible by natural hedges,
for example by purchasing supplies and services in the currency
of the contract Any foreign currency amounts over and above
ihis are iImmediately hedged fully when they anse, generally by
entening into forward exchange transactions
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Interest rate nsks are also centrally managed We analyse poten-
tial mterest rale nsks, ascertain the interest rate exposure n the
major currencles and conduct sensitivily analyses Based on the
range for hedging rates determined by the Treasury committee,
Group Treasury concludes the transactions with the banks Interest
rate nsks are hedged using long-term fixed-interest bonds, loans
and interest rate dervatives In 2009, on average 38 percent of
the exposure of the Group was financed at variable rates, while at
31 December 2009 the figure was a good 52 percent

For furthes information, see Note {21} of the Notes to the
financial statements

Pension Nsks
in many countnes, companies 1n The Linde Group have defined
benefit commitments to their employees under occupational pen-
sion schemes

Gepending on the structure of the schemes, one-off payments
may be made or the employees may be entitled to a pension for
life wrth an annual increase which may be vanable or inflation-
linked As a result, there ate nisks te The Linde Group ansing from
unexpected inflation or Increases in life expectancy

The amount of the obligation is the actuarial present value of
alt penston commitments and 1s expressed as the Defined 8en-
elit Obligation (080) under IFRS The amount of the obltgaton s
subject 10 annual changes in the valuation assumptions, espe-
ctally those relaling to the discount rate and inflation This gives
nse {0 nterest rate and inflalion 1isks

In most pension schemes, the obligation 1s covered by assets
which are maintained separately The worth of the pension
assets 1s subject 10 fluctuauiens mn the fair value of those assels
e g bonds or shares There 15 therefore an exposure Lo market
rtsks, especially interest rate, spread and share nsks

The nisks relating to the pension obligation on the one hand
and the pension assets on the other are quantified and evaluated
on a regular basts by The Linde Group There is a natural conflict
between extensive reduction of the nsk and the achievement 1n
the long term of the required return on assets to keep pace with
the increase in the obligation

As a guideline, the Execulive Board has set a global risk bud-
get Measures being taken to modify the actual nsk are coordi-
nated by the Glabal Pension Commuttee and implemented in the
lacal pension schemes

Risks ansing from acquisitions and investments

Acquisition and investment projects are vital for the future growth
of The Linde Group Such projects are, however, associated with
complex f1sks We manage and reduce these nsks by designing
tarlor-made procedures and processes for our acquisition and
investment projects

Right at the beginming of each project, we use internal and
external experls to assess the rsks associated with thal proj-
ecl Acquisttions, investments and divestments are also reqularly
discussed by our investment commitlee or at meetings of the
Execulive Board Project assumptions, the feasibilily of the proj-
ect and specific business nsks are subjected to detarted review
at these meetings We wark together with internal and external
experts to evaluate, for example, the country/currency risk, the
credil ratings of imdiidual customers, trends In the ocal (gases)
maskets and the underlying terms and condiions of the contract

In the course of the past financial year, Linde AG has com-
pleted a variely of corporate acquisstrons and sales The acqui-
siions made are the result of deliberate measures 1aken by
the company to strengthen its core business The investments
focused on areas offering opportunities for above-average
growth and for sustamable increases in the profitability and
competitiveness of the Group

Risks associated with innovatien
The capacity to novate 1s key {o the success of a 1echnology
group such as tinde Our research and development activities
focus not only on improvements In existing customer processes,
but also on: completely new technologies and gases apphcations
which may form the basis for future business success We are
concentrating in particular on the following growth areas energy
and the environment, metallurgy, pharmaceuticals, food, health
and new matenals in the energy secior, for example, the focys
of our reseasch and development activitres 1s on hydrogen tech-
nology, a field with a ugh level of innovation In the case of steel
production and metal recycling, where reducing emisstons of car-
bon dioxide and mitrogen oxides 15 a key issue, our development
work often takes place on-site at customers’ plants intervening
directly in the production process In the food sector and in the
pharmaceutical Industry, our tnnavative selutions must meet strict
hygiene requirements and comply with the quidelines set cut
the pharmacopoeia In the area of new matenals, investigations
are being conducted into the fields of application of materals
research such as nanotechnology in the sectars i which Linde
operates

Innovative projects differ from normal capital expenditure
projects because of theu novelly and as a result of the addonal
11sks assoctated with them The more innovative the project, the
greater the uncertamnty attached lo 1t Despite the great oppor-
twniuies for giowth which may be presented by the activities of
Linde’s reseatch depariments, there 1s a nisk that, due to the high
level of complenty and the rate of growth of the technologies
and the markets, projects may not be able to proceed for tech
nofogical, economic, legal or safety reasons On the other hand,
there is also the nisk that our competitors might develop new
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technologies faster or in a@ more sustainable manner than us and
then launch them onlo the market and of this presenting a threat
to qur core lechnologies

We address this nsk in a number of different ways innovation
Management, the Group-wide Global Support Function, keeps
an eye on the markets, checking constantly to see whether the
projects within The Linde Group match ows overall stralegy and
have the potenual to generate future profits Systematic scan-
ning of 1arget areas also lakes place, so that we dentify early
any scenanos which might pose a threat 1o our own cote busi-
ness and are able to take the appropriate counlermeasures We
are increassngly employing tools and processes here with the
“openinncvation” approach As our own developmenl resources
are in principle always hmited, this approach means that we can
choose to resort lo networks for external developments

We also combine our vanous development activities In our
Healthcare Global Business Unit, for example, we have incorpo-
rated Linde’s expertise in medical gases into one strong innova-
tion and development unit

Inthe Gases Division, global teams of experts in the develop-
ment of applications ensure that our development projects are
geared towards the current and fuiure requirements around the
world of the various industries A ngorous development process
with defined milestones identifies variances from target as soon
as possible and the appropriate corrective ackion Is taken as a
result In addition, current project costs and project targets are
monttored on an ongoing basis In our Engineening Division, for
example, there 1s permanent performance measurement, which
ensures that projects achieve a planned economic return within
a certain imeframe and that there are no unexpected budget
overuns

Our pariicipation in the work of standasd-setting bodies
and assocrations and representation on many relevant industry
committees, such as those concerned with hydrogen technol-
ogy, makes a further contributicn in this field We are actively
involved in the development of future standards, as the market-
tng of our irnovations may depend on comphance with those
standards

Purchasing risks
A key element in the success of our divistons 1s the ready avail-
ability of the products and services we purchase, which must be of
suitable qualily, and obtainable in appropniate quantities at prices
in Iine with market conditions

To reduce risk, the central purchasing department pursues
a portfolio strategy across the entie Group This strategy 15
organised on the basis of defined matenial groups, which are
used to categorise all products and services Reviews are per-
formed for each matenal group to ascertain the security of sup-

ply, any dependence on supphers and the supplier portiolio
Based on this analysis, we develop purchasing strategies which
miumise the purchasing sk and the cost nsk One example of
this 15 single sourcing, which we reduce by the systematic devel
opment of aliernative sources of supply The regional purchasing
organisations are involved in this process, from the development
of the stralegy to its implementation 1n the reievant country, so
that the information available about local markets can be incor-
porated inio the development of the purchasing strategies

Methods of best practice adopted centrally and suppher
selection and evalualion tools are used throughout the Group to
support the regional purchasing organisations

Product risks
Potential product nisks, such as Hiability claims and loss of repu-
tation due o product defects, are countered by Lhe high quaiity
and salety levels of our products, product information and ser-
vices To ensure that our producls are safe, our sk management
Is based on the concept of overall product responsibiity (product
stewardship) The poiential hazards and risks which might arise
from a product during its entire life-cycle for empléyees, nergh-
bours, customers or the environment are analysed and the rel-
evant potential nsk 1s determined We take the necessary mea-
sures o avord the risks which have been identified or, if that 1s not
possible, 1o reduce the nsks to an acceptable level Product stew-
ardship begins at the moment when key raw materials, supples
and services are purchased We only choose supphers who attach
as much importance as we do lo occupational safety, health and
environmental protection, and quality, and who can demonstrale
this, far example, by the fact that they operate an integrated man-
agement system

We also nvolve our customers in our product stewardship In
the Gases Division, we conduct customer screenings for critical
products These investigations aim to mintmise the risks which
might arise from improper handling of our gases or chemicals
We only supply these products te our customers if they can dem-
onstrate beforehand that they are able to guarantee proper use
of the gases and that they are abfe 10 meet all the necessary
safety standards

We are continually updating our product information 1o take
account of national and international guidelines such as REACH
and GHS (6lobally Harmomsed System of Classification and
Labelling of Chemicals)

If, despite all these precauttons, problems anse, for exam-
ple with & gas cylinder, our emergency leams are on stand-by
to provide support

045

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

I
[*
=z
-«
=
0"
i
>
=3
2
[
=
=~
=
=3
o
B
=
o

FINANCIAL STATEAENTS

NOTES TO THE FINARCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG

FURTHER INFORMATION



EXECUTIVE BOARD

{ SUPERVISORY BOARD

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

o
g

Liay

NOTES 10 THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHEX INFORMATION

|

046

Linde AG Financial Statements 2009
MANAGEMENT REPORT - Risk seport

Production fisks
Alengthy stoppage at one of our main plants or at one of our on-
sile plants on a customer’s site could adversely affect the results
of operations and reputation of the Group s would be paruc-
viarly true if the interruption to the busiess was caused by an
accident which also resulted in personal injury or damage to the
envirgament

Therefore, Linde places a high prianty on measures which will
prevent business interruptions These include, m particular, the
monitoring and maintenance of plants so that such incidents may
be avaided, and the provision of replacement parts which are of
strategiC Importance

Il, despile these preventive measures, a business mterruption
should occur, we have supply networks operating between our
productign plants, so thal any bustness interruplion would have
only a limited effect or no effect at all on our customers

Environmental and safety nsks
The manufactuning of our products and the construction of our
plants may give rse to nsks assoctated with the production, fill-
Ing, storage and transport of raw matenals, goods or waste These
nisks might lead to personal injury, damage to property or envi-
ronmental damage, which in turn might resuls in business nter-
ruptions, monetary penalties, compensation payments or environ-
mental clean-up costs The reputation of The Linde Group could
also suffer if such an event were o occus

We therefore stnive to be a leading company in the areas of
safely, health protection, environmental protection and quality
All these aspects of corporate responsibility are integrated into
our management systems The Group-wide SHEQ function man-
ages the constant improvement process in these areas, ensur-
Ing its success

One of our main pieventive stiategies 1 to maintain and con-
tinually update a stungent safety standard for the production
and service processes Strict safety requirements form the basis
of processes with a particularly high exposure to nsk A number
of years ago, Linde developed and introduced a Major Hazard
Review Programme This programme 1s always being updated to
address potential new fisks

Pollution can accur in many guises and can damage the envi-
ronment in various ways Where we understand and know about
the impact of our processes and activities on the environment,
we are able to develop and implement plans to reduce and con-
trof such effects We focus here in particular on reducing emis-
sians and on making continual imptovements Lo our aperations
to ensure the efficient use of resources, matenals and energy
We are currently involved, for instance, in improving the energy
efficiency of cur production plants and in increasing the effi-

ciency of our transporl fleet Qurimpact on the environment 1s
disclosed in key figures published every year in our Carporate
Responsibility Report Selecied key higures published 1n our 2009
Coipuiaie Responsibilny Report were reviewed o1 vahdity and
reasonableness and certifred by KPMG

Project nisks
Complex major plant construction projects make speafic demands
en nsk management In ous Engineenng Division, we handle sig-
mificant contracts which may be worth several hundred mitlion
euro and may exlend over a number of years

Typically, the division 15 involved in the planning and con-
struction of turnkey plants Potential r1sks may anse as a result
of the costings of complex projects which are subject to uncer-
tainties Risks may include unexpecied techmical problems, bot
tlenecks and quality problems relating to the supply of major
components, unfoteseen developments during on-site assem-
bly and problems with ¢ur partners or subcontraciors To man-
age the risks in plant construction, we employ tried and tested
methods even It the tendering phase, to assess the impact on
the profitability of a large-scale project of potential variances
{rom budgeied cost for individual compenents We conduct sim-
ulations of the opportuminies and nsks associated with each proy-
ect using numenical metheds of analysis By continually moni-
toring changes m the parameters alongside the progress of the
project, we are able to dentify potential project nsks at an early
stage and to take appropriate measures Lo counter them These
risk management tools are constantly being updated and mod)-
fied to meet the increasing demands of the market

Another impostant aspec! of risk management is the plan-
ming, assembly and commisstoning of the projected plants while
at the same time taking account of safety and environmental
1ssues To ensure thal this 15 indeed the case, the tngineering
Dvisien has defined clearly-structured management standards
and procedures and has set up a panel of experts with a wide-
rangeng remit

Personnel nisks
An rmportant feature of Linde AG's corporate culture 15 that it
15 based on trust We place special emphasis on our employees
assuming personal responsibility and thinking and acting in an
entrepieneunal way

To develop the strengths of the Group's executives and fos-
ter thetr commitment, Linde wilt continue to position ttself as an
attractive employer and will seek ta ensure the long-term loyalty
of its management team and emptoyees Our rigorous manage-
ment development programme includes the provision of devel
opment opportunities, as well as support and advice to target
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groups, the early identification and advancement of high achrev-
ers and those with potential, and atiractive incentive schemes
which are tailored to suit the needs of the market

The success of our Group depends on the commitment, moti-
vation and skills of our empioyees We are addressing the issue
of the shoitage ol skilled personnel in some fields by ensufing
that we offer a range of personal development schemes and
extensive opportunities for gaining quaifications and for profes-
sional deveiopment This strengthens our position as an attrac-
tive employer in the competitive market for skilled employees,
especially 1n the field of engineering

We have also lavnched various projects, such as First Line
Manager Traiming, Techmcal Career Palhs and Succession Plan-
ning, as part of our People Excellence HPO dimension These
projects should ensure that we are able to supply staff from
within our own organisation to filt key positions, especially in the
lechmical field, and that we will be able to use our own resources
to meet the challenges of a highly competitive labour market
We are dealing with the shorlage of engineers by enhancing our
own in-house training schemes

Legal rnisks
With its international operations, The Linde Group 1s exposed to
numerous legal nsks These may include, 10 particular, risks relat-
ing to preduct liability, competition and antitrusi law, palent law,
tax legistation and environmental proteciton The outcome of any
current pending or future proceedings can often not be predicted
wilh any certainly 1115 therefore passible that legal or regulatory
judgements or agreed settlements might give nise to expenses
which are not covered, or not fully covered, by insurance bene-
fits and which might have an impact on our earnings and on our
business

Legal support for our operating activities includes the iden-
tificatian of legal risks based on a systematic approach and the
assessment of those risks for the probability of their occurrence
and for their potential impact in either qualitative or quantita-
tive terms or both

Legal proceedings currently considered to involve material
rsks are outlined below This does not necessanly fepresent an
exhaustive list

Certain compames 1n The Linde Group are parties to vanous
tegat proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including
some in which clams for damages in large amounts have been
asserted The outcome of the littgation to which Linde Group
companies are party cannot be readily foreseen, but the Com-
pany believes that such liugation should be disposed of with-
out matenal adverse effect on the Company’s financial condi-
tion or profitability

Certain subsidianes of the Company are parties to lawsuits in the
United States for alleged injuries resulting from exposure to man-
ganese, asbestos and/or toxic fumes in connection with the weld-
ing process In these cases, the Company’s subsidiaries are typi-
cally one of several or many other defendants The subsidiartes of
the (ompany named in these cases believe that they have strong
defences to the claims asseried in the various cases and intend to
defend vigorously such claims Based on the litigation expenence
to date, together with current assessments of the claims being
asserted and apphicable insurance, we believe that the continued
defence and resolution of the welding fumes liigation wil! not
have a matenal adverse effect on the financial conditron o prof-
itabthty of the Group Nonetheless, the outcome of these cases 15
inherently uncertain and difficult to predict The Company’s sub-
sidhanes have insurance that covers most or part of the costs and
any Judgements associated with these claims

1T risks
The vanous business processes {production, admenistration, sales
and distribution etc ) of The Linde Group are Increasingly sup-
ported by infermation services and systems To ensure that opes-
ations are not interrupted or disrupted, we devote considesable
attention lo the availability of 1T resources and seivices In addi-
tion, 10 ensure adequate data protection, we take constant care
that the integnity and confidentiahty of tmpontant information 1s
guaranteed

Data security is a vital and intninsic part of our Group-wide I
strateqy It 1s therefore viewed in its entirety, which means that
we devise, implement and monitor procedues to prolect data,
applications, systems and networks These procedures may be
preventive or may be designed in reaction to specific circum-
stances

To ensure the effective implementation of the security sys-
lem, we ngorously apply organisational, technical and personal
precaulionary measures We pay particuiar altention to access
protection, to the management and filtering of data teaffic and to
the detection or suppsession of potential attacks All major server
systems (e-mall, the Web, application servers, databases) and
P(s are provided with reliable protection from possible threats
in the form of anti-virus software which is constantly updated
In addition, we reqularly perform an automatic update of the
operating system platiorm and of the ¢nitical business applica-
tions

The IT security process is structured and defined by a number
of policies, standards and recommendations These are based for
the most part on internationally recognised security standards
tndustry-specific standards are also used to enhance 11 secunty
where appropnate
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The measures we take o create a secure and effective IT environ
ment always take account of the need for data processing, dala
storage and data transmission to comply with legal requirements
The focus hereis on the relevant regional and national laws and
guidehnes, as well as on industry-specific standards

To ensure that secunty measures are implemented with a high
level of effiiency, we conducl analyses of weaknesses, risks
and threats The relevance, stage of maturity and current state
of the security measures adopted are monilored via self-assess-
ments, as well as by the ITinlernal audit department and exter-
nal 1T auditors This ongeing process ensures that any amend-
ments and improvements required are in fact made and that the
effectiveness of the securty measures continues to Improve

in addition, measures are adopted to keep the current 1T land-
scape (wide and local area networks, chent/server systems and
apphcations) technically up to date and to counter obsolescence
in equipment and program technology In terms of the eust-
ing applications, we are paying particular atiention 1o resources
which are cnitical to the bustness {e g ERP/CRM applications,
WAN nfrastructure), which are being updated or renewed in a
long-term programme of conselidation

Risk transier

The Linde Group has taken out appropriate Insurance for potential
losses and habiity nsks to ensure that the potentral financial con-
sequences of any nsks which have anisen are eliminated o1 lim-
ited The Group constantly ensures Lhat ws insurance is al the opti-
mum level, based on the specific requirements of the divisions

Evaluation of the overall risk situation of the Group
Based on the nsks and future prospects of the Group which have
been outhned in this report, no nisks have been identified in the
2009 financial year which might have a lasting of significant neg-
ative impact on the net assets, financial position and resulis of
operations of The Linde Group

We see uncertamnty as the global economy stabidises, while
the high leve! of volatility of the financial markets makes a pre-
ase assessment of the future net assels, financial position and
results of operations of The Linde Group ditficult

Nevertheless, the iotal amount which relates to individual
nsks within the nsk fields will not adversely affeci the viabi-
ity of The Linde Group as a going concern if there 15 a change
In external arcumstances, risks which are currently unknown or
deemed to be immatenal might have a negative impact on our
business operations We have made all the necessary organisa-
tional arrangements 1o ensure that we become aware at an eafly
stage of any apparent changes in risk situations
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Disclosures 1n accordance with § 289 (4) of the
German Commercial Code (HGB) and commentary

Capital subscribed
The company has capital subscnbed at the balance sheet date
of EUR 432,402,165 76 which 1s fully paid up This 15 dvided into
168,907,096 shares al 3 par value of EUR 2 56 per share The
shares are bearer shares Each share confers a voling nght and 1s
entitled to dividend

Restrictions affecting voting rights or the transfer of shares
In the 2007 finanaial year, it was resolved at the Annual General
Meeting to mtreduce a share option scheme (Linde Performance
Share Programme 2007) for management boards and lower-rank
ing executives under which up to 3 Smilhion subscription rights
can be 1ssued 1f members of the management board or certamn
lower-ranking executives subscribe for or acguire shares as a
resull of exercising options, 25 peicent of those shares or, under
certain conditions, shares equivalent to 25 percent of the total
number of options exercised, are subject to a two-year lock-up
penod Under this share option scheme, options have been 1ssued
in 2007, 2008 and 2009

Shareholdings exceeding 10 percent of the voling nghts
Linde AG 15 not aware of any direct or indirect shareholdings which
reach or exceed 10 percent of the voling rights

shares with special nights
There are no shares with speaial nghts which confer powers of
control on the holder

Method of controlling voting rights if employees own shares
and do not exercise their control nghts directly

Employees who hold shares in Linde AG exercise their control
nghts directly hke other shareholdeis in accordance with legal
regulations and the rules set out in the artictes of association

Legal requiations and rules set out in the articles of associa-
tion governing the appointment and semoval of members of
the Executive Board and changes to the articles of association
The members of the Executive Board are appornted and removed
by the Supervisory Board in accordance with §§84 and 85 of the
German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) and § 31 of the German
Codetermination Law (Mitbest@} Appointments are for a maxi-
mum term of five years 11 1s permissible for members of the Exec-
ulive Board to be reappointed or for their term of office to be
exlended, although in each case for a maximum period of five
years Pursuant to §31 of the German Codetermmation Law
{Mitbest), the appointment of a member of the Executive Board
requiees at least a two-thirds majonty of the members of the
Supervisory Board

According to Article 51 of the articles of association, the Exec
utive Board consists of several members The Supervisory Board
determines the number of Executive Board members Accord-

Ing 1o Articte 5 2 of the articles of association, the Supervisory
Board can nominate one of the members of the Executive Board
as Chairman of the Executive Board and one as Deputy Chairman
The Supervisory Board may revoke the appointment of a mem-
ber of the Executive Board or the nomination of ene of the mem
bers of the £xecutive Board as Chairman of the Executive Board if
there 1s good cause to do so pursuant to § 84 (3) AKLG

Changes to the articles of association require a resolution at
the Annual General Meeting n accordance with §5119 (1) No 5
and 179 of the German Stock Corparation Law (AkiG) Resoly-
tions at the Annual General Meeting require 3 simple majonity of
the votes cast, as set outin Article 13 7 of the articles of asso-
ciation and, 1f a majonity of shares is required, a simple majonty
of the share capital represented al the vole, as long as manda-
tory legal rules do not require a different majonty According to
Article 95 of the articles of association, the Supervisory Board
I1s authorised to make amendments to the articles of association
concermng only the form of words to be used

Powers of the Executive Board to 1ssue and repurchase
shares

The Executive Board was authonsed, with the approval of
the Supervisory Board, 1o increase subscribed capital by up to
EUR 25,106,534 40 sntil 7 June 2010 against cash contnbutions
by 1ssuing, on one or more occasions, new bearer shares, at a par
value of EUR 2 56 {Authonsed Capital 1)

The Executive Board was further avthonsed, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase subscnbed cap-
ial by up to EUR 80,000,000 until 4 June 2012 agamnst cash or
non-cash contributtons by issuing, on one or more occasions,
up to 31,250,000 new bearer shares, at a par value of EUR 2 56
{Authonised Capital Ity

The 1ssued share capttal ¢an be increased by up to
EUR 50,000,000 by the 1ssue of up to 19,531,250 new shares
with & par value of EUR 2 56 The increase in share capital wall
only take place if the holders of the convertible bonds and war-
rani-linked bonds, to which were added converiible or warrant-
linked bonds to be issued by Linde AG or its ditect or indrect
majonty-owned subsidiartes by 7 June 2010, as a result of the
authorisatton granted to the Executive Board by the resolution
passed at the Annual General Meeting on & June 2005, exercise
their conversion or aption fights of If the holders or debtors of
convertible bonds to be 1ssued by tinde AG of its direct or indi-
reci majonty-owned subsidianes settle the conversion obligs-
tion by 7 June 2010 as a result of the authonsation granted to the
Executive Board by the resolution passed at the Annual General
Meeling on 8 june 2005

The 1ssued share capital can be increased by up 1o
EUR 85,000,000 00 by the 1ssue of up to 33,203,125 new bearer
shares with a par value of EUR 2 56 The increase 1n share capital
will only take place {t) if the holders of the convertible bonds and
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warrani-kinked bonds, to which were added convertible and/or
warrzgni-linked bonds to be issued by the company or by Group
compamies controlled by the company by 2 June 2013, as a result
of the authorisation granted to the Executive Board by the res-
olution passed at the Annual General Meeting on 3 june 2008,
exercise therr conversion or opttan rights or (i) If the hotders or
debtors of convertible bonds to be issued by the company or by
Group companies controiled by the company by 2 June 2013, as
a result of the authorisation granied to the Executive Board by
the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeling on 3 June
2008, exercise thelr conversion rights, although in cases 1) and
() only insofar as own shares are no used for this purpose

The 1ssued share capital can be ingreased by up to
EUR 8,257,466 88, divided into 3,225,573 new shares, if certain
conditions are met (2002 conditionally authonsed capital} The
Issued share capital will only be increased If the holders of the
oplion nights issued by the company, following the authorisa-
lion given to the Executive Board by a resolution passed at the
Annual General Meeling on 14 May 2002, use their oplion nights
and the company does not fulfil the option rights by transferning
own shares or by making a payment 1n cash The new shares
1ssted as a result of the exercise of options are first entitled
1o dividend in the financial year in which, at the date of theur
1ssue, a resolution had not yet been passed al the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting regarding the appropnation of profit

The issued share Capital can be increased by up to
EUR 9,000,000 by the 1ssue of up to 3,515,625 new bearer shares
with a par value of EUR 2 56 If cerlain conditions are met (2007
conditionally authorised capital) The conditionally suthorised
increase 1n share capital 1s approved solely for the purpose of
granting subscription nghts (share options) to members of the
Executive Board of the company and other senior management
in the company and 1n lower-level affiliated compamies within
Germany and outside Germany, including members of executive
bodies {individuals with subscription nghts) in accordance with
the provisions set out n the authorisation agreed at the Annval
General Meeting on 5 June 2007 The condittonally authorised
capital witl only be 1ssued if subscniption rights are exercised
in accordance with the authonsation granted and the company
does not meet its obligation in cash or with own shares The new
shares will parlicspate in profit from the begianing of the finan-
cial year in which they are 1ssued If the i1ssue takes place after
the completion of a financial year, but before the meeting of the
Supervisory Board at which the resolution s passed regarding
the appropnation of profit, the new shares are also entitled to
participate tn the profit of the fast completed financial vear

The Executive Board 1s authonsed untib 14 November 2010 by
a resolubon passed at the Annual General Meeting on 15 May
2009 to acquire Lieasury shares of up to 10 percent of capital
subscribed at the date of the resolution or, if lower, of the cap-
ital subscribed at the date the relevant authonsatton 15 exer-

ased These shares may be purchased on the stock exchange,
by way of a public purchase offer addressed to all sharehold-
ers or by way of a public invitation to alt shareholders to sub-
mit sale offers The treasury shares acquired under this autho-
nsation may

- be sold via the stock exchange or by an offer 1o all shareholders,

< subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, also be sold
otherwise,

- subject to the approval of the Supervisery Board, be offered
and transferred 1n the context of the direct or indirect acqur-
sition of companies, businesses of investments n companies
and in the course of corporate mergers,

- be appropnated 1o settle option and/or convertible bonds
which the company or a direct or indirect subsidiary of the
company has 1ssued or will 1ssue,

= be granited, in the case of a sale of acquired own shares by an
offer to all shareholders, to holders of option and/or conver
sion rights ssued by the company or a direct or indirect sub-
sidiary of the company in the same amount as that o which
they would be entitled after exercising the option and /ot con-
version nghts or after seltlement of a converston obligation,

- be granted in fulfilment of the company's obligations under
the Linde Management Incentive Programme following the
resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting on 14 May
2002 {agenda 1lem 8),

= be granted i fulfiiment of the company's obligations under
the Linde Performance Share Programme following the reso-
lution passed at the Annual Genera! Megting on 5 June 2007
(agenda item 7), or be redeemed, subject 10 the approval of
the Supervisory Board

The authorsation given to the Executive Board to purchase own
shares based on the resolution passed at the Annval General
Meeting on 3 June 2008 was revoked when the new authornsa-
tion became effective on 15 May 2009
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Significant agreements relating to change of contiol subse-
quent o a takeover bid
If there 1s a change of control, the hybnd bonds issued i 2006
may be called in and repaid early

In the Linde 2007, 2008 and 2009 finanaial years, Linde 1ssued
benchmark bonds under 1ts Debt Issuance Programme In accor
dance with §5(4) of the terms and conditions of the issue, in the
event of a change of control, the bond debtor has the eption of
demanding tmmediate repayment if the change of cantrol leads
10 a withdrawal of the rating or a reduction in the rating to or
below certain rating levels for unsubordinated unsecured ha-
bilties

Significant financing agreements aiso exist which each
enclude specific rules in the event of a change of controf These
rules set out, in particular, the duty 1o provide information to the
contracting party, as well as the cancellation nights of the con-
tracting party

There are customer conlracts with clauses which grant the
customer special cancellation rights in the event of a change
of control if these special cancellation rights are exercised, the
contracis provide in principle for appropriate compensation

Under the terms and conditions of the Linde Perfermance
share Programme 2007 for management boards and lower-
ranking executives, in the event of a change of control, special
rules may be adopted The special rules which apply to the share
options issued in 2007, 2008 and 2009 are that, in the event of
a change of control, cancellation rights apply, which means that
options may be settled in cash in an amount to be determined

Compensation arrangements made by the company with
members of the Executive Board or with employees which
will apply in the event of a takeover bid

If there 15 a takeover of Linde AG and thewr employment conltracts
are terminated, members of the Execulive Board may be enli-
tled 1o certain compensation payments based on their contractual
emoluments These compensation payments have an upper imit
A moie detaled description of the rules affecting the members
of the Executive Board which apply 1o & change of control can be
found in the Remuneration report
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Events after the balance sheet date

There were no evenls after the balance sheel date which were
required fo be disclosed

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

s
f
=
=
=
o
pov]
=
(=]
[
w
=
-
o
=]
&=
o=
o
]

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIAL STATEMERTS

STATEMENTS OF LINCE AG

FURTHER INFORMATION




tinde AG Financial Statements 2009
MANAGEMENT REPORT - Outlook

Outlook

Macroeconomic trends

world economy
Whereas 2009 was mired by the global economic cnisis, a recovery
15 expecled for the current year 201¢ The economists at Global
Insight anticipate thal global gross domestic product {GDP) will
grow in 2010 by 2 6 percent Economic experts expedt global
indusinal production {IP} to nse by 5 4 percent The speed of the
upturn will depend on markel reaction to the end or reversal of
the economic programmes drawn up by polticians and the central
banks It can be assumed that the worldwide recession will lead to
sustainable structural changes in the global economy

in Western Europe and the eurozone, a moderate increase 1n
economic output Is forecast Economists expect growth in GDP
of 09 percent in 2010 1n the evrozone, an Ncrease in Western
Europe of 10 percent and @ nse in Germany of 15 percent This
follows a decline tn economic oviput 1n Germany In 2009 that
was disproportionately severe al 4 8 peicent

In the US, where the first real signs of the crisis became appar-
ent, economic experts expect growth this year of 2 2 percent,
following contraction in the economy here in 2009 of 2 5 per-
cent Industniai production, which had fallen considerably in the
s, will also recover, although we cannot yet expect the figures
1o reach their pre-crisis levels

South Amenca should also be on the read to recovery In 2010,
after a shght fall \n GDP 0 2009 In this regton, Global Insight 15
forecasting grewth 1n GDP of 3 4 percent

In the growth markets in Asia, the crisis in 2009 resulted 10 a
smaller dechne in gross domestic product than in the developed
countries Some countres were even able o continue to grow
GDP n China, for example, Increased by 8 6 percent in 2009 in
the current year 2010, econemic growth of Just under 10 percent
ts expeciled here In India, there are also indications that there
will be growth 1n 2010, as in the whole region of Asia

In Easlern Europe, on the other hand, the economic recovery
In 2010 1s expecied {o be very modest

tn the South Pacific & Africa region, economists are forecast-
Ing an Increase in GOP 1 2010 of around 3 percent

Outlook for Linde AG

The economic research institules are currently predicting that
global gross domestic product and industnai production will nse
again in the current year 2010

However, a greal deal of uncertainty is stitl attached to these
forecasts - especially in the second half of the year Given this
background, we aie continuing to do everything in our power to
inciease our productivity, make further improvements to our pro-
cesses and achieve a relatively robust business performance We
will proceed with the rigorous implementation of our integraied
concept designed to bning abeul sustainable improvements in
ethiciency (High Performance Organisation or HPQ), which will
transform out Group into a high performance crganisation

On the basis of current economic forecasts, we expect that,
seen from today's viewpoinl, sales and earnings in 2010 will
exceed our figures for the 2009 financial year

Gases industry

Our original targel for the gases business has not changed We
want to grow at a more rapid pace than the market and to con-
tinue 10 increase our productivity Given current economic fore-
casts, we expect to achieve an Increase In sales and earnings n
2010 1n the Gas Division

Piant construction
The order backlog of the Linde Engineening Division remains very
high Against this background and given thal some major proj-
ects will be invoiced in the 2010 financial year, we expect lo
achieve around the same level of sales in this division in 2010
as in 2009

In the four main operating segments (olefin plants, naturat
gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants), we are weli-placed globally and we will be able to denve
sustamed benefit from the long-term growth drtvers energy and
the environment We will also drive forward the internationalisa-
tion of our business and execute projects via our subsidiaries

Capital expenditure

We will conttnue to apply our caprial expenditure strategy in Ger-
many and 1o invest consistently in those areas where there are
opportunities for disproportionate growth and where we can
increase our profitability and competiiiveness

Dividends
We pursue an earnings-criented dividend policy and will align drv-
idends with {uture earmings trends in The Linde Group
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Balance sheet of Linde AG

Balance sheet of Linde AG - Assets

in € million Notes 31122009 31122008 g
Intangible assels 49 51 g
Tangible assets 360 377 g
Financlal assets 12,972 12,804 =
Non-current assets (1 13,381 13,232 -
Inventoties (2] 2,298 2,183
Less advance payments recelved fram cusiomers -2,298 -2,183 §
Receivables and other assels {3 520 714 z
Cash and cash equivalenis (4] 320 497 g
Current assets 840 1,211 -
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges [5] 11 5 -
Total assets 14,232 14,448 §
Balance sheet of Linde AG - Equity and habilities E
i € mlllon Notes 3112 2009 3112 2008 g
(apital subscribed 432 431 —
Condibionally authorised capital of € 152 million (2008 € 178 million} =
Capital reserve 5,035 5,016 ‘E’
Revenue reserves 1,328 1,328 %
Unappropriated profii 887 886 §
Equity [6] 7,682 7,661 =
Provistons for pensions and similar obligations [7) 804 792
Other provisions (8] 884 851
Provisions 1,688 1,643
Liabthities [%] 4,862 5,144
Total equity and Liabilities 14,232 14,448
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Income statement of Linde AG

Income statement of Linde AG

5 in € million Noles 2009 2008
g Sales [10) 2,439 2,681
; Cost of sales 1,741 1,978
= Gross profit on sales 698 703
- Marketing and selitng expenses 288 292
Research and development costs 128 143
g General adminastration expenses 376 386
% Other operating mcome [11] 399 788
§ Other operating expenses {12] 229 576
3 Investment income [13) 375 2886
- Other interest and simiar income 151 124
- 0f which from affiliated companies € 133 mithion (2008 € 77 million}
é Amortisation of inanciat assets and secutities held as current assets 49 i
% Interest and similar charges 219 288
g Of which from affilisted companies € 191 million (2008 € 198 million}
§ Profit on ordinaly activities 334 215
- Non-recurring 1iems
_ Profit an disposal of investiments [14] - 107
E Taxes on Income 29 18
§ Net income 305 304
§ Tiansfer Lo revenue resarves - -
g profit brought forward from prior perods 582 582
Unappsepriated profit B87 886
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summary of fixed asset movements in Linde AG

Summary of fixed assel movements in Linde AG

E Acquisiion/manufacturing cost
o
; 0101 2009 Additions Disposals Transters 3112 2009
g
5

in € millhion
o Concesstans, ndustnal praperty rghts and simdar
H rights and assets, including licences on such rights and assets 113 13 1 1 126
g Paymenls on accounl 14 8 - -1 21
.?E Intangible assets 127 FA! 1 - 147
=2

[S— Land, land rights and buildings, including butldings

- on fand owned by othefs 465 190 23 6 458
E Technlca! equipment and machinery 483 16 5 6 500
£ Fixtures, furniture and equipment 340 20 26 6 340
Z Payments in advance and plants under
s construction 10 29 6 -18 45
S Tangible assets 1,328 75 60 - 1,343
= Investments in affiliated companies 12,330 238 42 -82 12,444
=]
& Loans to affiliated companies 265 - - - 265
E Investments in related cumpanies 12 3 - 82 97
E Loans to related companies - 12 - - 12
= Non-current securities 242 6 - - 248

Other loans 1 - - - 1
Ea Financial assets 12,850 259 42 - 13,067
? Fixed assets 14,305 355 103 - 14,557
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summary of fixed assel movements in Linde AG

Amortisation and depreaiation Net book values E
L=
Accumulated Additions Disposals Transfers  Accumulated 31122009 3112 2008
amorlisati amortisati- 5
on/depre- on/depie =
talien al C1ation at
n € million 01012009 3112 2009
Concessions, industrial properiy nights and
simtlar rights and assets, including licences =
on such nghts and assets 76 23 i - 98 28 37 3
Payments on account - - - - - 21 14 5
Intangible assets 76 23 1 - o8 49 51 g
=
Land, land nights and bulidings, Including —_—
builgings on l2nd owned by others 320 10 20 - 310 148 145 -
Technical equipment and machinery 377 29 4 - 402 98 106 E
Fixtures, furniture and equipment 254 13 19 - 268 n 86 =
=
Payments in advance and plants under =
construction - 3 - - 3 42 49 s
Tangible assets 951 75 43 - 933 360 377 S
invesiments in alfilated companies 45 49 - -13 g1 12,363 12,285 =
=
Loans o affihated companies - - - - - 265 265 &
Investments in related companies - - - 13 13 24 12 E
Loans to relaled comparies - - - - - 12 - E
-
Non current securilies 1 - - - 1 247 241 =
Other loans - - - - - 1 1
financial assets 46 49 - - 95 12,972 12,804
Fixed assets 1,073 147 44 - 1,176 13,381 13,232
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General information

The financial statemenis of Linde AG are prepared in accordance with Lhe provisions of the German Commercial -
Code (HGB) and the German Stock Corporation Law {AktG)

Where items 1n Lhe balance sheet and income statemeni have been combined under one heading to
tmprove the clanty of presentation, they have been disclosed separately 1n the Notes to the financial state-
ments The inceme statement has been prepared using the ¢osl of sales melhod

The amendments to the German Commercial Code adopied in the 2009 hinancial year as a resuli of 1he Ger-
man Accounting Law Reform Act {BilMoG) will be apphied by Linde AG from 1 January 2010 The new provisions
will result in sigruficant changes in the following areas pension pravisions, deferred tax, the measurement of —_—
foreign currency receivables and liabilities, and provisions

EXECUTIVE ROARD

[=]
Accounting pokicies g
g
Intangible assets acquired for @ consideration are stated at acquisition cost less accumulated amortisation
charged on a stratght-line basts -
Tangible assets are reported at acquisttion or manufactunng cost less depreciation based on the estimated .
useful life of the asset Estimated useful hves are as follows buildings 25 to 50 years, technical equipment g
and machinery 6 to 15 years, and fixtures, furniture and equipment 4 1o 10 years §
The declining balance methed s stili the main method used, although the straight-ine method is adopied M
if this leads to higher levels of depreciatien in the case of a permanent diminution tn the value of an asset to g
below Ils carrying amount, an impairment loss 1s recogmised and the asset is written down to us farr value g
Low-value assets are wriiten down in full in the year m which they are acquired If tax requlations aliow addr-
tional depreciation, this 1s applied
Shares in affiliated companies and related companies as well as non-current financial assets are staled at 3
the lower of cost and fair value =
Non-interest-beanng and low-interest loans are stated at the lower of present value and the value per- £
mitted for tax purposes g
Invenlories are stated at the lower of average acquisition or manufacturing cost and market value Manu- z

facturing cost includes both direct costs and indirect matenal and production costs Appropnate allowances
are made for inventory nisks ansing from the length of the storage penod and any reductions in usability

Receivables are reported at face value Non-interest-bearing and low-interest receivables are stated at the
lower of present value and the value permitted for tax purposes Recewvables in foreign currency are stated
if necessary at the rate ruling on the balance sheet date, where this is lower Recervables which are matched
by a currency hedge are reporied at the relevant forward exchange jate When measuning recevables and
other assets, allowances are made for identifiable risks

Liabilties are stated al their repayment amount Liabthities in foreign currency are reported at the hrgher of
the buying rate on the date the transaction was recorded and the rate ruling on the balance sheet date

Pension provisions are measured in accordance with [AS 19 The measurement of the provision was based
on an inlerest rale of 4 25 percent, a trend 10 salares of 2 5 percent and an expected inflation rate of 1 5 per-
cent

Other provisions are measured so as to take account of identifiable risks and obligations of uncertarn tim-
1ng of amount

To hedge against exposure 1o nterest rate and currency nsks, derivative financial instruments are also
used In the form of forward exchange transactions, options and swaps All denivative financia! mstruments
are concluded within fixed hmits on the basis of detailed guidelines and are used not anly for hedging pur-
poses but also to optimise financing Cash-generating units are created if possible For other denvative finan-
aral instruments, provisions are sel up in the case of negative far values

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Notes to the balance sheet

[1] Fixed assels

§ Movements in fixed assels are shown on the preceding pages

£ Non-current securittes include fong-term mvesiment secuntres which have been earmarked under the fidu-

g aary tiansfer to Linde Custodian e V /Vorsorge Akt Fonds e V These secussties held as fixed assets have

Z not suffered any loss 1n value al the balance sheet date In 2008, lhe securilies held as fixed assets suffered
8 temporary loss in value of EUR 3m

— In the reporting period, an impairment loss of EUR 49 m {2008 EUR 1 m) was recagmsed in respect of

- investments in affiliated companies Furthermore, an impairment less of EUR 3 m was fecognised in 2009 1n

S respect of assets in course of construction, which was due to a permanent diminution in value of the under

g lying assets

£ Land, land nghts and buildings of EUR 41 m (2008 EUR 41m} were pledged as security

£ Assets of the former subsidiary TV Kohlensdure Technik und Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG, Pullach, merged with
those of Linde AG from 27 August 2009 as a result of the retmement of the unlimited ltability partner as a

_— shateholder The carrying amounts in the company were amortised, giving fise 1o a loss of EUR 19m

g

£

£ [2) Inventories

[

F

£ in € million 3112 2009 31 12 2008

=

¥ Raw materials, consumables and supplies 20 30
Work In pregress 2,010 1,835

& Finished goods and merchandise 5 17

£ Prepayments 253 301

=

2 2,298 2,183

£

=

E
[3] Receivables and other assets

é in € mithion 31122009 3112 2008

Z Trade recetvables 126 187

2 0f which due 1n more than one year - 20

§ Amaunts due from affilialed companies 3313 428

0f which due in more than ane year - -

0f which relating to trade receivables 58 175

Amounts due from related companies 8 2

of which due 1n more than one year - -

-

0Of which relating to trade recervables 3 2

Other assets 53 97

o 0f which due in more than one year 17 -
520 T4

Included in Recewvables and other assets are financial receivables of EUR 206 m (2008 EUR 210m)
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[4] Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cheques in hand, cash in hand and cash at banks H also incfudes money
market funds which may fall due at any time

[5] Prepaid expenses and deferred charges

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges compnse mainly discounts on financial debt of EUR 2m (2008 EUR 3m)
with affiliated companies ssued in the course of post-acquisition restructuring within The Linde Group Also
included here are the prepaid fees for the forward start facility agreed in 2009

[6] Equity

Capital subscribed, authorised and conditionally authorised capital, subscription rights

The company’s subscnibed capital at the balance sheetl date amounts to EUR 437,402,165 76 and 1s fully paid
up itis dwided into 168,507,096 shares at a par value of EUR 2 56 per share The shares are bearer shares Each
share confers a voung nght and 15 entitled to dvidend the entitlement to dwidend can be excluded enher by
law {e g in the case of own shares} or by a provision of the articles of association, or by a resolution at the
annual General Meeting (e g In respect of the commencement of the dvidend entitfement of new shares in
the year of 1ssue if the shares are 1ssued prior to the Annual General Meeting)

In the 2009 hinancial year, 414,600 new shares were 1ssued out of 2002 conditionally authonised cap-
ital to service the Management Incentive Programme for executives Share capital increased as a resull
by EUR 1,061,376 Overall, share capital in the 2009 financial year increased from EUR 431,340,789 76 to
EUR 432,402,165 76

2009 2008
Number of shares at 1 Jan 168,492,496 166,347,428
exercise of convertible bond - 1,853,668
Exercise of stock option programme (MIP 2002) 414,600 291,400
Number of shares at 31 De¢ 168,907,096 168,492,496

Authonsed capital
Al 31 December 2009, the authonsed capital compnised the following

Authonsed Capitai |

The Executive Board was authonsed, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, Lo increase subscibed capy-
1al by up to EUR 25,106,534 40 until 7 June 2010 against cash contributions by 1ssuing, on one of more occa-
sions, new bearer shares, at a par value of EUR 2 56 The shareholders are granted subscription nights as a result
However, the Execulive Beard 1s entitled, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscrp-
tion rights of shareholders for the residual amounts, and to exclude subscription nights to the extent that hold-
ers of convertible bonds or warrant-linked bonds 1ssued by Linde AG or by any of its direct or indirect majosity-
owned subsidianes may be granied the subscription nghts to new shares 1o which they are entitled when they
exeraise thewr nighls of converston or eption nghts or settle the conversion ebligation, and exclude subscrip-
tien nights for an amount of EUR 3,500,000 to the extent necessary to 1ssue employee shares In addition, the
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Executive Board can, with the approval of Lhe Supervisory Board, exclude the subscription nights of sharehold-
ers for an amount of up to 10 percent of the capital subscribed available al the trme of the resolution cencern-
ing the use of Authortsed Capital I, provided the issue price of the new shares is not sigmificantly lower than
the price of shares traded on the stock exchange at the ime the issue prce 1s finally determined, which should
be as soon as possible after ithe placemeni of the shares The upper limit of 10 percent of the share capital Is
reduced by that proportien of the capital subscnbed which relates to own shares held by the company, which
were sold after the creation of this Authonsed Capital | while excluding the subscription nghts of sharehold-
ers in accordance with §§71 (1) No 8, sentence 5, 186 (3), senlence 4, of the German Stock Corporation Law
(AktG), and that proportion of the capital subscribed which relates to nights to subscnibe far shares which were
created while excluding subscrption nghts in accordance with §§ 221 (4), 186 (3), sentence 4, of the German
Stock Corporation Law (AkiG) The Executive Board was also authonsed to determine the remaining details of
the capital increase and its implementation, with the approval of the Supervisory Board The new shares can
also be transferied to certain banks specified by the Executive Board, which assume the responstbility of offer-
1ing them to shareholders (indirect subscription reghts)

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Authonised Capital It

The Executive Board was further authonsed, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase caplal sub-
sciibed by up to EUR 80,000,000 untd 4 lune 2012 agawnst cash ot nen-cash contributions by 1ssuing, on one ar
more eceasions, up to 31,250,000 new bearer shares, at a par value of EUR 2 56 The new shares must be offered
for subscription to the shareholders However, the Executive Board 1s entitled, with the approval of the Super-
visory Board, to exclude the subscription rights of shareholders for the residual amounts, and to exclude sub-
scription rights to the extent that holders of convertible bonds or warrant finked bonds issued by Linde AG or by
any of i1s direct or indirect subsidiaries may be granted the subscription nghts to new shares to which they are
entitled when Lhey exeraise their nghts of conversion or option nights or settie the conversion obligation More
over, the Execuuive Boardis authonsed, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 10 exclude the subscripuon
rghts of shareholders, provided Lhe 1ssue price of the new shares arising from a capital increase against cash
contributions 1s not signdicantly lower than the pnce of shares traded on the slock exchange at the Ume the
1ssue price 1s finally determined, which should be as soon as possible after the placement of the shares, and the
proportion of the capital subscribed constituted by the shares 1ssued does not exceed 10 percent of the capital
subscribed either when this authorisation becomes effeclive or when 1l 1s exercised In determening the capital
limit, account must be taken of that part of the capital subscnbed which relates to those shares which are used
to service options and/or convertible bonds This is only the case if the options and/or convertible bonds are
1ssued 1n accordance with § 186 {3}, sentence 4, of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) while excluding
the subscription nights of sharehoiders during the Iifetime of this authenisation Account must also be taken of
that past of the share captal winch relates to those shares which are 1ssued on the basis of authonsed capiial,
or sold after being repurchased as own shares, dunng the lifetime of 1his authonisation 1n accordance or compli-
ance with § 186 (3), sentence 4, of the German Stock Corporation Law (AKIG) The Executive Board 1s also autho-
nised, with the approval of the Supervisosy Board, to exclude subscription nights in the case of capilal increases
agamnst non-cash contnbutions, especially in the course of the acquisition of companies, businesses and invest-
ments, of mergers The Executive Board is authonsed to determine the remaining delails of the capital increase
and its implementation, with the approval of the Supervisory Board The new shares can also be transferred to
certain banks specified by the Executive Board, which assume the responsibility of offening them to sharehold-
ers (imdwrect subscrption nghts)
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Conditionally authonsed capital —
The conditionally authonsed captal at 31 December 2009 compnsed the foliowing

2000 conditionally authonsed capital

The 2000 conditionally authorised caprtal of EUR 25,071,910 40 was available 1o fund convertible bonds and
warrant-inked bonds which might be 1ssued by the company o1 1s direct or indirect majority-owned subsidiar-
1es until 16 May 2005 Subsequent to the issue of convertible bonds 1n May 2004 via Linde Finance B v, a fully-
owned subsidiary of Linde AG, which were fully converted i the 2008 financial year, no addriiona! convertible E—
bonds or watrant-hnked bonds were issued paiof to 16 May 2005, and the 2000 conditionally authonised capital
was abolished ai the Annual General Meeting on 15 May 2009

EXECUTIVE BOARD

2002 condstionally authensed capital
The 1ssued share capital can be increased by up o EUR 8,257,466 88, divided into 3,225,573 new shares with
a par value of EUR 2 56 If certain conditions are met It was resolved al the Annual General Meeting on 14 May
2002 1o create condionally authonsed capital of EUR 15,360,000, divided into 6,000,000 new shares The
Execuiive Board was authonsed, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 0 i1ssue by 14 May 2007 up to
6,000,000 subscreption nights to shares to members of the Executive Board of the company, members of the man-
agemenl boards of afiiliated companies as defined by §§ 15 ff of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) and
to selecied execulives, each with a term of seven years (Managemen! Incentive Programme) The Issued share
capital wtll only be increased if the holders of the option nghts 1ssued by the company, following the autho-
nisation given to the Executive Board at the Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2002, use their option nghis
and the company does not fulfil the option nghts by transferning own shares or by making a payment in cash
The new shares issued as a result of the exeruise of options are first entitled to dividend in the financia! year in
which, at the date of their issue, a resolution has not yvet been passed at the Annual General Meeting regard
ing the approprniation of profit

In the 2009 financia! yeas, eptions under the Management Incentive Programme were exercised As
a result, 2002 conditionally authorised capital was reduced by EUR 1,061,376 from EUR 9,318,842 88 to
EUR 8,257,466 88, dwided into 3,225,573 shares The issued share capiial increased in 2009 as a resull

MANAGEMINT REPORT ' CORPORATE GOVERNANCE l SUPERVISORY BOARD

2005 conditionaily authonsed capital

The 1ssued share capiial can be increased by up lo EUR 50,000,000 by the tssue of up to 19,531,250 new shares
with a pat value of EUR 2 561f certam conditions are met The increase in share capital will only take place o
the holders of the convertible bonds and warrant-finked bonds, to which were added convertible or warrant-
linked bonds to be 1ssued by Linde AG or 1ts direct or indirect majonty-owned subsidiartes by 7 June 2010, as a
result of the authonsation granted to the Executive Board by the resolution passed at the Annual General Meel-
ing on § June 2005, exerqse their conversion or option nghts or if the hofders or obligors of convertible bonds
10 be 1ssued by Linde AG of its direct of indiiect majority-owned subsidianes settle the conveision obligation
by 7 June 2010 as a result of the authonsation granted to the Execulive Board by the resolution passed at the
Annuat General Meeling on 8 june 2005 The new shares are 1ssued at the oplion or conversion price to be
determined i each case in accordance with the resolution regarding authornsation referred to above The new
shares participate in profil from the beqinning of the financial year in which they are 1ssued as a result of the
exercise of conversion or option nghts or settlement of the conversion oblhigation

FINARCIAL STATEMENTS

2007 conditionally authorised capiat

The issued share capital can be increased by up to EUR 9,000,000 by the sssue of up to 3,515,625 new bearer
shares with a par value of EUR 2 56 if certain condittons are met The conditionally authonsed increase n
capital 1s approved salely for the purpose of granting subscription nghts (share options) 10 members of the
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Executive Board of the company and other senior management in the company and in lower-level affiliated com-
panies within Germany and outside Germany, including members of executive bodies, i accordance with the
provisions set oul in the authorisation agreed at the Annual General Meeting on 5 june 2007 The conditionally
authorised share capital will only be issued if subscription nghts are exertised in accordance with the author-
sation granted and the company does not meei 1ts obligation in cash or with own shares The new shares will
participate 1 profit from the beginning of the financial year in which they are 1ssued If the 1ssue takes place
aftes the completion of a linancial yeas, but before the meeting of the Supervisory Board at which the resalu-
tion 1s passed regarding the appropnation of profit, the new shares ase also entitled to participate in the profit
of the last completed financial year

2008 conditionally avthorised capital

The 1ssued share capital ¢an be increased by up to EUR 85,000,000 00 by the tssue of up to 33,203,125 new
bearer shares with a par value of EUR 2 56 If certain conditions are met The increase in share capital will only
take place if (1) the holders and obligors of the convertible bonds and warrant-linked bonds, to which were
added convertible and/or warrant-linked bonds 10 be 1ssued by the company or by Group companies controlled
by the company by 2 June 2013, as a result of the authonisation granted 10 the Executive Board by the resolu-
tion passed at the Annual General Meeting on 3 june 2008, exercise their conversion or option rights or (it) if
the holders or obligors of convertible bonds to be tssued by the company or by Group compantes controlled by
the company by 2 June 2013, as a result of the authornisation granted to the Executive Board by the resolytion
passed at the Annual General Meeting on 3 June 2008, exercise ther canversion fights, afthough in cases (1) and
{n) only 1nsofar as own shares are not used for this purpose The new shares are I1ssued at the option or conver
sion price to be deiermined in each case in accordance with the resolution regarding autharisation referred to
above The new shares parlicipate 1n profit from the beginnung of the financial year in which they are 15sued as
a result of the exerase of conversion or opkton nghts or setilement of the conversion abligation The Executve
Board 15 authonsed {o determine the remaning details of the condittenally authonsed capital increase and its
implementation, with the approval of the Supervisory Board

Autharisation to purchase own shares
The Executive Board 15 authorised until 14 November 2010 by a resolution passed al the Annual General Meet-
Ing on 15 May 2009 1o acquire own shares up to 10 percent of capital subscribed at the date of the resolution
or, if fower, of the capital subscribed at the date the relevant authonisation 1s exercised

These shases may be purchased on the stock exchange, by way of a public puschase offes addressed to all
shareholders or by way of a public invitation to all shareholders to submit sale offers

The own shares acquired under this authorisation may

- be sold via the stock exchange or by an offer to all shareholders,

- subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, also be sold otherwise,

- subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, be offered and transferred in the context of the direct or
indirect acquistiion of companies, bustnesses of iavestments in companies and 1n the course of corporate
mergers,

= be appropnated o settle option and/or convertible bonds which the company or a direct or indirect subsid
13ry of the company has 1ssued or will 1ssue,

= be granted, in the case of a sale of acquired own shares by an offer to all shareholders, io holders of option
and/or conversion nghts 1ssued by the company os a direct or indrect subsidiary of the company i the same
amount as thal to which they would be entitled after exerasing the option and for conversion rights of after
settlement of a converston obligation,
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- be granted m fullment of the company’s obligations undes the Linde Managemen! Incentive Piogiamme
following the resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2002 (agenda item 8),

= be granied in fulfilment of the company’s cbligations under the Linde Performance Share Programme follow g
ing the resolution passed at the Antwal General Meeting on 5 lune 2007 (agenda tiem 7), or be tedeemed, -
subject 1o the appraval of the Superviscry Board g

E

The authorisation grven to the Executive Board to purchase own shares based on the resolution passed at the Annual

General Meeling on 3 June 2008 was revoked when the new authorisation became effective on 15 May 2009 —_—

e

€ 3112 2009 3112 2008 'é,

Capital subscribed 432,402,16576 431,340,789 76 g

Authonised capital (total) 105,106,534 40 105,106,534 40 §

Auvthorised Capiat | 25,106,534 40 25,106,534 40 @

Authonsed Capital |1 20,000,000 00 80,000,000 00 —_—

Conditionally authorised capltal (total) 152,257,466 88 178,390,753 28 ]

z

Conditionally authorised capital 2000 000 25,073,910 40 g

Condrionally authorised capital 2002 8,257,466 88 9,318,842 88 §

Conditicnally authonsed capital 2005 50,000,000 0C 50,006,000 GO é

Conditignally authorised capital 2007 ¢.000,000 00 9,000,000 00 %

Conditionally authorised caprial 2008 85,000,000 00 85,000,000 00 —_—

g

Notification of voting nights =

The fallowing notificalions were received by the company in the 2009 financial year from investors who have ]

exceeded or fallen below certam threshold percentages of veting nghts set out 1n §21 (1) and {13) of the g

German Secunties Trading Law (WpHG) E

1 Allianz SE

Allianz SE, Munich, Germany, informed us In witing on 8 December 2008 that it was revising its notification of
voting nghts dated 2 October 2008 Allianz SE informed us i accordance with § 21 (1) WpHG that the share of
voting nghts in Linde AG held by Allianz SE fell below the 5 percent threshold on 30 September 2008 and was
now 4 41 percent {7,423,081 voting nights) These voting nights are attnbutable to Allianz SE in accardance with
§22 (1), sentence 1, No 1 WpHG via the following companies controlled by Allianz SE, which each have vating
nghts in Linde AG of 3 percent ar more Aliianz Deutschiand AG, Munich, Jota-Vermdgensverwaltungsgesellschaft
mbH, Munich, Alianz Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart, and AZL-Alico Yermodgensverwaliungsgesellschaft mbH,
Mumich (which merged with Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG with effect from 31 October 2008)

In addition, Alhanz SE informed us in accordance with §21 (1) WpHG in conjunctton with §24 WpHG that the
share of voting nghis in Linde AG held by Allianz Deutschiand AG, Munich, Germany, lell below the 5 percent
threshold on 30 September 2008 and was now 4 30 percent (7,246,635 voting nights) These voting nights are
attrtbutable to Allianz Deutschland AG in accordance with § 22 (1), sentence 1, No 1 WpHG and are held by
Allianz Deutschland AG via the [ollowing companies controlled by Allanz Deutschland AG, which each have
voting nghts in Linde AG of 3 percent or more Jota-Vermdgensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich, Allianz
Lebensversicherungs-AG, Styltgart, and AZL-Alico Vermdgensverwaltungsgeselischaft mbH, Munich (which
merged with Allanz Ltebensversicherungs-AG with effect from 31 October 2008)

2 BlackRock Financial Management Inc , New York, USA
BlackRock Financial Management, Inc, New York, USA, informed us in wnttng on 7 Decernber 2009 in accor-
dance with §§21 (1) and 24 WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG held by BlackRock Financial Man-
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agement, Inc exceeded the 3 percent threshold on 1 December 2009 and was now 3 14 percent (5,291,730
voting nghts) Al the voling nghts are atinbutable to BlackRock financial Management, Inc 1n sccordance with
§22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 n conjunction with sentence 2 WpHG

BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc, New York, USA, informed us in writing on 7 December 2009 tn accordance with
£§ 21 (1} and 24 WpHG that the share of voling nighis 1n Linde AG held by BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc exceeded
the 3 percent threshold on 1 December 2009 and was now 3 14 percent (5,291,730 voling nights) All the vot
ing rights are attnibutable to BlackRock Holdco 2, Inc, New York, USA, in accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1
No 6 1n conunction with sentence 2 WpHG

BiackRack, inc, New York, USA, informed us 1n wniting on 7 December 2009 in accardance with §§21 (1)
and 24 WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG held by BlackRock, Inc, exceeded the 3 percent
threshold on 1 December 2009 and was now 3 23 percent (5,448,338 voting rights) All the voling rights are
attributable 1o BlackRock, Inc 1n accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 tn conjunction with sentence 2
WpHG

3 Capital World Growth and Income Fund, Inc

Caprtal Woild Growth and income Fund, Inc, Los Angeles, USA, informed us in waiting on 15 May 2009 In accor-
dance with § 21 (1) WpHG that the share of voling rights in Linde AG held by Capual Ward Growth and Income
Fund, Inc exceeded the 3 percent threshold on 13 May 2009 and was now 3 01 percent (5,074,885 voling
nights}

4 Capital Research and Management Company

Capital Research and Management Company, Los Angeles, USA, informed us in writing on 12 June 2007 in accor
dance with §§21 (1), 22 (1) WpHG that the share of voling rights in Linde AG held by Capital Research and
Management Company fefl betow the 10 percent threshold on 6 June 2007 At that date, Capital Research and
management Company held 9 93 percent of all the voling nghts 0 Linde AG {voting rights from 15,981,010
ordinary shares)

993 percent of all the voling nghts in Linde AG (voting nghts from 15,981,010 ordmary shares) were aitrib-
ulable to Capital Research and Management Company 1n accordance with §22 (1), sentence § WpHG Of Lthese
voting nights from 15,981,010 ordinary shares, voling rights from &,066,708 ordinary shares (5 01 percent) are
held by Europacific Grawth Fund, Los Angeles, USA, which is therefore a shareholder with an intetest of 3 pes
cent or more of the voting rights in Linde AG

Europacific Growth Fund, Los Angeles, USA, informed us tn wrniting on 18 July 2007 i accordance with
§21 (1) WpHG that the share of voling nghts in Linde AG, Abraham-Lincoin-Strasse 21, 65189 Wiesbaden,
Germany, held by Europaafic Growth Fund fell below the 5 percent thresheld on 9 July 2007 2nd was now
499 percent {8,066,708 shares)

5 Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft
Commerzbank Aktiengeseilschaft, Frankfurt am Main, Germany, informed us in wiiting on 24 March 2009 1n
accordance with §21 (1) WpHG that the share of voling nghts tn Linde AG held by Commerzbank Akliengesell-
schaft fell below the 3 percent threshold on 24 March 200% and was now 2 25 percent (3,788,942 voting nghts)
2 21 percent of these voting nghts (3,720,060 voung rights) are atiributable to Commerzbank Aklengeselischaft
in accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 1 WpHG

In addition, Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft aiso informed us in accordance with §23 (118 conpunciion
with § 24 WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG held by Atlas-Vermogensverwaliungs-Gesellschaft
mit beschrdnkier Haftung, Bad Homburg, Germany, fell below the 3 percent threshold on 24 March 2009 and
was now 2 21 percent (3,720,000 voting nghts)

6 Fidehty International

Fideltly Management & Research Company, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, informed us i writing on 30 January
2009 in accordance with §21 () WpHG that the share of vating rights in Linde AG held by fidelity Manage

ment & Research Company fel] below the 3 percent thresheld on 29 January 2009 and was now 2 99 percent
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(5,039,867 voting nighls) The voting nghts are atinbutable to Fidelity Management & Research Company in
accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 WpHG

FMR LLC, Boslon, Massachuselts, USA, informed us in writing on 6 May 2009 in accordance with §21 (1)
WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG hetd by FMR LLC fell betow the 3 percent threshold on 4 May
2009 and was now 2 13 percent (3,587,579 voting rrghts) All the voting rights are attributable to FMR LLC in
accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 in conjunction with §22 (1) senience 2 WpHG

7 Northern Cross investment Ltd

Natthern Cross invesiment Ltd, Hamilton, Bermuda, informed us in wiking on 28 April 2009 that it was withdraw-
ing ils notification of voting nghts dated 5 December 2008, in which it was stated that Northern Cross invest-
ment Ltd had exceeded the 3 percent threshold of vouing rights in Linde AG Northern Cross Investment Ltd did
not exceed any notfrable Lhreshold The publication on 11 December 2008 was therefore corrected

8 Sun Ule financial Ing
Sun Life Financial Inc, Toronto, Canada, informed us in writing on 27 January 2009 in accordance with §21 (1)
WPpHG that the share of voting nights 1n Linde AG held by Sun Life Financial Inc exceeded the 5 percent thresh-
old on 26 January 2009 and was now 5 1325 percent (8,647,941 voling nghts) 5 1098 percent of the voting
nghts (8,609,626 voting nghs) are attnbuiable to Sun Life Financial Ing 1 accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1
No 6 WpHG In comjunction with §22 (1), sentence 2 WpHG 0 0227 percent of the volting nights (38,315 voling
nghts) are attnbutable to Sun Life Financial inc i accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 1 WpHG None of
the attnibuted voting nghts reach the 3 percent threshold of voting nights in Linde AG on their cwn

Sun Life Global invesiment Inc , Toronto, Canada, informed us in writing on 27 January 2009 in accordance
with § 21 (1) WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG held by Sun Life Global Investment Inc exceeded
the 5 percent threshold on 26 January 2009 and was now 51098 percent (8,609,626 voling nights) These
voling nghts are attnbutable to Sun Life Global investment inc n accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6
WPHG in conjunction with § 22 (1), sentence 2 WpHG Naone of the attributed voting nghts reach the 3 percent
threshold of voting nghts in Linde AG on their own

Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada - U S Operations Holdings, in¢ , Wellesley Hills, USA, informed us in
writing on 27 january 2009 1n accordance with §21 {1} WpHG that the share of voling rights in Linde AG held
by Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada- US Operations Holdings, inc exceeded the 5 percent threshold
on 26 fanuary 2009 and was now 51098 percent (8,609,626 voling rights) These voting nghts are attnbuted
10 Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada - U'S Operations Holdings, tnc n accordance with § 22 (1), sen-
tence 1 No 6 WpHG in conjunction with § 22 (1), sentence 2 WpHG None of the atiributed voting rights reach
the 3 percent threshold of voting rights in Linde AG on their own

sun Life financial (U S ) Holdings, Inc, Wellesley Hills, USA, informed us in writing on 27 January 2009 in
accordance with §21 (1) WpHG that the share of voting nights in Linde AG held by Stn Life Financial (US)
Holdings, Inc exceeded the 5 percent threshold on 26 January 2009 and was now 5 1098 percent (8,609,626
voling nghts) These voting nghts are attributable to Sun Life financial (U S ) Holdings, Inc +n accordance with
§22 (1), sentence t No 6 WpHG 1n conjuncuion with §22 (1), sentence 2 WpHG None of Lhe atinbuted voting
nghts reach the 3 percent threshold of voting rights in Linde AG on their own

sun Life finanaial (U S ) Investments LLC, Wellesley Hills, USA, informed us 10 writing on 27 January 2009
In accordance with § 21 (1} WpHG that the share of voting nghts in Linde AG held by Sun Life Financial (U 5 )
tavestments LLC exceeded the 5 percent threshold on 26 January 2009 and was now 5 1098 percent (8,609,626
vouing rights} These voting rights are attributable te Sun Life Fipancial (U § } Investments LLC in accordance
with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 WpHG in conjunction with § 22 {1), sentence 2 WpHG None of the attnibuted
voting nghts reach the 3 percent threshold of voting nights in Linde AG on their own

Sun Life of Canada (U $ ) Financial Services Holdings, Inc, Boston, USA, informed us in writing on 27 Jan-
uary 2009 in accordance with § 21 (1) WpHG that the share of voting nghts in Linde AG held by Sun Life of
Canada (U S ) Financial Services Holdings, Inc exceeded the 5 percent threshold on 26 January 2009 and
was now 5 1098 percent (8,609,626 voting rights) Fhese voting nghts are attributable to Sun Uife of Canada
(U s ) Financial Services Heldings, Inc 1n accordance with §22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 WPHG mn conjunctron with
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§22 (1), sentence 2 WpHG None of the attitbuted voting nghts reach the 3 percent threshold of voling nghts
in Linde AG on therr gwn

Massachusetis Financial Services Company (MFS), Boston, USA, informed us in wrthing on 27 January 2009
In accordance with §21 (1) WpHG that the share of voting rights in Linde AG held by Massachusetts Finan
«ial Services Company (MFS), Boston, USA, exceeded the 5 percent thresheld on 26 January 2009 and was
now 51098 percent {8,60%,626 voting nghts) These vating nghts are attributable to Massachusetts Financial
Services Company (MFS) in accordance with § 22 (1), sentence 1 No 6 WpHG None of the atinbuted voting
nghts reach the 3 percent threshold of voting nights in Linde AG on their own

[7] Proviston for pensions and similar obligations

The measurement of the pension provisions 1s 1n accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits rather than the
rules set oul in §6 a of the German Income Tax Law (ESIG) It 1s based on  discount rate of 4 25 percent, 2 sal-
ary trend of 2 5 percent and an expected inflalion rate of 15 percent

[8] Other provisions

in € million 3112 2009 3112 2008
Tax provisions 33t 321
Sundry provisions 553 530

884 851

Sundry provisions include amounts set aside for

= outstanding invoices and 1avoices for goods and services which have not yet been recetved,
= personnel expenses,

= warranty obhgations and risks refating to transactions In the course of completion and

- other obligations and nisks from current transactions

The provisions for obligations in Linde AG relating to pre-retirement part-ime work are calculated on the basis
of individua! contractual agreements Tax provisions have increased as a result of tax audts which have not yet
been completed and the recognition of current tax in the 2009 financial year
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[9] Liabilities
&
Due within Due in Due in more Total Total ]
1 year 1105 years than 5 years ¥
in € million 3112 2009 3112 2009 31 12 2009 3112 2009 3112 2008 s
Advance payments received from customers - r - 724 970 =
Bank loans and overdrafts - - - - -
Trade payables 140 - - 140 192
Amounts due 1o affilated companies 87 2,159 917 3,947 3,895 2
=
of which releting to goods and services 67 - - 67 150 z
=3
Amounts due to related companies - - - - i £
Of which relating to goods and services - - - - 1 ]
Other liabilitles 45 ) - 51 86
including taxes of 22 - - 22 26
including social security of 4 ~ - 4 6 g
Liabilities 1,056 2,889 917 4,862 5,144 £
i
Ltabthties include financial liabilities of EUR 3,842 m (2008 EUR 3,684m) Of these, EUR 3,143 m (2008 é
EUR 3,331 m) relate 1o our fully-owned subsidary Linde Finance 8 V The amount due to Linde Finance B V g
inctudes the subordmated bond 1sseed 1n 2006 In two tranches and the habilities ansing from the partial financ-
ing of the BOC acquisiiion In the 2008 financial year, a EUR 600 m bond was raised in the capital market by Linde
Finance B v and wransterred to Linde AG as 3 loan 5
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Notes to the mncome statement

- [10] Sales
% The tables below show an analysts of sales by division and by geagraphucal region
g
z sales - Analysis by divisian
. 1n € milllon 2009 2008
Linde Gas 1,14 1,232
% Linde Engineerning 1,351 1,502
z Consohidation -26 -53
% 2,439 2,681
£
u Sales — Analysis by geographical regicn
g 1n € million 2009 2008
g Germany 1,052 1,280
g Other Europe 484 490
g
] Americas 105 103
Asla 763 708
. Africa 5 &5
g Australia 30 35
% 2,439 2,681
Z
[11] Other operating Income
_g i € mtilllon 2009 2008
z Profit on disposal of fixed and current assels 7 13
g Exthange rate gains 172 575
§ Income from the release of special tax-aliowable reserves - 16
- Income from the release of provisions 75 59
Revenve from commercial business, rentals and leases " 12
Charges to Group compames 82 57
financial resuli from long-term construction centracts 24 36
Sundry income 28 20
399 788

Exchange rate gains fell in 2009 by EUR 403 m to EUR 172m This 15 due manly to the transfer to Group com-
panies of foreign currency loans and defnvatives to hedge agamnst the exposure 1o translation nsk i The Linde
Group

The financial result from long-term construction contracts 1s included in Other operating income Interest
which does not relate to long-lerm constiuction contracts 1s disclosed tn the finanaial result
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[12] Other operating expenses B

o
1n € mulion 2009 2008 §
Loss on disposals ol fixed and current assets 6 7 é
Exchange rate losses 110 546 E
Charges by Group compantes Y -
Loss ansing on merger 19 - -
Sundry expenses 63 23 o
229 576 ;ﬁ
txchange rate losses fell 1n 2009 by EUR 436m 10 EUR 110 m Thus s due mawnly Lo the transfer to Gioup com- z
panies of foreign currency loans and derivatives to hedge against the exposure to translation nsk in The Linde -
Group -
The loss of EUR 19 m is the resuli of the merger of TV Kohlens&ure Technik und Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG, Pul- w
lach, with Linde AG on the retirement of the limited hability partner §
2
[13] investment income §
n € million 2009 2008 e
Income from profit-sharing sgreements 172 17 =
Investment income 203 169 £
of which from affiliated companies 203 169 E
375 286 g
z
3
Investment income inciudes distnbutions received in the current year from subsidiaries of Linde AG
14] Profit on disposal of investments _%
=
in 2008, further steps were taken in the post-acquisition restructunng of The Linde Group Moreover, Linde AG z
sofd its valve production facility, MAPAG Valves GmbH, on 7 May 2008 to the international technology group ?‘z_:

Metso, Finland These transacuions resulted in a profit on disposal of investments in 2008 of EUR 107 m

=
=
=
=
=
o
=
=
=
=
]
T
=
3
=
=

|




EXECUTIVE BOARD

i LUPERVISORY BOARD

TORPORATE GOVERNANCE

I MARAGEMEINT RTPORT

FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS

SURTHER INFORMATION

074

tinde AG Financial Statements 2009
NOVES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary tnformation on the Kates

Supplementary information on the Notes

{15] Contingent llabilities/0ther financial commitments

Contingent frabilities

in € muflion 2009 2008
Guarantees 249 264
Warranties 7,886 6,788

0of which relating to aflillated companies 8,128 7,035

Liabtlites in respect of warranties comprise mamly amounts issued by Linde Finance 8 v under the Debt lssy-
ance Programme (total volume EUR 10bn})

In 1ts capacity as the holding company of The Linde Group, Linde AG assumes warranty obligations on
behalf of its subsidiznies Some of these warranttes are performance watranties, especially in the Linde Engt-
neering thvision Others are guarantees issued on behalfl of individual affihated companies cutside Germany
that those companies will continue as going concerns

Other financial commitments
The lotal amount of other financial commitments at 31 December 2009 1n Linde AG was FUR 114 m (2008
EUR 162m) This relates to commitments arising from rental and lease agreements, capiial expenditure commit-
ments, call-in oblhigations and similar business transactions

The Linde Engneening Diviston tegulatly enters into contracts with consertium partners to build turn-
key industrial plants, under which the consoritum partners assume Joint ang severat ltability 1o the customer
for the tota! volume of the cantract There are clear internal rules here as lo how the habihity should be split
belween the pariners Al present, there are plant construclion orders with our consortium partners tolatling
EUR 1,049m (2008 EUR 1,692m) Linde currently anticipates that there will be no daim on the joint and sev-
eral hability and has therefore not disclosed any cantingent habilitres in respect of these conlracts

[16] Auditors’ fees and services

in € mitlion 2009 2008
Audlt 1 2
Other reports 1 1
Other services - -
2 3

[17] Cost of matenials
in € milhion 2009 2008
Cost of raw materials and supplies and goods purchased for resale 1,364 1,369
Cost of exlernal services i79 172
1,543 1,541
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[18] Personnel expenses

In € million 2009 2008
Wages and salaries 431 419
Social security contributions 60 56
Pension costs and staif welfare costs 59 62
Of which from pension costs 59 62
550 537

{19] Employees

The average number of employees {part-ime employees pro-rata) can be allocated to the different functions
of the company as lollows

2009 2008

Linde Gas Division 2,683 2,718
Linde Engineering Division 2,788 2,751
Corporate Centre 251 240
Linde AG 5,722 5,710

{20] Share option scheme

Linde Performance Share Programme 2007
It was resolved at the Annual General Meeting of Linde AG held on S {une 2007 to introduce a pedormance
share programme for management (Long Term Incentive Plan 2007 -~ 1TIP 2007), under which up ta 3 Smilhon
options can be 1ssued over a total penod of frve years

The am of LTIP 2007 15 1o present Linde management worldwide with meaningtul performance cntenia and
to encourage the long-term loyally of cur management personnel

Partiipants are granted options on an annual basis to subscribe to Linde shares, each with a maximum
term of three years, two months and two weeks The Supervisory Board determines the allocation of options
to the members of the Executive Board of Linde AG Otherwise, the Executive Board determunes the partici-
pants in the scheme and the number of options to be 1ssued

Each option confers the night to purchase ane share In Linde AG at the exercise price, which is equivalent
in each case 1o the lowest 1ssue price of EUR 2 56 per share Linde AG may decde, at its own discretion, 2t any
time until the begnning of the exercise period, that the option entitlements of the option holders may be met
by providing own shares of making a payment in cash instead of issuing new shares cut of the share capital
conditionally authonsed for this purpose These arrangements allow for flexibility in the exercise of options
It may make economic sense to use own shares where these are available, rather than increasing share capr-
1al or making a payment in cash The decision as to how the option entitlements will be met will be made 1n
each case by the appropnate executive bodies of the company

Certain conditions apply to the exercise of the options Firstof all, the option conditions provide for a qual-
ifying penod {vesting penod) for the share optrons of three years from their date of 1ssue Al the end of this
vesling penod, the options ¢an be exercised within a period of four weeks, on condition that the membes
of the plan s still employed at that ime by Linde AG or by a Group company under a sesvice or employment
agreemenl and that he o1 she 1s nol uader notice In special cases whese a member of the scheme leaves
Linde's employ prematurely, an exception to the above rules may be made Under certain conditions, the exer-
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ase penod may be shortened or the vesting peniod lengthened, although the term of the individual tranches
may not exceed the maximem term of three years, two months and two weeks Options tn a lianche may only
be exercised at the end of the vesting penod f and to the extent that the three performance 1argets laid down
have been met A performance target may be met irrespective of whether the other performance targets have
been met Inctuded in the definition of the performance targets are minimum targets and stretch targets, the
fulftiment of which resufts in a different number of exercisable optiens in the tranche

A 40 percent weighting applies to the “adjusted earnings per share” performance target The minimum tar-
get 1s reached if the adjusted diluted earnings per share achieve a compound annual growth rate {CAGR) of
7 percent duning the vesting penod The stretch target 1s reached if a CAGR of 12 percent 1s achieved H the

EXECUTIVE BOARD

§ minimum target is reached, 10 percent of the options m a tranche may be exerased and, if the stretch target 1s
= reached, 40 percent of the options i a tranche H the CAGR 1s between these two target figures, the number of
g options that may be exeraised 15 determined on a straight-line basis between these two percentage rates
g A 30 percent weighting applhies to the “absolute total shareholder return” performance target The mintmum
- larget 1s reached 1If the total shareholder return during the vesting pernod 15 20 percent of the initial value
R The stretch target is reached If the total shareholder return i1s 40 percent If the mirmum tasget 1s reached,
= 75 percent of the options in a tranche may be exercised and, if the stretch target i1s reached, 30 percent of
] the options in a tranche If the total shareholder return 1s between these two target figures, the number of
% options that may be exescised 1s determined on a straight-line basis between these two percentage rates
= The first compaonent of total shareholder return over the three-year penod is the change in the share price of
§ Linde AG over the vesting penod, which 1s determined by comparing the average closing price of Linde shares
] on the Jast 20 stock exchange trading days in the Xeira trading system of the Frankfunt Stock Exchange before
the i1ssue date of the options in the relevant tranche and the average closing price of Linde shares on the [ast
20 stock exchange trading days in the Xetra trading system before the third last stock exchange trading day
= before the exercise pernod The other components of total shareholder return are dividends pad and the value
% of any statutory subscniption rights relating to the share (e g as a result of Increases tn share capital)
g A 30 percent weighting apples to the “relative 1otal shareholder return” perlormance target The mimmum
g target 1s reached if the total shareholder return of the Linde AG share exceeds the median of the control group
3 {DAX-30) duning the vesting pentad The stretch target 1s reached if the total shareholder return of the Linde AG

share 15 in the upper quartile of the control group (DAX-30) during the vesuing period i the mimimum target
is reached, 75 percent of the oplions in a tranche may be exercised and, 1if the stretch target is reached, 30
percent of the oplions in a ranche )i the 101al sharehelder return is between these iwe target higures, the
number of options that may be exerused 15 determined on a straight-hne basis between these two percent-
age rates When total shareholder return 1s calculated, the same comments apply as for the “absolute total
shareholder return” perloimance target
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Movements in the oplions issued under the LTIP 2007 were as follows

options Linde Performance Share Programme 2007

ETIP - amount

options

AL01 01 2008 526,380
Optlons granted 460,787
Exercised -
Forferted 15,734
Explred -
At31122008/01 01 2009 971,433
Of which exercisable at 31 12 2008 -
Optlons granted 737,480
Exercised -
Forieted 11,671
Expired -
At 3112 2009 1,697,242

Of which exercisable at 31 12 2009 -

Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002
It was resolved at the Annual General Meeting of Linde AG held on 14 May 2002 to introduce a share option
scheme for management {Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002), under which up to six mililon sub-
scription nghts could be ssued The Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002 expired 1n the 2006 finan-
wal year

The aim of this share optien scheme was to allow Linde executives to participate tn price rises in Linde
shares and thereby in the increase in value of the company Partiipants were granted options to subscribe to
Linde shares, each with a term of seven years The Supervisory Board determined the allocation of subscrp-
tion nghts to members of the Executive Board of Linde AG Otherwise, the Executive Board, with the approval
of the Supervisory Board, determines the number of options te be 1ssued

The options confer the nght {o subscribe 1o shares in Linde AG at the exeicise price The exercise prce for
acquiring new shares in Linde AG 1s 120 percent of the base price The base price s the average closing price
of Linde shares in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange over the last five days before the 1ssue date
of the eptrons The establishment of the exercise price also fullils the lega requirement for a performance tar-
get linked to the nise 1 the share price of the campany i1 only makes economic sense to exercise the option if
the share price exceeds the exeraise price Setting a performance target of a 20 percent Increase In share price
hnks the motivation of the participants in the share option scheme closely with the interests of the sharehold-
ers, who are seeking to achieve a medium-term increase in the value of the company

The option conditions provide for a qualifying peniod for the share options of two years from their date of
1ssue At the end of this peniod, the opttons can be exercised durning the entire option term, i e during the five
years fiom the end of the qualfying penod, excluding any blocked pernods These are the periods from three
weeks before to two days after the public reporting dates of the company, and the last two weeks before the
end of the hnancial year until two days after the announcement of the annual results, and 14 weeks before
until the third banking day after the Annual General Meeting In order to meet the option entitlements of the
option holders, Linde AG may elect to provide own shares which It has repurchased in the matket, of 1o 1ssue
new shares oul of the share capital conditionally authonsed for this purpose or, inslead of providing new
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shares, to make a payment in cash per optron which represents the difference between the exercse price and
the Xetra closing price of Linde shares on the exercise date These arrangements allow for llexihity m the
exeraise of the subscription nights It may make economic sense lo use own shaies where these are available,
rather than increasing share capital or making a payment i cash The decssion as to how the option entitle-
ments will be met will be made In each case by the approprale executive bodies of the company, which will
be guided solely by the interests of the sharehelders and of the campany For share oplions issued ta mem-
bers of the Executive Board, it 1s envisaged that, with effect from the 2004 tranche, the Supervisory Board
will be able to decide to restrict the exercise of the options, If there are exceptional unforeseen movements
in the price of Linde shates This was not the case in the 2008 and 2009 financial years

Participation m the Linde Management Incentive Programme requires no investment from the executives
entitled lo oplions Instead, it 1s an additional component of then remuneration package

EXCCUTIVE BOARD

Movements in the options issued under the Linde Management incentive Programme were as follows

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Options - Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002

% Total Average exercise

g price in EUR

§ ALO1 01 2008 3,281,373 6554

§ Opttons granted - -

N Exercised 291,400 56 86
- forietted 4000 8176
;s__ Exptred - -

";‘ At 31 12 2008/01 01 2009 2,985,973 6637

g Of which exercisable at 3112 2008 2,985,973 -

g Optiens granied - -
Exercised 414,600 7233

- forfeited 1,000 8176
£ Expired 140,650 5690

2 A 3112 2009 2,429,723 7018

2 0f which exercisable at 31 12 2009 2,429,723 -

As a resuli of the exeraise of 414,600 options (2008 291,400}, capital subscribed increased in 2009 by EUR 1m
(2008 0my) and the capital reserve by EUR 19m {2008 EUR 17m}

[21] Denvative financial instruments

Linde AG Is exposed to interest rate nisks and currency rsks in the course of its operating activities These nisks
are reduced by the use of denvatives There are uniform guidelines as 1o the use of denvatives, and comphance
with these guidelmes 15 constantly momiored

The main denvatives used in Linde AG are interesl rate swaps, combined interest rate/currency swaps and
forward exchange transactions Cccasionally, options are alse used
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Denvative finantial mstruments in Linde AG are generally 1ecoided on the \rading day i accordance with the
provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB) Negative fair values are iecognised i provisions according

1o the principle of the lower of cost or market, while positive fair values are not recognused untl they are rea- g
Ised ;
If an asset or hability 1s hedged, the denvative and the underlying transaction are valued together 5
Provisions amounted to EUR 24m (2008 EUR 40 m) Of this amount, EUR 6 m (2008 FUR 38m) related to E
forward exchange transactions and EUR 18m (2008 EUR O m}) 1o swap transactions No provisions were made
in 2009 for commodity dernivatives (2008 EUR 2 m) _—
In addition, no premiums (2008 premiums of EUR 9 m) were recogmised in habilities under Other liabihities -
and written off over the life of the instrument z
=
Counterparty risks g
Linde AG does not believe 1t has any significant exposure 1o counterparty nsk ansing from any individual coun- g
terparty The concentration of the counterparty nisk 1s imited due to our broad uncorrelated customer base The -
counterparty nsk from dernivative financial instruments 1s imited due to the fact that the counterparties are banks —_—
which have good credit ratings from international rating agencies In addition, an early warning and monitor- w
g system has been implemented The nsk pestiions ocutsianding are subject to stict Umms and are conting- E
ally monsored £
o
Currency risks g
unde AG generally enters into forward exchange contiacts to hedge the exposure to nisks ansing from flucty- (S
auions in recetvables, payables and habiltties denominated 1n foreign currencies, as well as from outstanding
contracts and anticipated transactions
Linde AG sometimes adopts a portioko approach for foreign currency risks ansing from project business £
in the Linde Engineering Division Unde this appraach, the individual nsks are matched centratly and the net %
position ss hedged using forward exchange transaclions or FX options £
Forward exchange transactions are also used 1o hedge the exposure to loreign currency risks ansing from g
internal finanaing in addition, Linde AG held some financial instruments 1n 2008 for the purpose of hedg- =
Ing translation nsks centrally within The Linde Group These were transferred In 2009 1o Group companies in
The Linde Group
3
Inferest rate nisks z
Linde AG 15 refinanced mainly through the 1ssue of bonds and medium-term notes tn various currencies by Linde g
Finance B V Linde hedges the exposure to the resulting future interest rate and currency nsks by entening into =
appropniate interest rate and combined interest rate /currency swaps g

At the Linde AG level, caprial market habilities passed on are hedged Interesl rate swaps are used for
this, which have the effect of transformuing liabiltties at vaniable interest rates into fixed-interest liabilities or
vice versa

Due to the centralised management of interest rate nsks, Linde AG also holds some denvative financial
nstruments which are used to hedge the exposure Lo interesl rale nisks of kabilities within The Linde Group
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Measurement information for financtal instruments
The {air value of financial instruments is determined using stock exchange prices, reference prices (e g ECB rel-
erence prices) of recogmised calculation models The calculations are based on the followtng interest curves

interest curves

in% EUR uso GBP 1PY AUD SEK RUB OKK
2009

Interest rate for six months 099 037 078 042 442 064 775 i 64
Interest rate for one year 128 064 102 047 467 077 738 188
interest rate for five years 277 292 343 070 582 28 795 316
Iriterest rate for ten years 354 392 415 141 621 353 795 381
2008

Interest rate for stx months 302 170 275 123 378 245 2250 391
Interest rate for one year 258 123 202 079 i 180 1675 404
Intesest rate for hive years 318 205 319 094 328 276 16 50 361
Interest rate for ten years in 243 351 126 431 in 16 50 3188
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The nominal amounts represent the total purchase and sale amounts of the denvatives At the balance sheet
date, the tair values and nominat amounts were as lollows

(=]
Zz
2
£
5 Fair value of denivative financial instruments - Assets
- Non-current Curient Total
Due in one to live years  Due m more than live years Due within one year

in € mitlon 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
[=]
Z Forward exchange transactions 24 4 - 1 78 169 102 174
.|
g Foreign curiency options - - - - - 14 - 14
i‘ Swap transactions 49 41 34 104 2 - 85 142
S Commodities - - - - - - - -

73 45 34 102 80 183 187 330

H
=z
%“ Fair value of derivative finanual instruments - Liabilities
w
3 Non-current Current Total
§ Dueinone to five years  Due in more than five years Due withtn one yeas
w

in € million 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 1008 2009 2008

Forward exchange transaclions 26 5 - i 74 19 100 125
g Forelgn currency oplions - - - - - 14 - 14
= Swap lransactions 21 15 4 - 2 - 27 15
g Cemmadities - - - - - 7 . 2
-5
g 47 20 4 1 76 135 127 156
£
3
=
=
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=
£
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g
;
Nominal amounts - Assets z
Non-current Current Total &
Due In one to five years  Due in more than five years Due within one year .
in € million 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Forward exchange transactions 545 106 - 4 2,561 2,207 3,106 2,317 g
Foreign currency aptions - - - - - 161 - 161 E
Swap transactions 1,340 1,159 525 1,083 32 7 1,897 2,249 g
Commodities - - - - - - - - 2
1,885 1,265 525 1,087 2,593 2,375 5,003 4,727 o
Nominal amuounts - Liabilities g
Naon current Current Total %
Due in one to five years  Due in more than five years Due within one year §
in € million 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 1008 -
Forward exchange transactions 601 i02 - 4 2,389 1,724 2,950 1,830 T
Foreign CUfFency options - - - - - 161 - 161 g
Swap lransactions 557 225 354 3 78 - 939 228 =
Commodsies - - - - - 4 - 4 g
1,158 327 354 7 2,417 1,889 3,929 2,223 %
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[22] Additional information about the Supervisory Board and Executive Board

5

[=]

5 Supervisory Board

E in the 2009 financial year, the tolal emoluments of the members of the Supervisory Board for dischargrng their
duties in the parent company and in the subsidianies, including VAT, was EUR 2,070,362 (2008 EUR 2,485,438)

-_ of this amount, EUR 999,600 (2008 EUR 1,109,707) related to fixed emoluments and EUR 1,033,872 (2008

- EUR 1,331,700) to vanable emoluments

= Al 31 December 2009 and at the previous year-end, there were no advances or loans 10 members of the

= Supervisory Board Moreover, the members of the Supervisory Board received no emoluments or benefits for

: any personal services they had ptovided, such as consultancy or mediation services

2

_ Executive Board

g Emoluments of the Executive Board

5 in€ 2009 2008

£ Fixed emoluments 4,030,437 3,644,162

- Vanable emoluments 6,431,873 7,941,825
Total cash emoluments 10,462,310 11,583,007

5 in the 2009 hnancial year, under the 2007 Performance Share Programme approved at the Annual General

g Meeting, a total of 117,509 subscription nghts (2008 73,891 subscnption nghts) were granted to members of

S the Executive Board as parl of their total emofuments These had a value on the grani date of EUR 25 53 (2008

EUR 40 60) per subscription nght, which gives a total of EUR 3,000,005 (2008 EUR 2,099,975)

In 2009 and 2008, there were no advances or loans to members of the Executive Board

Total remuneration paid to former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependants
amounted {o EUR 2,667,115 (2008 EUR 2,604,480)

A provision of EUR 36,836,129 (2008 EUR 37,716,446) has been made for current pensions and future pen-
sion benefits in respect of former members of the Executive Board and their surviving dependants

The remuneration report presents the basic features and the strycture of the remuneration of the Execu-
uive Board and the Supervisory Board # has been included in the Linde AG management 1eport

wn
o
z
E+
=
=
=
=
[TaY
-
=
S
=
=
=
o

[23]) Declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code

The Execuiive Board and Supervisory Board of Linde AG approved the prescribed declaration pursuant to § 161 of
the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) on the recommendations of the German Corperale Goveinance Code
and made it avaitable to shareholders on a permanent basis The declaration of comphiance has been published
on the company’s websile al www linde com/declarationofcompliance

A detailed commentary on corporate governance in Linde 1s set eut in the Corporate Governance section
of this reporl

FURTHER INFORMATION
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[24] Other Board memberships

{Msclosures regarding other Board memberships are as at 31 December 2009 )

Supervisory Boaid

Members of the Supervisory Board of Linde Aktiengesellschaft are members of the following other German
supervisory boards and comparable Getman and foreign boards

Dr Manfred Schneider
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Linde AG

= External offices
Bayer AG (Chairman)
Datmier AG
RWE AG (Chairman)
T AG

Hans-Dieter Katte

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Linde AG,
Chairman of the Pullach Works Counctl,

Engineenng Division, Linde AG

Michael Diekmann

Second Depuly Charrman of the Supervisory Board
of Linde AG,

Charman of the Board of Management of Allianz SE

- External offices
BASF SE
Stemens AG

-+ Group offices
Allanz Deutschiand AG (Chairman)
Alhanz Global Investors AG (Chairman)

- Group offices
Alhanz S p A
Allianz France S A
(Vice-President of the Administrative Board)

- Memberstup of other German supervisory boards
-} Membesship of comparable German and foreign boards

Or Gerhard Berten
Lawyer

Dr Clemens Borsig
Chairman of the Supervisary Board of Deutsche Bank AG

- External offices
Bayer AG
Daimler AG
Deutsche Bank AG {Chairman)

- External offices
Emerson Eiectnic Company
(Member of the Board of Directors)

Gernot Hahl
Chairman of the Worms Works Council,
Gases Division, Linde AG

Thile Kémmerer
Trade Unton Secretary on the Execulive Board
of 16 Metall Frankiurt

- External offices
KION GROUP GmbH
KiON Holding 1 GmbH

Matthew F ¢ Miau
Chairman of MITAC-SYNNEX-Group, Taiwan

= External offices
BOC Lienhwa Industnal Gases Co Ltd
(member of the Board of Directors)

- Group offices
Mitac Technology Cofporation
(member of the Board of Directors)
Synnex Corporation
(Member of the Board of Directors)
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Supervisory Board

Klaus-Peter Muller Jens Riedel
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Commerzbank AG  Chairman of the Leuna Works Council,

Gases Division, Linde AG
- External offices

Commeszbank AG (Chairman) Xaver Schmidt
Fraport AG Secrelary 10 the Executive Board of IG Bergbau,
Fresenius SE Chemie, Energie, Hanover

= External offices Josei Schregle
Assicurazion) Generali Sp A Manager respensible for finance and financral
{Member of the Administralive Board) contral, Engineertng Division, Linde AG

Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank
(Member of the Administiative Board)
Parker Hannifin Corporation

(Member of the Board of Directors)

Executive Board

In addition 1o their individual management functions in affiliated compantes and in compames in which an
investment 1 held, members of the Executive Board of Linde Akuengesellschaft are members of the following
German supervisory boards and comparable German and foreign boards

Professor Dr Wolfgang Rentzle ] Kent Masters

Chref Executive Officer Member of the Executive Board

- External offices =+ [uternal offices
Continental AG (Chairman) Rockwood Holdings, Inc, USA
Deutsche Telekom AG {Member of the Board of Directors)

{retired on 31 December 2009)
= Group offices
Or Aldo Bellont Afnican Oxygen Limited, South Afnica
Member of the Executive Board {Chairman of the Board of Direclors)

Georg Denoke
Member of the Executwe Board

> Membership of other German supervisory boards
> Membership of comparable German and forergn boards
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[25] Proposed appropriation of profits of Linde AG -

The Executive Board recommends 1o the Supervisary Board that, when the annual finanaal statements of g
Linde AG are approved at the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 16 March 2010, the appropriation of profit of B
EUR 887,319,283 44 (2008 EUR 885,937,808 02} be voted on at the Annual General Meeling on 4 May 2010 =
the distnbution of a dividend of EUR 1 80 per share entitled to dividend (2008 EUR 1 80) 5
The amount to be distnbuted will therelore be EUR 304,032,772 80 (2008 EUR 303,286,492 80), based on
168,907,096 {2008 168,492,496) shares entitled to dividend The remaining amount of EUR 583,286,510 64 —_—
will be transferred to other retained eatnings .
o
Munich, 4 March 2010 ;
[=3
£
unde Akhengeselischaft £
The Executive Board -
g
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{26] Full list of shareholdings of The Linde Group and Linde AG In accordance with the

provisions of § 285 No 11 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

The results of companies acquired in 2009 are included as of the date of acquisition

companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered office Country Partici- Thereof Equity Net Note
pating  Linde AG income /
Interest nel ass (-)
in n n n
percent percent € milhion € million
Gases Division
western Europe
Linde Gas Betelligungs GmbH Stadl-Paura AUT 1000 00 00
Linde Gas GmbH Stadl-Paura AUT 1000 490 4548 820
Linde Gas GmbH& (o CHG Stadl-Paura AUT 1000 31 10
Linde Nippon Sanso GmbH Stad| Paura AUT 1000 97 -01
PROVISIS Gase & Service GmbH 8ad Wimsbach
Neydharting AUl 1000 01 01
Chemogas N V Grmbergen BEL 1000 49 18
Linde Gas Belgum N v Niel BEL 1000 04 01
PanGas AG Dagmersellen CHE 1000 1249 268
AGA Holding GmbH Pullach DEU 1060 924 -130
£ib1 Homecare GmbH Mahlow DEU 1000 41 - a
Hens & Co GmbH Bremen DEU 1000 01 - 3
Hydromotive GmbH & (o KG Leuna OEU 1000 1000 13 03
Hydromotive Verwaltungs-GmbH Leuna DEY 1000 1000 00 04
Linde Gas Produktionsgesellschaft mbH & Co KG Pullach DEU 1600 1000 3140 70
Linde Gas Therapeutics GmbH unterschieissheim DEU 1000 248 - a
Linde Medical Devices GmbH Pullach DEU 100 0 00 - a
Linde Nippon Sanso GmbH & (o Ko Pullach DEU 1000 1000 185 -46
tinde Nippon Sanso Verwaltungs GmbH Pullach OtV 1000 1000 35 -06
Linde Semicon GmbH & Co KG Pullach DEU 1000 1000 68 -06
Linde Welding GmbH Pullach DEU 1000 03 - a
Martens Schweisstechnik GmbH Rastede DEU 1000 0% - a
rommenhdller Handelsgesellschalt mbH Pullach DEU 1000 00 - a
SMR GmbH Schweissservice Martens Rastede OEU 1000 03 - 3
spectra Gases {(Germany) GmbH Babenhausen Oty 1000 38 10
Tega - Techmsche Gase und Gasetechnik
Gesellschalt mit beschrankter Haftung Worzburg DEU 1000 1000 37 - a
TGF GmbH Norderstedl DEU 1000 1000 05 0o
7V Kohlenssure-VYerwallungs-GmbH Pullach DEU 1000 1000 01 00
unterbichler GmbHE& o KG Munich DRy 1000 03 -07
wahle | Vermdgensverwatiungs GmbH § L Bad vilbel DIy 574 08 - a
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Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered ofiice  Country Partics- Thereof fquity Nel Note
pating  Linde AG income/
interest net foss ()
n n n n
percent  percent  {milhon € milion
AGA A/SS Copenhagen DNK 100 0 95 29
Linde Gas Algerie S p A Algiers 02A 660 660 463 g5
Abello Linde, S A Barcelona ESP 748 748 116 4 61
LINDE MEDICINAL, S L Cordoba ESP 1000 7¢ -02
Linde Nippan Sanso, S L Barcelona ESP 100 0 -03 -01
AS Fesh AGA Tallinn EST 1000 66 23
Kuntessto Oy Karakaasu Espoo FIN 100 0 =21 Do 4
Kilnteisto Oy Karaporttt Espoo FIN 1000 ~34 00 C
Oy AGA ab , Espoo FIN 1000 1165 395 C
Teollisuuskaatsut Suam Oy Espoo FIN 1000 23 00 C
Tk-Teollisuuskaatsut Oy Espon FIN 1000 0o 0o C
Linde Gas § A Saint-Priest FRA 997 1256 82
Linde Healthcare & A Rueil Malmaison FRA 1000 436 20
Linde Medical Demicile S A Amiens FRA 100 0 D2 02
Linde Nippon 5anso France SAS Saint-Priest FRA 1000 22 00
ALLWELD INDUSTRIAL AND WELDING SUPPLIES
LIMITED Nottingham GBR 106 0 N/A N/A
BOC CONCENTRATOR SERVICES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 Q3 0o
BOC HELEX Guildford GBR 1000 1,531 4 869
COTSWOLD INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES
LIMITED - to be dissolved Nottingham GBR 1000 -03 00 cd
EXPRESS INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 08 01 . d
FLUOROGAS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 01 o0
FUTURE INDUSTRIAL AND WELDING SUPPLIES
LIMITED Netlingham GBR 1000 03 01 cd
GAFFNEY INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES
LIMITED Nottingham GBR 800 09 01 ¢, d
GAS INSTRUMENT SERVICES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 00 o0 ¢ d
GWYNEDD INDUSTRIAL AND WELDING SUPPLIES
LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 N/A N/A
INDUSTRIAL & WELDING MANAGEMENT LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 02 00 ¢, d
INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES (NORTH WEST)
LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 -16 -01 ¢, d
Industrial & Welding Suppites Limited Nottingham GBR 1000 00 0o ¢ d
tndustrial Supplies & Services Limited Notiingham GER 1000 00 -01 ¢, d
Leengate Hire & Services Limited Nottingham GBR 1000 00 -02 ¢ d
Leengate Industrial & Welding Supplies
{Cannock) Limited Nottingham GBR 1000 -06 -01 ¢ d
LEENGATE INDUSTRIALE WELDING SUPPLIES
(LINCOLN) LIMITED Nottingham GBR 900 02 00 c.d
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Cempantes included in the Group financal statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

g Registered office  Country Partia Thereof Equity Net Note
?_ pating  Linde AG mncome/
% interest net loss ()
g ] " " !

percent percemt € million € million

LEENGATE INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES

{NORTH EAST) LIMITED Notiingham GBR 875 13 01 ¢d
e LEENGATE INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES
§ {NOTTINGHAM) LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 03 0o ¢, d
E LEENGATE INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES
é {SCOTLAND) LIMITED Nottingham GAR 750 a9 02 ¢
§ LEENGATE INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES

LIMITED Nattingham GBR 900 02 00 ¢, d

- LEENGATE VAEVES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 943 07 00 ¢ d
g LEENGATE WELDING GROUP LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 33 08 ¢ d
% LEENGATE WELDING SERVICES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 00 00 . d
E LINDE GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 1000 o0 00 ¢ d
g LINDE HELIUM HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 00 ¢ d
& PENNINE INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES
—_— LIWITED Notungham GER 10090 -0 ca ¢ d

= ROCK INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 875 11 -0 ¢ d
E SEABROOK INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPUIES
£ LIMITED Nottingham GER 1000 -02 00 ¢, d
E Speciia Gases td (ambndge GBR 10090 4 02
2 WaG SUPPLIES 1IMITED Nottingham GBR 800 03 00 ¢ d

WELDER EQUIPMENT SERVICES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 750 01 o1 cd

WESSEX INDUSTRIAL & WELDING SUPPLIES LIMITED Nottingham GBR 1000 -02 00 . d
% BOC (TRADING} LIMITED Dublin IRL 1000 188 84 ¢ d
g BOC GASES IRELAND HOLDINGS LIMITED Dubln IRL 1000 71 59
E BOC Gases Ireland Limited Dublin IRL 100 ¢ 523 91 ¢.d
% COOPER CRYCSERVICE LIMITED Dublbin RL oe o 17 o0

ISAGA ehf Reykjavik 5L 1000 44 07

Linde Gas Italia § Aruno A 1000 1549 151

LINDE MEDICALES 11 Rome TA 7000 312 56

AGA UAB Vilnius LTy 000 108 -01

AGA SIA Riga LVA 100 ¢ 104 04

AGA International B V Schiedam NLD 1000 2029 00

Beheesmaatschappy De Econoom B V Sctuedam NLO 1000 5 -03

Linde Gas Benelux B V Schiedam NLD 000 1502 345
g’ Linde Gas Cryoservices B V Hedel NLD 1000 18 13
E Linde Gas Therapeutics Benelux B v Eindhoven NLD 1009 357 25
; Linde Homecare Benelux 8 V Nuland NLD 1000 125 -09
g Linde Nippon Sanso B ¥ Schiedam NLD 000 28 12

Mecomfa SPCB ¥ Schiedam NLD 1000 -51 05
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Companies included in the Group finanaal statements (0 accordance with 1AS 27)

Reqgistered office Country Partic-  Thereof Equity Net Note £
pating  Linde AG income/ =
interest net loss (-) g
n in In n g
percent  percent € millron € milhon b
Naamloze Vennootschap Linde Gas Benelux Schiedam NLD 1000 3209 -06 -
AGA AS Oslo NOR 1000 459 239
LINDE SOGAS, LDA Lisbon PRT 1000 349 42 %
AB Dissousgas Lidingd SWE 1000 02 [141] g
AB Held Ligingé SWE 1600 00 00 %
AGA Gas AB Sundbyberg SWE 1000 00 00 §
AGA Industnial Gas Engingenng A8 Lidingd SWE 1000 a0 00 o
AGA Innovation AB Lidingd SWE 1000 00 00 -
AGA Internaticnal (nvestment AB Liding® SWE 000 o ¢] G0 §
AGA Medical AB Lidingd SWE 1000 oc 00 g
AGA RE Forsakrings AB -~ in iguidation Liding® SWE 1000 06 00 §
AGA Specialgas AB Lidingd SWE 1000 00 oo %
Agalronic AB Sundbyberg SWE 1000 0t 0o _U____
CRYD AB Gothenburg SWE 1000 00 0o
Ferronaova AB Danderyd SWE 1000 00 00 §
Flaskgascentralen 1 Malmd Akliebolag Svedala SWE o 0o o0 E
Induslr: Gas AB Lidingo SWE 1000 00 0o E
Svenska AB Gasaccumulator Lidingts SWE 1000 01 00 E
Svets Gas AB Lidingd SWE 1000 Q0 00
Toalvac AR Lidingt SWE 1000 a1 0Q
Linde Gas Tunisie $ A Tunis TUN 600 600 16 04 %
Amenicas =
B80C GASES ARUBAN V Santa Cruz ABW 1000 24 05 g
BOC GASES CARIBBEAN N v Curacao ANT 1000 00 00 g
BOC Gases Curacao N V (uracao ANT 1000 18 05
Grupo Linde Gas Argentina S A Buenos Alres ARG 1000 648 283 38
The Hydrogen Company of Paraguana Lid Hamilton BMU 1000 520 44
Linde Gases Ltda Baruen BRA 1000 1331 73
LINDE-BGC GASES LIMITADA Sap Paulo BRA 1000 102 15
AGAS A Santiago CHL 1000 776 142
BOC de Chile S A Las Condes CHL 1000 68 48
AGA FANO, Fabrica Nacional de Oxsgeno S A Bogeta L 10090 69 4 98
Oxigeno Opimo 02 Lida Cartagena coL 1000 03 -01 %
AGA Quinsa, S A Sanio Dormingo DOM 1000 39 07 g
AGAS A Quito [141] 1000 225 54 ;
Aqua y Gas de Sillunchi $ A Quito ECU 1000 08 00 %
BOC GASES DE MEXICO, S A DECY Mexico iy MEX 1000 00 o0
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Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

£ Registered office Country Partiul Thereof Equity Net Note
] pating  Linde AG income/
% Interest net loss {-}
;"..; mn n 4] in
b percent  percet €milien  €million
_ Compania de Operaciones de Nitrogeno,
SAdeCV Santa Fe MEX 1000 53 17 ¢, d
e SERVICIOS OF OPERACIONES DE NiTROGENO,
s SADECYV Santa Fe MEX 1000 06 0 ¢, d
g AGAS A Callao PER 1090 77 06
E AGA Linde Healthcare Puerta Rico, Inc (atano PRI 1000 -93 04
z Linde Gas Puerto Rico, Inc Catano PRI 100 [¢¢] 00
— AGAS A tontevideo URY 000 B4 214
= ECO-SNOW SYSTEMS LLC wilmington USA 1000 00 00
é Holox Int Allanta USA 1000 N/A N/A
s LAG Methanal LLC wimington USA 1000 N/A N/A
g‘ Linde Energy Services, Inc Wilmington USA 1000 -02 0o
g Linde Gas North Amernica LLC wilminglon usa 1000 323 04
I Linde Merchant Production, Inc wilmington UsA 1000 204 30
= Linde North America, Inc wilmington USA 1000 <01 -116%6 -1825
§ tinde RSS LLC Wilmington USA 106 0 -05 -04
% Linde Transport, In¢ Nashvilie USA 1000 0o 00
% Spectra Gases Delaware Inc wilmington UsA 1000 N/A N/A
= Spectra Gases, Inc Branchburg USA 1000 782 35
- Spectra Investors, LLC Branchburg USA 1000 87 33
g MG Co LIC wilmington USA 1060 130 15
§ AGAGasC A Santa Fe Norte VEN 1000 520 01
2 BOC GASES DE VENEZUELA, C A Caracas VEN 1000 36 =24
£ INVERSIONES ABC, S A caracas VN 1000 00 00
- INVERSIONES VENCAN, § A Caracas VEN 1000 cQ 0o
PRODUCTORA DE GAS CARBONICO 5 A Caracas VEN 0o -07 08
Spectra Gases (BYI) Inc Tortola VGB 1000 N/A N/A
BOC Gases vugin Islands, Inc St Thomas VIR 1000 21 01
General Gases of the Virgin Isiands, Inc Saint Cromx VIR 1000 00 00
Asia b Eastern Europe
BOC HELIUM M £ FZC0 Jebel Al ARE 1000 09 05
LINDE GAS MIDDLE EAST LLC Abu Dhabi ARE 1000 1000 12 =06
§ B0C Bangladesh Limited Dhahka BGD 600 186 64
é Bossot Trade EQOD Sofia BGR 1000 1000 -01 00
f‘: tinde Gas Bulgaia £000 Soha BGR H) 1000 32 -03
5 Linde Gas BH d 0 0 Zenica BIH 850 850 116 -03

“Linde Gaz Bel” FtLC Telmy BLR oo 992 14 04




Linde AG Financial Stalements 2009
NOTES TO THE FENANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementaiy information on the Notes

Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27}

Registered office  Country Paric-  Thereof Equity Net Note
patng  Linde AG income/
tnterest net loss (=)
0 in mn n
percent  percent  €milkon € million
ASIA UNION (SHANGHAI) ELECTRONIC CHEMICAL
COMPANY LIMITED Shangha CHN 1000 00 0o C
BOC (China} HoldIngs (o, Ltd Shanghal CHN oo 956 79
BOC Gases (Nanjing) Company Limited Nanjing CHN 1000 70 08
BOC Gases (North) Company Limited fushun CHN 1000 48 -01
BOC Gases (Suzhou) Co, Lid Suzhou CHN 1000 324 50
80C Gases (Tianpn) Company Limited Tiantn CHN 100 0 130 06
BOC Gases (Wuhan} Co, Lid wuhan CHN 1000 49 00
BOCLH Industrial Gases (Chengdu) <o, Lid Chengdu CHN 1000 53 -01
BOCLH Industrigt Gases (Dallan) Co, Ltd Dalien CHN 1000 68 -04
BOCLH Industrial Gases (Song)iang) o, Lid Shanghai CHN 1000 -93 -14
BOCLH Industnal Gases (Suzhou) Co, Lid suzhou CHN 1000 90 ~01
BOCLH Iindustrial Gases (Waigaoqiac) (o, lid Shangha CHN 00¢ -0 -03
BOCLH Indusirial Gases (Xiamen) Co, Ltd Xiamen CHN 1000 18 oo
BOCLH Industrial Gases {Zhangjiang) Co, Ltd Shanghal CHN 1000 20 -03
Linde Carbonic {Shanghai) Company Ltd Shanghai CHN 601 459 78 05
Linde Electronics & Specialty Gases
{Suzhou) Co itd Suzhou CHN 1000 1000 87 -18
Linde Gas Ningbo Ltd Ningbo CHN 1000 677 14
Linde Gas Shenzhen Lid Shenzhen (HN 1000 29 07
Linde Gas Southeast (Xiamen} Ltd Xiamen CHN 1000 26 12
Linde Gas Xiamen Lid Xiamen CHN 1000 100 0 275 31
Linde Gases (Chengdu) Company Limited Chengdu {HN 1000 20 00
Linde Gases (Nanjing) Company Limited Nanjing CHN 1000 06 -140
LINDE GASES (SHANGHAI €0, LTD Shanghai CHN 1000 77 07
Linde Huachang (zhangjiagang} Gas Co Ltd Zhangjlagang CHN 50 47 06
Shanghai BOC Heayang Carbon Dicxude (o, Ltd Shanghai CHN 800 12 03
Shanghal 80C Industrial Gases Campany Limited Shanghai CHN 1000 86 01
Shanghal Linhua Gas Transpestation Co , Lid Shanghai (HN 1000 03 01
shenzhen Feiying Industrial Gases Company
Limited Shenzhen CHN 900 13 -0
Wuxi Boc Gases Co, Limited Wuxi CHN 1000 09 -01
LINDE HADJIKYRIAKOS GAS LIMITED Nicosia CYp 510 510 62 15
Linde Gasa s Prague C2E 1000 2035 479
tinde Sokolovska s r o Prague i 1000 743 34
OXYSsro Prague [#13 1000 03 134
AERCSCOPIO HELLAS S A Piraeus GRC 708 08 01 00
EIVIAABEE Schimatari GRC 1004 1000 28 -02
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NOTES 10 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Notes

Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

g Registered office  Country Partio- Thereo! fquity Net Note
= paling  Linde AG income,/
£ Interest net loss (-}
2 n n n n
“ percent percent  Cmition € milion
. Linde Hellas E P E Athens GRC 1000 1000 353 19
HKO DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED Kawloon HKG 1000 0o 00
g Hong Kong Oxygen & Acelylene Company Limited Kowloon HKG 1000 155 79
E LIEN HWA INDUSTRIAL GASES (HK) LIMITED Wanchal BXG 1000 -10 -07 ¢, d
z Linde Gas (H K ) Limited Hong Kong HKG 1000 1000 797 -41
é NEW SINO GASES COMPANY LIMITED Tai Po HKG 1000 04 01
. LINDEPLINd 0 © Karlovac HRV 1000 1000 45 01
o Linde Gaz Magyarorszag Irt Repcelak HUN 1000 100 0 1749 27
§ PT BOC GASES INDONESIA Jakarla IDN 100 0 145 11
% PT Gresik Gases Indonesia Jakaria IDN 973 100 S6
£ PT Gresik Pawer Indanesla Jakarta IDN 9 7 87 28
£ BOC INDIA LIMITED Kolkata IND 895 1549 69
__t_ Linde Japan Ltd Tokyo JPN 000 10090 02 05
Linde Korea (o, Ltd Pohang KOR 009 1655 54
§ LINDE GAS BITOLA DOOEL Skopje Skapje MKD 1000 07 -01
; DAYAMOX SON BHD Selangar MYS 1000 -24 01
E Malaysian Oxygen Berhad Selangor MYS 1000 707 235
]
z MOX GASES (J8) SDN BHD Selangor Mys 1000 -02 00
MOX-Linde Gas Products Malaysia Sdn Bhd Petaling Jayas MYS 100 0 1000 101 15
MOX-LINDE GASES SDN BHD Selangor MYS 1000 838 262
% MOX-Linde Industrial Gases {(Malaysia) 5dn Bhd Pelaling Jaya MYS 1000 100 ¢ 77 ~04
= MOX-LINDE WELDNNG PROTUCTS SDN BHD Selangor MYS 000 30 14
g BOC Pakistan Limited Karachi PAK 600 120 22
g BATAAN INDUSTRIAL GASES INC Pasig City PHL 1000 -01 01
BOC (PHILS ) HOLDINGS, INC Pasig Cly PHL 000 207 o0
. CHATSWOOD INC Makati City FHL 615 -0 00
it CIGC CORPORATION Pasig City PHL 1000 05 00
:_ E‘ {ONSOUIDATED INDUSTRIAL GASES, INC Pastg (ny FHL 100 ¢ 169 i1
B ’:— CRYQ INDUSTRIAL GASES, INC Pasig City PHL 100 ¢ 01 00
iz GRANDPLAINS PROPERTIES, WNC Pasig City PHL 400 12 01 e
o ROYAL SOUTHMEADOWS, INC Mandaue ity PHL 400 o4 oQ e
SOUTHERN INDUSTRIAL GASES PHILIPPINES INC Mandave City PHL 1000 i20 08
% Eurogaz-Gdynia Sp zo o Gdynia POL 950 46 04
g LINDE GAZ POLSKA Spolka 20 o Krakow POL 1000 1000 99 1 14
H carbid Acetilena S R L Buchatest ROU 1000 00 00
% LINDE GAZ ROMANIAS R L Tirmis ROU 1000 1000 867 166

0JS¢ "Linde Gas Rus” Balashikha RUS 999 999 295 -57
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG ~ Supplementary information on the Notes

Companies Included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered office  Country Partici- Theteol Equity Net Note 2
pating  Linde AG income / 2
interest net loss {-} %
n In in n g
percent percent  €milion € million =
000 “Linde Gas Piants Rus” Balashikha RUS 100 ¢ 100 0 94 -02 -
000 *Linde Gas Production Rus” Balashikha RUS 1000 100 0 191 -01
ZAO *Samara Oxygen Plant” Samara RUS 100 0 1000 04 -03 &
Sauds Industrial Gas Co Lid Al-Khobar SAU 510 670 77 §
Linde Gas Asia Pte Ltd Singapore SGP 1000 -16 17 g’
Linde Gas Singapore Ple Ltd Singapore SGP 1000 1000 730 101 §
LINDE GAS SRBIJA Industrija gasova a 0 Bece) Bece) SRB 8214 824 06 15
Artes 9451 0 Bralislava Sk 1000 16 06 T
Linde Gask s Bralsslava SvK 100 0 267 64 H
LINDEPLING 0 0 Celje SVN 1000 1000 61 06 %
KTPY {THAILAND} LIMITED Bangkok THA 1000 129 0o E
Linde Carbonic Lid Samut Prakan THA 1000 1000 86 0o E
Linde Gas {Thailand) Ltd Samul Prakan THA 100 0 1000 36 o s
MIG Production Company Limited Ssamut Prakan THA 536 530 88 -
RAYONG ACETYLENE LIMITED Samui Prakan THA 870 20 00 =
SKTY (Thailand) Limited Bangkok THA 1000 438 35 %
Thas Industrial Gases Public Company Limited Samut Prakan THA 997 123 6 102 %
TiG Air Chemicals Limiled Samut Prakan THA 987 225 29 §
TiG HyCQ Limited Samut Prakan THA 1000 353 30 ®
TIG TRADING LIMITED Samut Prakan THA 1000 47 01
Linde Gaz A S Istanbul TUR 1000 1000 665 -41 g
ASIA UNION ELECTRONIC CHEMICAL CORPORATION Taipe TWN 99 8 234 kR E‘
BOC EIENHWA INDUSTRIAL GASES (O, LTD Taipel TWN 500 1151 63 ¢, de ;-:
CONFEDERATE TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED Wuchi Town TWN 891 70 08 é
FAR EASTERN INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY =
LIMITED kaohsiung TWN 550 70 10
LIEN CHUAN INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED Ho Chi Minh City TWN 1000 02 01 C
LIEN FENG INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED Taichung Hslen TWN 1000 11 10
LIEN HWA (COMMONWEALTH CORPORATION Talpei TWN 1000 19 12
LEEN HWA LOX CRYOGENIC EQUIPMENT
CORPORATION Taipes TWN 388 20 02
LIEN SHENG INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED Hsin Chu TWN 1000 01 no
LIEN TONG GASES COMPANY LIMITED Kaoshung TWN 1000 02 01 ¢ d
LIEN YANG INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED Yilan TWN 1000 02 01 S %
LIEN Y1 LPG COMPANY LIMITED Tao Yuzn TWN 600 14 00 g
LIENHWA UNITED LPG COMPANY LIMITED Talpel TWN 558 61 05 ;
UNITED INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED Karachi TWN 550 &6 9 92 ;

YUAN RONG INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LID Talpel TWN 600 90 10
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information en the Notes

Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 145 27}

Registered office Country Pattict- Thereof Equity het Note
paung  Linde AG income/
Interest net loss {-)
m n n n
percent percent  €millien € million
0JSC "Linde Ga1 Ukiana” Dntpiopetiovsk UKR 957 810 -16 -88
AUECC {BVI) HOLDINGS LIMITED Tortola VGB 1000 -17 -17 4
BOC LIENHWA (B¥]) HOLDING Co, ttd Tortola VGB 998 459 07
PURE QUALITY TECHNOLOGY LIMITED Tortola VGB 1000 0o 00 C
SHINE SKY INTERNATEONAL COMPANY LIMITED Tortola VGB 1000 -17 -17 C
SKY WALKER GROUP LIMITED Torlola VGB 1000 02 0o
Linde Gas Vietnam Limited Ba Ria YNM 1000 1000 29 17
South Pacific Africa
AFROX ANGOLA 1DA Luanda AGO 1000 =05 02 C
AUSCOM HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED Mitsons Point AUS 1600 804 00 C
BOC CUSTOMER ENGINEERSNG PTY LID North Ryde AUS 1000 53 -01
BOC GASES FINANCE LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 42 0¢
BOC GROUP PTY LIMSTED North Ryde AUS 1000 04 oo
BOC Limited {Australia) North Ryde AUS 1000 3167 58 6
BOGGY CREEK PTY LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 16 02
CIG PRODUCTS PTY LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 0o oo
ELGAS AUTOGAS PTY LIMITED Milsons Point AUS 1000 41 090
ELGAS LIMITED Milsens Point AUS 1000 11659 215
ELGAS RETICULATION PFY LIMITED Milsons Point AUS 1000 20 01
FLEXIHIRE PTY LIMITED Rockhampton AUS 1000 9¢ 32
PACIFIC ENGINEERING SUPPLIES PTY LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 -13 00
PACIFIC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLIES PTY LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 21 03
PROJECT APPLE PTY LTD Metbouine AUS 1000 06 03
SOUTH PAUHC WELDING GROUP PTY LIMITED North Ryde AUS 3000 97 19
THE COMMONWEALTH INDUSTRIAL GASES PTY
LIMITED North Ryde AUS 1000 0o 00
TIAMONT PTY LIMITED Milsons Point AUS 1000 15 03
UNIGAS JOINT YENTURE PARTNERSHIP Mulgrave AUS 1000 129 07
UNEGAS TRANSPQORT FUELS FTY LTD Milsens Peint AUS 1000 63 Q0
AFROX GAS & ENGINEERING SUPPLIES
{BOTSWANA) (PTY) LIMITED Gaborone BWA 100 0 00 00 ¢ &
BOTSWANA OXYGEN COMPANY (PTY) LIMITED Gaborone BWA 1000 32 18 C
BOTSWANA STEEL ENGINEERING (PTY} UMITED Gaborone BWA 1000 00 0o C
HANDIGAS (BOTSWANA} {PTY) LIMITED Gaborcne BWA 1000 00 oo ¢ d
HEAT GAS (PTY) LIMITED Gaborone BWA 740 oo 0o 4
KIDDO INVESTMENTS (PTY} LIMITED Gabatene BWA 1000 03 00 ¢
REPTILE INVESTMENT NINE (PTY} LIMITED windhoek BWA 1000 0o 00 4
REPTILE INVESTMENT TEN {PTY} LIMITED windhaoek BWA 1000 00 00 C
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NOTES 10 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Notes

Compantes included in the Group financial statements {in accordance with [AS 27)

Registered office Country Particy Thereof Equity Net Note
pating  Linde AG income/
mterest net loss (<)
In in in in
percent  percent  €milhion € midhon
RDC GASES & WELDING {(DRL) LIMITED Lubumbashi oD 1000 N/A N/A
BOC FijI LIMITED Laml Suva i 897 30 08
PT Townsville Welding Suppties Jakarta Selatan 10N 500 02 01
B0C Kenya Limited Nairobt KEN 654 134 12
AFROX LESOTHO {PTY) LUIMITED Maseru 150 iooo 08 14 C
LESOTHO OXYGEN COMPANY (PTY) LIMITED Maserd 150 1000 00 0o ¢ d
BOC GASES MOZAMBIQUE LIMITED Mapuio Moz 1000 11 as c
PETROGAS LIMITADA Maputo MOZ 1000 -03 00 s
AFROX INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Pert Louis MUS 999 0o ao ¢ d
Adrox Malaw Limited Blantyre Mw! 766 34 16 C
GAS & WELDING PRODUCTS {PTY) LTD windhoek NAM 1000 go 00 ¢, d
IGL {PTY) LIMITED Windhoek NAM 1000 61 23 [
161 PROPERTIES (PTY) LIMITED windhoek NAM 1000 02 01 ¢, d
NAMOX (PTY) LIMITED Windhoek NAM 1000 11 oo C
BOC Gases Nigena Ple Lagos NGA 600 45 15
BOC LIMITED (New Zealand) Auckland NZL 1000 433 197
BOC NEW ZEALAND HOLDINGS LIMITED Auckland NZL 1000 358 346
ELGAS LIMITED Auckland NZL 1000 a7 06
SOUTH PACIFIC WELDING GROUP {NZ) LIMITED Auckland NZL 100 ¢ 02 01
BOC Papua New Guinea Limlied lae PNG 740 72 46
BOC GASES SOLOMON 1SLANDS LIMITED Honlara 518 1000 013 D4
HANDIGAS SWAZILAND (PTY) LIMITED Mbabane SWI 1600 00 L] cd
SWAZI OXYGEN (PTY) UMITED Mbabane SWZ 1000 19 16 C
BOC {TONGA} LIMITED Nuku'Alofa TON 1000 02 0o
BOC Tanzania Limited Dar es Salaam TZA 998 06 02
BOC Uganda Limited Kampala UGA 999 07 01
BO{ Samoa Limited Apia WsM 958 10 02
Afnican Oxygen Limited Jehannesburg IAF 605 2885 296 ¢
AFROX (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED Johannesburg IAF 950 00 00 ¢, d
Afrox (Transker}(Pty} Limited Johannesburg IAF 1000 N/A N/A
AFROX AFRICAN INVESTMENTS {PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg IAF 1000 179 13 C
AFROX EQUCATIONAL SERVICES (PROPRIETARY) LTD Johannesburg IAF 1000 0o o0 [}
AFROX FINANCE {PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg ZAF 1000 oo 00 4
AFROX PROPERTIES {PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg ZAF 1000 29 05 4
AFROX SAFETY (PTY) LIMITED [ohannesburg ZAF 999 38 -06 4
AMALGAMATED GAS AND WELDING (PTY) LIMITED tohannesburg IAF 1000 00 oo . d
AMALGAMATED WELDING AND CUTING
(PROPRIETARY) LIMITED Iehannesburg IAF 1000 16 -02 C
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Sypplementary information on the Notes

Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered office Country Partic) Thereof Equity Nel Note
pating  Linde AG income /
Interest net loss {-)
in n n n
percent percent € milhon € milion
AMALGAMATED WELDING AND CUTTING HOLOINGS
{PROPRIETARY) LIMITED Johannesburg ZAF 1000 01 00 C
AWCE (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED johannesburg IAF 1000 00 00 o d
ENERGY MEDICAL SUPPLIES {PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg IAF 1000 -02 00 ¢, d
HARRIS GAS EQUIPMENT {PTY) LIMITED Boksburg IAF 1000 Q0 0o C
HUMAN PERFCRMANCE SYSTEMS (PTY) LIMITED Johannesbuig IAF 1000 XY} oo ¢ d
INDUSTRIAL RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
(PTY) LIMITED Johannesbuig ZAF 1000 06 00 c
ISAS TRUST Johannesburg IAF 1000 55 -10 4
MEDISPEED {NATAL) (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED johannesburg ZAT 1000 oo 00 . d
NASIQNALE SWEISWARE (PTY) LTD Johannesburg ZAF 1000 00 00 ¢ d
NICOWELD (PTY) LIMFTED Johannesburg IAF 1600 00 6o C
PHAMODI WELDING (PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg ZAF 500 00 ce e
PPE-ISIZO (PTY) LIMITED Johannesburg ZAF 1000 oo oo ¢ d
SAFETY GAS (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED fohannesburg IAF Qoo a0 to ¢ d
AFROX ZAMBIA LIMITED Ndola IMB 700 77 19 C
HANDIGAS (PVT) LIMITED Harare IWE 1000 [{] 00 4
Engineertng Division
Linde Engineering Middle East LLC Aby Dhabi ARE 490 90 87 23 e
Linde {Austratia) Piy Lid North Ryde AUS 1000 1000 21 o1
Linde Pracess Plants Canada Inc Calgary CAN 1000 =04 oo
Arboliana Holding AG Pfungen CHE 1000 40 0o
Bertrams Healec AG Praiteln CHE 1000 76 18
BOC AG Basle CHE 984 28 02
Linde Kryolechmk AG Pfungen CHE 1000 130 17
Ciyostas Cryogersc Equipments {Hangzhou) Co Ud Hangzhou CHN 1000 30060 21 06
Linde Engineering (Dalian} Co id Dalian CHN 560 560 337 60
Linde Engineering (Hangzhou) Co Ltd Hangzhou CHN 750 750 80 62
Linde-KCA-Qresden GmbH Dresden DEU 1000 60 475 - a
Selas-Linde GmbH Pullach DEU 1000 1000 127 - 3
LINDE INGENIERIA Y TECNOLOGIA, S A U Madrid £SP 1000 1000 15 09
CRYQSTAR SAS Hesingue FRA 1000 510 75
LINDE CRYOPLANTS LIMITED Gulldford GBR 1000 08 17
Linde Engineering India Private timited New Delhi IND 1000 100 0 59 10
Linde Implanti Kalla S p A Flumicino ITA 1000 00 29 07
LPM,S A deCV Mexico City MEX 1000 500 70 -01
tinde Engineenng {Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Petaling Jaya MYS 1000 1000 04 00
Linde Arabtan Contracting Company Ltd Rryadh SAU 1000 900 87 51
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NOTES 10 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Rotes

companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered office Country Partici- Theteof Equity Net Note
pating linde AG income/
inferest net loss ()
n In in in
percent  percent  €mitbon € million
Cryostar Singapore Pte L1d Singapore SGP 100 0 1000 61 36
Linde Pracess Plants, Inc Tulsa UsSA 1000 334 150
Selas Fluid Processing Corporation Bfue Bell UsA 1000 265 124
VN Corporatlon wilmington USA 1000 719 66
Linde Process Plants (Ply) Ltd Johannesburg IAF 1000 1000 20 02
Other activities
BOC AIP (A Limited Partnership) Nofth Ryde AUS 1000 8942 1267
80C Australia Pty Limited North Ryde AUS 1000 660 250
Van Dongen & Van Bergelk GmbH Wallern an der
Trattnach AUT 1000 01 o0
van Dongen Belgium BVBA Lochnisti BEL 1000 -05 -05
PRIESTLEY COMPANY LIMITED Hamillon BMU 1000 226 00
Linde Canada Limited Mississauga CAN 1000 126 2 140
Linde Holding AG Lucerne CHE 1000 1000 198 03
GISTRANS Czech Republics ro Olomauc (#13 1000 18 02
Cleaning Enterprises GmbH Munich DEU 1000 44 - a
Commercium Immobtlien und Beterigungs-GmbH Munich DEU 100 0 1000 16344 - a
Commerceum Versicherungsvermittiung GmbH Munich DEU 1000 05 - 3
Fred Butler Denmark ApS Copenhagen DNK 1000 -18 -17
LOGISTICA DOTRA, SL Seville ESP 1000 02 00 4
LOGISTICA VAN TRANS S L Burgos £SP 1000 06 -03 4
BOQL Fintand Oy Espoo FIN 1000 09 o1
Linde Holdings 5 A S Saint-Priest FRA 1000 1221 13
TheBocGroupS A S Hesingue FRA 1000 608 1
AGRINGN COMPANY Gulldford GBR 1000 00 00
AIRCO COATING TECHNOLOGY LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 1,087 3 241
ANGLIAN INDUSTREAL GASES LIMITED Guildiord GBR 1000 01 0o
APPLIED VISION LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 25 00
BOL AIRCO COATING TECHNOLOGY LIMITED Guitdford GBR 1000 0o 60
BOC AMERICA HOLDINGS Guildéord GBR W0oo 199 2 119
B0C CHILE HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GER 1000 1894 16 8
BCC CIS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 oo
BOC CRYOPLANTS LIMITED Guiidiord GBR 1000 oo 00
BOC DISTRIBUTION SERVICES LIMITED Guildiord GBR 1000 00 00
BOC DUTCH FINANCE Guildford GER 1000 2611 120
BOC G L BAKER TRANSPORT LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 oo 00
BOC HOLDINGS Guildford GBR 100 0 3,457 0 759
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Notes

Companies included i the Group finanaal statements (in accordance with 1AS 27}

g Registered office  Country Partici Thereof Equity Net Note
= pating  Linde AG ncome,/
g interest net loss (=)
E n n m n
= percenl  percent € mifhon € million
. BOC HOLLAND FINANCE Guildford GBR 1000 628 00
BOC INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildiord GBR 1000 8187 1046
g BOC INVESTMENTS (LUXEMBOURG) LIMAED Guildford GBR 100 0 1845 73
% BOC INVESTMENTS NO 1 LIMITED Guildiord GBR oo 2050 62
g BOC INVESTMENTS NO 2 LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 oo 00
% BOC INVESTMENTS NO 5 Guildford GBR 1000 3427 62
- BOC INVESTMENTS NO 7 Guildford GBR 1000 2980 16
- BOC IRELAND FINANCE Guitdford GBR 1000 3327 150
§ BOC JAPAN Guildford GBR 10090 451 96
% BOC JAPAN FINANCE Guildford GBR 1000 01 (14]
§ BOL JAPAN HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildiord G8R 1000 2481 183
é BOC KOREA HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildiord GBR 1000 1092 42
o BOC UMIED Guildfard GBR 1600 4377 1495
BOC LUXEMBOURG FINANCE Gulldferd GBR 1000 209 10
E BOC MEDISPEED LIMITED Guiidford GBR 1000 6o [is]
% BOC NETHERLANDS FINANCE Guildford GBR 1000 1095 00
E BOC NETHERLANDS HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 5417 -13

2

=4 BOC NOMINEES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 oo 0o
BGC PENSION SCHEME TRUSTEES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 oo 0o
BOC PENSIONS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 0o 00
% BOT POLAND BOLDINGS LIMITED Guiidiord GBR 1000 62 oo
';; BOC RSP TRUSTEES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 00
g BOC RUSSIA HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 [134] 0o
% BOC SEFS TRUSTEES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 0o
BOC SHARE SCHEME TRUSTEE LIMITED Guildferd GBR 100 00 00
o BOC SPALDING HAULAGE LIMITED Guildford GER 1000 00 co
BOC STORESHIELD LIMITED Guidiord GBR 1000 00 00
ﬁ — BOC TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 0o 00
j -E' BOC TRANSHIELD LIMITED Guildford GER 1000 oo a0
iz BOC TRUSTEES NO 4 LIMITED Guildiorg GBR 1000 00 00
o BRITISH INDUSTRIAL GASES LIMITED Guildford GEBR 1000 12 00
CALUMATIC (UNITED KINGDOM) LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 00
E CRYOSTAR LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 [}
z CYPRANE Guidiord GBR 1000 00 00
; EHVIL DISSENTIENTS LIMITED Guidiord GBR 1000 00 0o
é G L BAKER {TRANSPORT) LIMIED Guildferd GBR 1000 2550 263

GIST LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 1335 401
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Compames included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with |AS 27)

Registered office  Country Partici- Thereof Equity Net Note
pating Linde AG income/
interest net loss (-)
n in n in
percent percent  €million € milion
GIST PEOPLE SERVICES LIMITED Guitdiord GBR 1000 43 0s
HANDIGAS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 422 0z
HICK, HARGREAVES AND COMPANY LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 oo oo
INDONESIA POWER HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 346 3]
LANSING GROUP LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 100 0 101 o
LINDE CRYOGENICS LUMITED Guildiord GBR 1000 2830 00
LINDE UK HOLDINGS 1IMEED Guildford GBR 100 © 850 9,2277 3805
MEDISHIELD Guildforg GBR 100 0 04 00
MEDISPEED Guidford GBR 1000 2788 108
PLASMA PRODUCTS LIMITED Guidierd GBR 1000 0o 0o
RRS {FEBRUARY 2004} LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 -05 -03
SPALDING HAULAGE LIMITED Guildferd GBR 1600 3135 156
STORESHIELD LIMITED Guildferd GBR 1000 1314 04
THE BOC GROUP LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 32805 154
THE BRITISH OXYGEN COMPANY LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 01 0o
TRANSHIELD Guildford GBR 100 0 1472 06
WELDING PRODUCTS HOLDINGS LIMITED Guildiord GBR 100 0 101 00
BOC NO 1 LIMITED St Peter Port 6GY 1000 10 4 -13
80C NO 2 LIMITED St Peter Port GGY 1000 41 a1
BRITISH OXYGEN {HONG KONG) LIMITED Hong kong HKG 1000 73 00
Linde Globa! Support Services Private Limited Calcutia IND 1000 16 05
BOC INVESTMENT HOLDING COMPANY
(IRELAND} LIMITED Dubhin IRL 1000 138 0o
BOC Investments treland Dublin IRL 1000 099 00
Gist Distribution Limited Dublin IRL 1000 06 03
PRIESTLEY DUBLEN REINSURANCE COMPANY
LIMITED Dubln IRL 1000 139 23
ALEOC {JERSEY) LIMITED St Helier JEY 1000 113 97
BOC AUSTRALIAN FINANCE LIMITED St Heler JEY 160 0 334% 00
BOC PREFERENCE LIMITED St Helier JEY 1000 64 6 o1
BOC EDWARDS CHEMICAL MANAGEMENT KOREA
LIMITED sungnam KOR 1000 11 0t
LINDE-RE S A Luxembourg LuX 1000 S0 0 68 00
80C EUROPE HOLDINGS B ¥ Amsterdam NLD 1000 5536 00
BOC Group Holdings B V Amslerdam NLD 1000 00 (1}
BOC INVESTMENTS B V Amsterdam NLD 1000 96 -16
Fred Butler Netherlands B ¥ Amsterdam NLD 000 -84 -48
G VAN DONGEN HOLDING B V Duksland NLD 1000 i0 -04
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Notes

Companies included in the Group financial statements (in accordance with 1AS 27)

Registered office Country Partics Thereof Equity Net Note
paling  linde AG Income/
interest net loss (=)
n n n n
percent percent € millon € million
G VAN DONGEN TRANSPORTBEDRIJF DIRKSLANC B ¥ Dirksfand NLD 1000 28 00
GIST BY Bleiswik NLD 1000 23 02
Linde Finance BV Amsterdam NLD 1000 253 74
unde Holdings Netherlands B V Schiedam NLD 1060 100 ¢ 1,125 2 -99
FEEMAN TRANSPORTB V Dirksland NLD 1000 11 -05
The BGC Group BY Amsterdam NLD 1000 1,1317 37
VAN DONGEN & YAN BERGELJK B V Dirksland NLD 1000 01 02
VAN DONGEN AALSMEER B V Dirksland NLD 1000 08 oc
VAN DONGEN CHARTERING B V Dirksland NLD 1000 0?2 0o
VAN DONGEN EN MOSIERT B Y Dicksland NLD 1600 09 00
VAN DONGEN MATERIEZEL B V Ditksland NLD 1000 25 06
Van Dongen Repair BY Durksland NLD 1000 -02 -0 1
VAN DONGEN WESTLAND BV Durksland NLD 100 0 04 -4
Linde Holdings New Zealand Limited Auckiand NZL 1000 23 346
BOC GIST INC Mkah Oty PHL 000 01 a0
AGA Aktlebolag Liding® SWE 1000 8881 1002
B0C Intressenter AB Helsingborg SWE 1000 303 06
Fred Buller Sweden Aktiebolag Lidingd SWE 1000 16 13
INQ Therapeutics AB Lidingd SWE 1000 42 03
LindeGas Holding Sweden AB Lidingd SWE 1000 10090 1,7855 545
Linde Cleaning US, LLC Wilcungtoan USA 1000 -09 -Q5
Linde Holdings, LLC wilrnington UsA 1000 1180 74
Linde LLC Wilmingion USA 1000 oo 00
Investments accounted for using the equity method (in accordance with 1AS 28 and AS 31)
Registered office  Country Parti- Thereot Equity Net Note
pating  Linde AG income/
intesest net less (-}
n n n n
percent percent  {mthon € millton
Gases Division
Western Europe
flowserve Compression Systems Gmbh Brunn am Gebirge AUY 200 -06 -06 b, §
CRYOTEC Tief- und Tiefsttemperatur-Technik
GmbH 1 L Pullach DEY 500 500 01 - abed
HELISON PRODUCTION S p A Skikda 07A 510 510 144 -121 be
Messer Algerie S p A Algiers DZA 400 21 17 bcd
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Investments accounted for using the equity method (in accordance with 1AS 28 and IAS 31)

Registered office Country Partici Thereof Equity Net Note
pating  tinde AG income/
interest net loss (-}
n m In tn
percent percent € milhon £million
Iberica de Gases, 5 A Alzira ESP 500 05 oo ¢, d
Cxigeno de Andalucia, S L San Rogue ESP 490 01 0o ¢, d
Oxigeno de Sagunto, 5 L Barcelona ESP 500 41 (] ¢ d
QUIMICA BASICA, S A Barcelona ESP 333 14 6o b, ¢, d
Oy Innogas Ab Kulloo FIN 50 0 14 03 b, ¢
LIDAS AS Saint Quentin
Fallavier FRA 215 oce 00 b ¢ d
LIMESS A S Saint Herblain FRA 500 40 -02 b, ¢
Helison Marketing Uimned St Helier GBR 510 45 16 be
8 v Nederlandse Pijpleidingmaatschappiy Papendrecht NLD 500 00 00 b
OCAP €02 Transport B V Schiedam NLD 500 16 00 b
OCAPCOZvof Schiedam NLD 500 -92 05 b
TLF Tjeldbergoddens Luftgassiabrik 0A Aure NOR 378 325 52 b ¢ d
Amerncas
Compania de Nitrogeno de Cantarell, S A deC V Santa fe MEX €50 171 170 b e
CLIFFSIDE HELIUM, L 1 C Wilmington UsA 260 02 oo b
Cliftside Refiners, L P Wilmington UsA 267 136 23 b
East Coast Oxygen Company gethlehem USA 500 229 -31 L)
High Mountain Fuels, £ L C Wilmington USA 500 92 -06 b
Asia b Easlern Europe
Adnoc Linge Industrial Gases Co Limited (Eler) Abu Dhabi ARE 490 490 1188 00 b¢ d
Betjing Fudong Gas Products Co, Lid Beijing CHN 600 13 00 bede
BOC SPC Gases Co, Lid shanghai CHN 500 275 66 b
BOC-TISCO GASES (0, L1d Taywran City CHN 500 94 4 23¢9 b
Chongging Linde-SYW Gas Co, Lkd Chongqing CHN 500 49 00 b
Dallan BOC Carbon Dioxide Co Lid Dalian CHN 500 22 -02 b
Fuflan Linde-FPCL Gases Co, Lid Quanzhou Cily CHN 500 102 00 b
Guangkong Industrial Gases Company Limited Guangzhou CHN 500 198 i6 b
Guangzhou Linde GISE Gases Company Limited Guangzhou CHN 500 60 00 b
Guangzhou Pearl River Indusiial Gases Company
Limited Guangzhou CHN 500 197 30 b
YANGJANG SOUTHERN INDUSTRIAL GASES
COMPANY LIMITED Yangjiang CHN 00 00 oo b, ¢, d
Lmde Carbonic Co Lid, Tangshan Quian An City CHN 800 15 00 b e
Ma’anshan BOC-Ma Steel Gases Company Limited City of Maanshan CHN 500 64 8 170 b
Maoming Coolants (arbon Dioxide (ompany
Limited - in hiquidation Maoming City CHN 500 10 -03 b
Nanjing BOC-YPC Gases (0, LID Nanying CHN 500 575 108 b
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Investments accounted for using the equity method (in accordance with [AS 28 and 1AS 31)

g Registered effice  Country Partic-  Thereof Equity Net Note
2 pating  Linde AG income/
S interest net loss (~)
E in m m in
= petcent  percent € mithon  Cmillion
Shanghai Huatin Industnal Gases (o Ltd Shangha CHN 500 372 70 b
shanghai Huayi Microelectronlc Material Co Lid Shangha CHN S00 -30 -35 b ¢
& shenzhen South China Industrial Gases Company
8 Limited Shenzhen CHHY 560 35 -03 b
g 21bo BOC-QILY Gases Co, Lid libo CHN 500 285 85 b
£ Krakovska s 1 0 svaren technika Novy Malin (i3 79 0s 01 <. d
- Plyny Jehlars ro Brno #2 349 01 00 ¢ d
BELLARY OXYGEN COMPANY PRIVATE LIMITED Bangalote IND 500 73 15 b
% SHINIL CRYOGENIC MATERIALS LTD Dangjin KOR 490 04 -05 b d
E Company for Production of Carbon Dloxide
= Gell DOO Skopje Skopje MKD 500 500 08 00 b
g EASTERN OXYGEN INDUSERIES SDN BHD Kuching MYS 490 11 12 ¢, d
2 INDUSTRIAL GASES SOLUTIONS SDN BHD Selangor MYS 500 16 05 b
- Kulim Indusinial Gases Sdn Bhd Selangor MYS 500 174 15 bcd
i BACNOTAN AIR GASES, INCORPORATED Taguig PHL 500 -02 00 b, d
g Carbo Dioxid S R L Tmisoara ROU 500 00 00 b, d
% OAC "URALSKY ZAVOD TECHNICHESKIKH GAZQV” Ekaternenburg RUS 500 500 0o 0o b, ¢, d
E Map Ta Phut Industital Gases Company Limited Bangkok THA 400 49 04 b, ¢ d
E Blue Ocean Indusinal Gases Co, Lid Talpe TWN 500 N/A N/A
SUN HSIN LPG COMPANY LIMITED Yun Lin TWN 500 0z (]
- Unlted Siicen Corporation Talpel TWN 500 00 -02
§ South Paafic & Afnca
g LES GAZ INDUSTRIELS LIMITED Port Louis MUs 382 33 03 ¢ d
‘5‘ ENERGY SCLUTIONS (PTY) LIMITED windhoek NAM 260 oo oo ¢, d
% LINDE ELECTRONICS SOUTH AFRICA {(PROPRIETARY)
LIMITED Johannesburg 2AF 501 0s -02 be
Other activities
7 » Caravell Kuhlgeratevertniebs GmbH I L Ratingen DEU 500 500 -01 0g bcd
73 LUGI-FRANCE SARL Antony FRA 500 00 -02 b
._f VAN DONGEN VAN DE KWAAK B V Dirksfand NLD 500 02 ~04 b
, ": ESHCONNECT, INC Sunnyvale USA 353 N/A N/A b
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Non-consolidated subsidianes

Reqistered office  Country Partici Thereof Equity et Note
pating  Linde AG income/
interest net loss {-)
n n n tn
percent  percent € milbon €milhion
Gases Division
Western Europe
Progas AG Dagmersellen CHE 1000 00 00 ¢, d
G1/LINDE ALGERIE Algiess DIA 100 0 400 61 10 (3]
ELECTROCHEM LIMITED Guitdiord GBR 1000 1000 34 0o . d
GAS & EQUIPMENT LIMITED Gultdiord GBR 1000 -i8 00 .. d
GAS AND EQUIPMENT GROUP LIMITED Gulldtord GBR 1000 1000 03 00 c,d
HYDROGEN SUPPLIES LIMITED Gulldford GBR 1000 1000 0% 0o ¢, d
INTELLEMETRICS LIMITED Glasgow GBR 00 0 01 00 ¢ d
KINGSTON MEDICAL GASES LIMITED Guildford GBR 1000 00 00 .. d
0ssigeno Halia s ¢ | Legnano ITA 1000 00 0o d
Cryo (leanB V Schiedam NLD 1000 01 00 ¢ d
Hoek Loos Emmen B V Emmen NLD 1000 00 00 ¢ d
KS Luftgassproduksjon Oslo NOR 100 0 00 00 c,d
Nargas AS Oslo NOR 100 0 01 oo ¢d
Americas
177470 CANADA INC Misslssauga CAN 1000 0% 00 C
177472 CANADA INC Mississauga CAN 1000 24 00 4
44001 ONTARIO LIMITED Ontano CAN 1000 11 00 C
Asia & Eastern Europe
BANGLADESH OXYGEN LIMITED Dhaka BGD 995 090 0o ¢ d
LINDE PLINd 0 0 Sarajevo Sarajevo BIH 1000 1000 00 00 d
Guangzhou GNIG Industrial Gases Company
Limited - i hquidation Guangzhou CHN 60.0 N/A N/A
tInde Gas Zhenhai Lid Ningbo CHN 1000 is 00 c,d
Linde Gases (Changzhow) Company Limited Changzhou CHN 1000 42 00 ., d
Linde Gases (Suzhou) Company Limited Suzhou (HN 1000 00 oo d
Linde Gases Daxie Company Limited Ningbo CHN 1000 N/A N/A {
ACP Ceska republika s o Prague (@13 3000 01 o0 d
Linde Gas Engineenng Center Budapest Kit Budapest HUN 1000 1000 03 01 c,d
Linde Gas Pars PJS (o Tehran IRN 1000 998 -12 00 ¢ d
100 Linde Gaz Kazakhstan Almaty KAZ 1000 100 ¢ N/A N/A f
BACOLOD OXYGEN CORPORATION Mandaue City PHL 1000 01 00 cd
CARBONIC PHILIPPINES INC Mandaue Gty PHL 1000 01 00 ¢ d
CEBU LIQUID GAS CORPORATION Llapu Lapu City PHL 670 N/A N/A
CIG! PROPERHIES, INC Mandaluyong Oty PHL 10900 00 00 d
DAVAD OXYGEN CORPORATION Mandaue City PHL 1000 04 0aQ ¢, d
ORMOC OXYGEN CORPGRATION Mandaue Qty PHL 1000 01 o0 ¢, d

EXECUTIVE BOARD

l SUPERVISORY BOARD

CORPORATE GOVERNAMCE

MANAGEMENT REPORT

)
4
=
=]
=
&
-
=
=
&
-
=
=
4
-
=z
H

FURTHER INFORMATION



EXECUTIVE BOARD

f SUPERVISORY BOARD

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

MANAGEMENT REPORT

"
P
z

S
=
=
=
-
=
=
-

=

[=}
=

=

=
=

FURTHER INFORMATION

106

Linde AG Financial Statements 2009

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LINDE AG - Supplementary information on the Notes

Non-censohdated subsidiaries

Registered office Country Partict Thereof Equity Net Note
pattng  Linde AG income/
interest net loss (-)
n n n n
peicent  percent  €milion € milhon
VISMIN AIRTECH INDUSTRIAL GASES CORPORATION Mandaue City PHL 1000 02 00 ¢ d
000 "Linde Gas Helwrn Rus” Moscow RUS 1000 000 ¢o 00 d
740 "LH GermaneLabs Rus” Mascow RUS 510 510 03 0o d
Linde Techmicke Plyny spol sro Bratislava SVK 1000 01 0o ¢ d
Linde Gaz Istanbul Enddstriyel ve Tibb Gazlar
Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirkett - in hquidation Istanbut TUR 1000 1000 00 Do t, 6
Chia Chi Industrial Company Limited Taiper TWN 1000 04 00 d
LIEN CHIA INDUSTRIAL GASES COMPANY LIMITED chia Y1 TWN 1000 0d o0 ¢ d
LUCK STREAM Co, L1d Kaohsiung TWN 1000 1000 13 62 ¢ d
South Pacific& Alnica
CUULSTICK VENTURES (PTY) LIMIFED Gaborone BWA 1000 N/A N/A
EAST AFRICAN OXYGEN LIMITED Natrobi KEN 1000 00 00 d
Handigas Xenya Limited Nartobi KEN 1000 oo 00 ¢ d
Kivuli Limited Nazobi KEN 100 0 N/A N/A
BOC NOUVELLE-CALEDONIE SAS Noumea NCL 1000 0o 00 . d
THE GAS COMPANY LIMITED Auckland NZL 1000 00 -01
BOC Zimbabwe {Private) Limited Harare IWE 1000 00 0o ¢, d
INDUSTRIAL GASES (PVT) LIMITED Harare IWE 000 00 00
OXYCO UTIEITIES (PVT) LIMITED Harare IWE 100 @ 431] 00
OXYGEN INDUSTRIES (PVT) LIMITED Harare IWE 100 ¢ 00 0o
WELDEX (PYT) LIMITED Harare IWE 1000 00 00
ZIMBABWE OXYGEN {(PVT) LIMITED Harare IWE 1000 00 [}
Engineernng Division
Cryostar do Brasil Equipamentos
Rolalivos & Criogemcos tida Sap Paulo BRA Woo 900 01 o0 ., d
Linde Engenhana Do Brasil Ltda Barven BRA 000 800 11 0e ¢ d
Linde € Linited Guldford GBR 1000 oo 0o ¢ d
Linde Engineering Far East, Lid Seoul KOR 100 0 100 0 03 00 ¢, d
Other activittes
Linde Australia Holdings Pty Ltd North Ryde AUS 1000 1000 00 00 ¢ d
Versorgestiftung der Pangas DagmerseHen CHE 1000 16 15 d
wahlfahriskasse der Pangas Dagmersellen CHE 1000 10 00 d
Rheinkaite GmbH Munich DEU 1000 05 - a,cd
CRIOSBANC FRANCE S A R L Trappes FRA 1000 00 00 ¢ d
Fred Butier UK Limited tondon GBR 100 0 00 00 ¢ d
VORGEM LIMITED Glasgow GBR 1000 00 0o ¢ d
The BOC Group Limited (Hong Kong) Kowloon HKG 1000 03 00 . d
BOC SYSTEMS LIMITED Pohang KOR 106 0 06 00 . d
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Non-consolidated subsidiaries

Registered office  Country Particr-  Thereof Equity Net Note
pating  Linde AG incame /
interest nel foss (-)
n M in in
percent percent  €milion € million
80CBY Amsierdam NLD 100 0 00 0o cd
BOC PLYNY, s 1 0 - n liquidation Kosice SVK 100 0 oo 0o ¢, d
CHIEF SIAM Co LLé Bangkok THA 100 0 1000 -04 00 ¢ d
AIRCO PROPERTIES INC Wilmington usA 100 0 N/A N/A
Baker | Investment Corporation wilmington USA 100 ¢ 00 00 d
CALUMATIC NORTH AMERICA CORPORATION East Lansing USA 1000 N/A N/A
HYDROMATIX, INC Murray Hill USA 1000 N/A N/A
SELOX, INC Knoxville USA 1000 N/A N/A
Other participations {not conschdated)
Registered office  Country Paric-  Thereof Equity Net Note
patng Linde AG inceme/
interest net loss (-}
n n n n
percent  percent  €milhlon € mihon
Gases Division
Western Eutope
Annt Merkel Kohlensgurevertnieb GmbHE (o KG Kleinestheim DEU 500 -02 00 ¢, d
¥SD Kohlensdure-Dienst GmbH Bretzield DEU 500 S00 00 01 ¢, d
TKD TrockenEss und Kohlensaure Distribution
GmbH Fraunbeig DEY 500 500 03 00 ¢, d
vermogensverwaltung der Gewerkschaft
Paltberg GmbH i L Koblenz DEU 652 00 00 ¢ d
AGA Center Arhus Aps Viby DNK 340 01 00 ¢, d
AGA Foroyar sp/f Torshavn DNK 500 03 00 ¢, d
AGA HIQ Center Aps Hillerad DNK 500 02 01 ¢ d
Soclete de Gardiennage et de Surveilance
du Centre {SGS/Centre) Algrers DA 231 21 06 d
Carburo del Ginca S A Monzoen ESP 200 37 -01 ¢ d
Parhaat Yhdessa Association Vantaa FIN 250 02 oo ¢ d
fuel Cell Boat B v Amsterdam NLD 00 00 00 d
Amerncas
GAS & EQUIPMENT WILLEMSTAD NV -
in hquidation Curacac ANT 100 ¢ 0o 60 .d
HERA, HYDROGEN STORAGE SYSTEMS INC Longueul CAN 03 WN/A N/A
Asia & Eastern Europe
Linde vitkovice 3 § Ostrava Cle 500 176 03 ¢ d
KOREA GAS COLD AIR PRODUCT COMPANY LIMITED Inchon KCR 250 N/A N/A
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other participations (not consolidated)

Registered office  Country Partic- Thereof Equity Net Note
pating  Linde AG ncome;/
nterest net loss ()
n n n in
percent percent  €million € million
HON CHEN Enterprise Co, Ltd Kachsiung TWN 500 05 01 ¢, d
Closed Joint Stock Company Kyivs'ky zavod
vuhlekysloty Kiev UKR 1000 1000 00 00
South Pacfic & Afnca
CC ENERGY PTY LIMITED Sydney AUS 500 ] oo ¢ d
NAMGAS (PTY} LIMITED windhoek NAM 440 09 oo d
TASCO ESTATES LIMITED Dar es Salaam TZA 200 N/A N/A
INDUSTRIAL GAS DISTRIBUTOR HOLDINGS {(PTY)
LIMITED Johannesburg 2AF 260 -G oe ¢, d
Qther actvities
Infraleuna GmbH leuna DEU 245 245 3690 M7 ¢, d
MAGNIFICA Grundstiicks-Vermietungsgesellschaft
mbH & Co Objekt Kbin OHG Dosseldorf DEY 1000 1000 03 ] cde
TYREGENICS LIMITED Leeds GBR 200 -04 -18 . d
Key

a Profit/loss transter agreement

b Joint venture

¢ Local GAAP

d Frgures from financial years priof to year ended 31 December 2069

e Consolidation methed differs from percentage of shares held due to a contractual agreement

f Incorporation 1n 2009
N/A=No ftnancial data available
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Auditors’ report

we have audited the annual financial statements, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement and the
notes Lo the financial statements, together with the bookkeeping system and the management report of Linde
Aktiengesellschaft, Munich, for the business year from 1 January to 31 December 2009 The manlenance of
the books and records and the preparation of the annual financial slatements and management report in accor
dance with German commercial law are the responstbility of the Company's Executive Board Our responsibil-
ity 15 to express an opmnion on the annual financial statements, together with the bookkeeping system, and the
management repor, based on our audit

We conducted our audit of the annual finarcial statements in accordance with § 317 of the German Com- m—
mercial Code (HGB) and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promul-
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer (IDW - Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audi such that misstatements matenally affecting the presentation of
the net assets, financial posttion and results of operations in the annuat financial stalements in accerdance
with German prinaiples of proper accounting and in the management report are detected with reasanable
assurance Knowiedge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Company
and expectations as to possible misstatements are laken into account in the determination of audit proce-
dures The effectiveness of the accounting-related mternal control system and the evidence supperting the
disclosures in the books and records, the annual financial statements and the management report are exam-
ined primarity on 2 test basis within the framework of the audit The audit includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by the Executive Board, as well as evalualing the overall pre-
sentation of the annual financial siatements and management report We beheve that our audit provides a
reasonable basss for our opinion

our audit has not led to any reservations

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the annual financial statements comply with the legal
requirements and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of eperations of
Linde Aktiengesellschaft in accordance wath German principles of proper accounting The management report
1s consistent with the annual financial stalements and as 2 whole provides a suitable view of the Company’s
position and suitably presents the opportunities and rnisks of future development
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Harald v Heynitz GUnter Nunnenkamp
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Responsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and In accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the financal state-
ments give a true and fair view of the assets, habihties, finanaial position and profit or loss of the Company, and
the management reporl includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Company, together with a description of the principal opportumties and nisks associated with the
expected development of the Company

Mumch, 4 march 2010

Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle Georg Denoke

Chief Executive Officer Member of the [xecutive Board
of Linde AG of Linde AG

Dr Aldo Beflor ) Kent Masters

Member of the £xecutive Board Member of the Executive Board
of 1inde AG of tinde AG
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Financial calendar

— Financial calendar Statements relating to the future
§ Press Conference on Annual Results This annual report contains statements relating to the future which
= 17 March 2010 are based on management's current estimates about future devel
E Linde AG, Carl von Linde Haus, Munich opments These statements are not to be understood as guar-
= antees thal these expectations will prove to be true The future
Interim Report development and the results actually achieved by The Linde Group
— January lo March 2010 and its affiliated companies are dependent on a number of nisks
- 4 May 2010 and uncertainties and may therefore deviate significantly from the
S statements relating to the future Linde has no plans to update its
z Annual General Meeting 2010 statements relating to the future, nor does 1 accept any abliga-
§ 4 May 2010, 103 m tront to do so
g International Congress Cenler Munich
Dividend Payment
= 5 May 2010
H
S Intenm Report
E January to June 2010
s 2 August 2010
Autumn Press Conference
2 November 2010
EE" Carl von Linde Haus, Munich
§ Interim Report
g January to September 2010
g 2 November 2010

Annual General Meeting 2011
12 May 2011, 10a m
International Congress Center, Munich
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Imprint

Imprint

pubhshed by
tinde AG
Klosterhoistrasse 1
80331 Munich
Germany

Design, production, typesetting and hthography
Peter Schmidt Group, Hamburg

Text
Linde AG

Pholography
Andreas Pohlmann, Munich

Printed by
Mediahaus Blening 6GmbH, Mumich

Contacl detalls

Linde AG

Klosterhofstrasse 1

80331 Munich

Germany

Phone +49 89 35757-01
Fax +49 89 35757-1075
www linde com

{ommunications

Phone +49 89 35757-1321
Fax +49 89 35757-1398
E-mall mfo@linde com

Investor Relations
Phone +49 89 35757-1321
Fax +49 89 357571398

E-Mail investorrelations@linde com

The tinde Annuat and the Financial Report of The Linde Group
are available 1n both German and Enghish and can also be down-
loaded from our website at wwwiinde com In addition, an inter-
active online version of the Annual Report, comprising the Finan-
i3l Report of The Linde Group and the Linde Annual, 15 available

at this address

Supplementary information aboul The Linde Group can be
oblained from us {ree of charge
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